
NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held in The Jeffrey Room, 
St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE on

Monday, 30 April 2018 at 6pm
F Fernandes

Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer 

If you need any advice or information regarding this agenda please 
phone Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, telephone 01604 837408 (direct dial), 
email ttiff@northampton.gov.uk who will be able to assist with your 
enquiry.  For further information regarding Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee please visit the website www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny

Members of the Committee   
Chair Councillor Jamie Lane
Deputy-Chair Councillor Graham Walker
Committee Members Councillor Brian W Sargeant

Councillor Tony Ansell
Councillor Rufia Ashraf
Councillor Mohammed Azizur 
Rahman ( Aziz)
Councillor Alan L Bottwood
Councillor Vicky Culbard
Councillor Janice Duffy
Councillor Paul Joyce
Councillor Christopher Malpas
Councillor Dennis Meredith
Councillor Cathrine Russell
Councillor Samuel Kilby-Shaw
Councillor Zoe Smith

Calendar of meetings   
Date Room  
20 June 2018
24 September
12 November
28 January 2019
29 April
15 July

All meetings to be held in the Jeffery 
Room at the Guildhall unless 
otherwise stated

Agenda

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny


Northampton Borough Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

Item No 
and Time

Title Pages Action required 

1 
6:00pm

Apologies Members to note any apologies and 
substitution

2 Minutes 1 - 6 Members to approve the minutes of 
the meeting held on 29 January 2018.

3 Deputations/Public 
Addresses

The Chair to note public address 
requests.

The public can speak on any agenda 
item for a maximum of three minutes 
per speaker per item.  You are not 
required to register your intention to 
speak in advance but should arrive at 
the meeting a few minutes early, 
complete a Public Address Protocol 
and notify the Scrutiny Officer of your 
intention to speak.

4 Declarations of Interest 
(Including Whipping)

Members to state any interests.

5 
6:05pm

Presentation The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to receive a presentation 
from Veolia.

6 
6:35pm

Enforcement Contract 
Update

7

7 
6:45pm

Purple Flag Update

8 
6:55pm

Performance Monitoring 
Report

8 - 16 Members to review the Performance 
Monitoring Report

9 
7:05pm

Work Programme 
2018/2019

17 - 19 The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to approve the Work 
Programme 2018/2019 and set up 
the Scrutiny Panels.

10 Scrutiny Panels

10 (a) 
7:25pm

Scrutiny Panel 1 20 - 86 The Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 
present the final report for approval. 

10 (b) 
7:35pm

Scrutiny Panel 2 87 - 160 The Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 
present the final report for approval. 

10 (c) Scrutiny Panel 3 161 - 231 The Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16171


Northampton Borough Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

7:45pm present the final report for approval. 

11 
7:55pm

O&S Reprovision of the 
Environmental Services 
Contract Working Group

232 - 238 The Chair of the Working Group to 
present the final report for approval. 

12 
8:05pm

Report back from NBC's 
representative to NCC's 
Health and  Social Care  
Scrutiny Committee

239 - 240 Councillor Brian Sargeant to provide 
an update on the work of NCC’s 
Health and Social Care Scrutiny 
Committee.

8:10pm Potential future pre 
decision scrutiny

The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider any potential 
issues for future pre decision scrutiny.

14 Urgent Items This issue is for business that by 
reasons of the special circumstances 
to be specified, the Chair is of the 
opinion is of sufficient urgency to 
consider.  Members or Officers that 
wish to raise urgent items are to 
inform the Chair in advance.



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 29 January 2018

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

MINUTES OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Monday, 29 January 2018

COUNCILLORS 
PRESENT:

Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair), Councillor Graham Walker (Deputy 
Chair); Councillors Tony Ansell, Rufia Ashraf, Mohammed Aziz, Alan 
Bottwood, Vicky Culbard, Janice Duffy,  Paul Joyce and Cathrine 
Russell                                             

Councillor Anna King, Cabinet Member for Community 
Safety and Engagement
Councillor Mike Hallam, Cabinet Member for Environment

Paul Hymers, Strategic Finance Business Partner
Paul Loveday, Senior Finance Business Partner
Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing
Derrick Simpson, Town Centre Manager
Ruth Austen, Environmental Health and Licensing Manager
Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer

Councillor Phil Larratt - observing
Councillor Arthur McCutcheon – observing

Member of the          Gary Shields - Observing
Public

1. APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Brian Sargeant and Councillor 
Christopher Malpas.

2. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES
There were none.

3. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2017 were signed by the Chair as a true 
and accurate record.

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING)
There were none.

5. REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REPORTING AND MONITORING 
WORKING GROUP - GENERAL FUND MTFP 2018/2019 - 2023 AND 2018/2019 
DRAFT BUDGET PROPOSALS

1

Agenda Item 2



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 29 January 2018

The Chair introduced the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Reporting and Monitoring 
Working Group - General Fund MTFP 2018/2019 - 2023 and 2018/2019 Draft Budget 
Proposals, advising that the Working Group had considered the budget proposals in detail 
and had decided that the following required budget scrutiny:

 Increased income – Car parking
 Reduction in events programme
 Environmental Services Contract – Net budget 

stream for the Environmental Services 
vehicles

 Challenges on temporary accommodation and 
homelessness budgets

 HRA stock loss and mitigation through a new 
build programme

Councillor Mike Hallam, Cabinet Member for Environment and Councillor Anna King, 
Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Engagement together with Paul Hymers, 
Strategic Finance Business Partner, Paul Loveday, Senior Finance Business Partner, Phil 
Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing and Derrick Simpson, Town Centre Manager 
provided further details:

Paul Hymers set the scene for the draft General Fund, (GF) MTFP 2018/2019 to 
2022/2023 and 2018/2019 Draft Budget Proposals from both the national position and then 
the local perspective.  He highlighted the key elements contained within the report and 
emphasised that the reduction in Government funding and pressures on budgets, in 
particular the Environmental Services contract impacted upon the funding gap.  
It was confirmed that the Council had a draft balanced budget for 2018/2019 and 2019/20 
but gaps beyond this are the best estimates at this stage but become increasingly 
uncertain into the future.

The Chair advised that the Committee was very pleased that a draft balance budget for 
2018/2019 had been arrived at.

Increased income – Car parking
 Derrick Simpson apprised that parking in the multi storey carparks within the town 

are monitored and weekly figures provided.  Over the last three years, the £2 
charge would have very little change on Saturdays, as this is a busy period.  Free, 
two hours parking, will remain Monday to Friday.

 Parking statistics in relation to service car parks are not available.  However, 7 
years ago, around 100,000 vehicles used the service car parks.

 On street parking on Sundays is currently free, however, as part of NCC’s draft 
budget proposals are included to introduce on street parking charges for Sundays.

 Blue badge holders and motorcycles will still be able to park for free

The Committee asked questions, made comment and heard:

2



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 29 January 2018

 In response to a query regarding the effect the proposed increase could have on 
commuters; the Committee heard that the charges were proposed to increase from 
£7 to £8 per day.

 £2 parking charge would apply for all day Saturday

Reduction in events programme
Derrick Simpson advised that the proposed reduction in events budget was over a number 
of budget heads, for example it is proposed to charge for all commercial activities, 
reduction in the music festival by providing £10000 of funding rather than £15000, and not 
providing any support to the town festival, a reduction in the Christmas budget.  The 
Council has enough artificial Christmas trees to last for the next 4-5 years.

The Committee asked questions, made comment and heard:

 The performance of bands in the park is oversubscribed, however, putting on bands 
in the park on Bank Holiday Mondays is being investigated

 In response to a query whether assistance could be provided to the Irish Festival, 
Derrick Simpson advised that the organisers could apply for small grant funding if 
they so wished.

 It was confirmed that there is an oversupply of trees for Christmas and Officers are 
working with other within the Christmas community

Environmental Services Contract – Net budget stream for the Environmental 
Services vehicles

The Chair advised that the specific query that the Working Group had posed had been 
around the costs to the Council of purchasing the vehicles for the environmental services 
contract and leasing them back to the Council over 10 years.

Councillor Hallam and Paul Loveday advised that the winning bidder will be in a good 
position to have access to the supply chain and the Council has better access to funding.  
By purchasing vehicles this way, the cost of the contract is reduced. The contractor will 
have expertise in purchasing the vehicles and the Council will be able to access better 
interest rates.  The Council will lease the vehicles to the contractor.  All vehicles have a 
replacement schedule included in the contract.

The Committee asked questions, made comment and heard:

 The contractor is contracted to do the job and is therefore responsible for all 
maintenance costs of the vehicles.   Details such as emissions, maintenance and 
repairs will be included in the finer details of the contract.  

 The vehicles have a 10 year life span.  Over ten years the vehicles will depreciate.  
At the end of the contract, a reprovision process will commence and will include 
new vehicles.

Challenges on temporary accommodation and homelessness budgets

Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing advised that over the last two years homeless 
applications to the Council has doubled, in the same period, households in temporary 

3



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 29 January 2018

accommodation has trebled and social housing has decreased which has led to an 
increase in those in temporary accommodation.  The Housing Officer’s caseloads has 
significantly increased which in turn had increased the number of outstanding decisions. 
For example, Officers had around 50 cases outstanding (the norm being 15); the backlog 
had increased and by September 2017 had peaked at 200 plus, with 150 families in 
temporary accommodation. The number of people living in bed and breakfast 
accommodation had trebled; with a number living outside the borough.  An action plan was 
produced and 130 decisions were outsourced to a Residential Group that had helped to 
relieve the pressure.  From September to December 2017, homeless applications had 
decreased from 205 to 66.  Housing Officers caseloads reduced from 59 to 18 and the 
average wait time to see a Housing Officer reduced from 4 weeks to a few days.  Further 
statistics were provided.  This approach, through a series of Policy changes, had worked 
very well as it had reduced the backlog, reduced workloads etc.  The Team is coping much 
better now but cost is a challenge.  Funding from central Government is only a fraction of 
the actual cost to the Authority.

The Committee asked questions, made comment and heard:

 In response to a query regarding potential evictions, Phil Harris advised that people 
are urged to make contact with Housing Officers as soon as possible. However a lot 
of people do present on the day of eviction.  An additional officer has been engaged 
to deal with those individuals that turn up as homeless.  Face to face discussions 
are held which has proved useful in preventing homelessness. 

 Demand has not reduced by has become more manageable.
 Work is ongoing with the Private Sector Letting Agency regarding reducing the cost 

of temporary accommodation.
 The Committee conveyed its thanks and congratulations to the Housing Team for 

all its work on this 

HRA stock loss and mitigation through a new build programme

Phil Harris apprised that a report to Cabinet is scheduled that will set out ways of 
maximising supply of new homes.  NPH had submitted a proposal for up to 1000 homes to 
be built over the next ten years.  Capita had been instructed by the Council to consider the 
proposals and put forward recommendations.  Conclusions had been that the proposal of 
NPH had been sub optimum and their conclusions had been shared with NPH.  Revised 
proposals had been submitted that addressed some of the concerns regarding sub 
optimum.  The report to Cabinet will identify these.   HRA will be made the most of 
regarding the provision of new homes.  It is estimated that 940 Council homes are likely to 
be sold; from Right to Buy receipts, the Council could replace 500 of these. This will be a 
major step forward but it will only slow the rate that Council houses are being sold off.
The Committee noted the details provided by Phil Harris and asked no further questions.
.
The Cabinet Members and officers were thanked for attending the meeting and providing 
comprehensive details to the Committee enabling it to undertake budget Scrutiny on the 
five issues referred from the Reporting and Monitoring Working Group.  The Committee 
was content with the responses and information provided regarding the five issues.

4



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 29 January 2018

6. MONITORING OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS CONTAINED WITHIN OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY REPORTS

(A) MUSEUM TRUST
Councillor Anna King, Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Engagement, presented 
the briefing note on the update on the Museum Trust.

In noting the report, the Chair asked that an update is provided in one year to the 
Committee; January/February 2019.

(B) ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR
Ruth Austen, Environmental Health and Licensing Manager, presented the monitoring 
action to the Committee, highlighting key points.

The Committee asked questions, made comment and heard:

 The Chair expressed his concern that recommendation 19 had not been actioned.  He was an 
advocate of the green book and its benefits.  The Committee heard that due to the dynamic 
changing nature it was difficult to produce a book that might continually go out of date; but 
web resources are being investigated.

 The Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Engagement suggested that it would be 
useful for the Council’s Community Forums to produce within the packs that it is currently 
working on, a useful list, with contacts of relevant partners.

The update was noted and a further update would be presented to the June 2018 meeting 
of the Committee.

(C) EFFECTIVENESS OF THE ENFORCEMENT OF TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE 
LICENSING

Ruth Austen, Environmental Health and Licensing Manager, presented the monitoring 
action to the Committee, highlighting key points.

The Committee asked questions, made comment and heard:

 The proposed new bracket for the Taxi and Private Hire Plates was circulated.
 Investigations are underway regarding a sign for the inside of the windscreen for Taxis and 

Private Hires to display.
 Detailed discussions are underway with the Trade regarding roof bubbles
 Regarding safety of students it was confirmed that Officers were working with Highways 

and the University
 In response to a query about door signs, Ruth Austen advised that discussions are underway 

with the Trade. 
 Potential options for roof bubbles are also under discussion
 The Licensing Committee recently received a report on the Emissions and Age Policy for 

Taxis and Private Hire; it was broadly supported but more detail was required.  A further 
report will be presented to the Licensing Committee in the Spring 2018.

 “Night out Northampton” is a community safety initiative.
 Training around awareness of hate crime will be introduced for drivers.

5



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 29 January 2018

The update was noted and a further update would be presented to the June 2018 meeting 
of the Committee.

7. SCRUTINY PANELS

8. SCRUTINY PANEL 1
Councillor Culbard, Deputy Chair of Scrutiny Panel 1, advised of the work of the Panel so 
far.  It was envisaged that the final report would be presented to the Committee at its April 
2018 meeting.

9. SCRUTINY PANEL 2
Councillor Lane, Chair of Scrutiny Panel2, advised of the work of the Panel so far.   An 
additional meeting had been scheduled for further evidence gathering. It was envisaged 
that the final report would be presented to the Committee at its April 2018 meeting.

10. SCRUTINY PANEL 3
Councillor Russell, Chair of Scrutiny Panel 3, advised of the work of the Panel so far.   An 
additional meeting had been scheduled for further evidence gathering.  The value of the 
UTube videos that have been shown to the Panel around work and research regarding 
dementia were highlighted.  It was envisaged that the final report would be presented to 
the Committee at its April 2018 meeting.

11. O&S REPROVISION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES CONTRACT 
WORKING GROUP

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee advised that the next meeting of the 
Working Group would be held shortly; prior to it a question and answer session with the 
Cabinet Member for Environment would be held.  The question and answer session was 
open to all Councillors.

12. POTENTIAL FUTURE PRE DECISION SCRUTINY
There was none.

13. URGENT ITEMS
At this point, the Chair reminded the Committee of the date of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Work Programme event.

The meeting concluded at 7:30 pm

6



 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

 30 APRIL 2018

BRIEFING NOTE: Environmental Enforcement

Northampton Borough Council has entered into a contract with Kingdom Security Ltd 
for the provision of environmental enforcement services.    The service which began 
at the end of January 2018 has initially focused on issuing fixed penalty notices for 
littering.  In due course, the  scope of the service will be extended to deal with waste 
offences, fly tipping and dog fouling.

The following statistics summarise the activity of the service to the end of March.  In 
this period the majority of fixed penalty notices have been issues in Northampton 
Town Centre but the officers are now moving out to locations around the Borough.

Month Total FPNs 
issued

FPNs  cigarette 
litter

FPN food FPN spitting FPN other

January 2018 561 507 20 29 5

February 2018 815 742 24 41 8

March 2018 1097 1069 19 - 9

The service is delivered on a zero cost basis to the Council with the cost of provision 
being funded by the fixed penalty receipts received.

Ruth Austen

Environmental Health and Licensing Manager

April 2018

7

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 1

Corporate Performance
All Measures Report

December 2017

1

635
8

A
genda Item

 8



Introduction

The report details the full list of performance measures
monitoring the Council's Corporate Plan by corporate priority and
is published quarterly.

The measures contained within this report are monitored on a
monthly, quarterly, half yearly or four monthly basis.

Performance is reported against the latest report period and then
by overall performance year to date (YTD). Overall YTD
performance is monitored against the current profiled target and
helps us to keep track of the progress towards meeting the
annual target.

Performance comparison against the same time last year is
highlighted where comparative data is available.

Exceptional or over
performance

On or exceeding target

Outside agreed target
tolerance

Within agreed tolerances

Report Key:

Good to be low: Worse

Good to be low: Better

No change

Good to be High: Worse

Good to be High: Better

No data or
target available

No target available

No data available

2

636
9



NBC Corporate Plan
The table below has been included for informational purposes, and shows the current year to date performance of each element of the Corporate Plan.
The Alerts are generated from the PIs which each Service Area aligned to the 8 priorities during the service planning process.

NBC Corporate Plan  Securing Northampton's Future

Working Hard and Spending your Money Wisely  Delivering quality modern
services
Safer Communities  Making you feel safe and secure
Protecting Our Environment  A clean and attractive town for residents and
visitors
Northampton Alive  A vibrant successful town for now and the future
Love Northampton  Enhancing leisure activities for local people and
encouraging participation
Housing for Everyone  Helping those that need it to have a safe and secure
home

Corporate Plan
YTD

Theme

Corporate Plan  Current Status

Total
11 3 12 8 34

3

637
10

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')


AST05a External rental income demanded
against budgeted income (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST05b % commercial rent demanded
within the last 12 months (more than 2
months in arrears) (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Smaller is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews. Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams. 

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST12 % achieved where return on (sub
group) investment properties meets agreed
target rate (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

90.28 %

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Local invoices paid within 10 days
(M)

91.51 100.00 92.81 87.50 89.53 80.00 80.00
Bigger is
Better

92.18

Although there was a slight dip in figures shown for December, overall this KPI continues to perform well over target 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Percentage of invoices for
commercial goods & serv. paid within 30
days (M)

98.70 % 100.00 % 99.55 % 97.84 % 99.32 % 99.00 % 99.00 %
Bigger is
Better

99.37 %

There was a slight dip in December probably due to Christmas leave.  The accumulative figures for the quarter however, continues to meet target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV012_12r Ave. no. of days/shifts lost to
sickness for rolling 12 month period (M)

11.14 10.90 10.75 9.83 9.83 7.50 7.50
Smaller is
Better

7.99

HR has identified an issue with the reporting lines held within the agresso system for the period of the financial year 2016/17, HR are working closely with the Agresso team to correct the system and are confident that this will be
rectified in time for reporting from April. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CH10 No. of unique visits to Museum Pages
(M)

3,183 4,587 3,770 2,968 33,063 11,250 15,000
Bigger is
Better

37,470

The digital web officer is reviewing how web statistics are generated. This KPI will be reviewed at the end of the financial year. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS05 Percentage satisfied with the overall
service provided by the Customer Service
Officer (M)

96.83 % 95.56 % 100.00 % 97.73 % 95.41 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.60 %

We received 44 responses to the survey, 43 responders were satisfied, 1 dissatisfied... 98% 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS13a % of calls for NBC managed services
into contact centre answered (M)

88.31 % 94.43 % 93.91 % 98.10 % 90.18 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

88.55 %

Customer Services hit 97.8% against the 90% target for December with a total of 9,624 calls received which is a decrease by 2,292 contacts in comparison to November.
Both Environmental Services Calls and Housing Customer Services Calls have seen a decrease in comparison to November due to the holiday season. We are continuing to utilize cross trained staff within the One Stop Shop to
help increase call efficiency and reduce unavailability." 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CS14a % OSS customers with an
appointment seen on time (M)

90.2 % 87.2 % 90.6 % 95.6 % 92.4 % 90.0 % 90.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.5 %

Target has been exceeded due to ongoing improvements in service.
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC01n Total bins/boxes missed in period
(M)

419 342 390 1,570 5,265 1,053 1,404
Smaller is
Better

5,532

During December collection services had to stand down on occasion because of snow and severely inclement weather.  Crews were called in early when the weather improved to rectify. Collections were affected on both the Friday
and Saturday (in December) due to severe icy conditions so although a high figure it is very small compared to the amount of properties that had no service. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced
and the new contract will commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC02 % missed bins corrected within 24hrs
of notification (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 77.07 % 89.97 % 84.00 % 84.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.21 %

We continue to work hard with the contractor to ensure that missed bins are corrected as soon as possible. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will commence in June. We will
continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC04 % household waste recycled and
composted (NI192) (M)

44.11 % 41.64 % 38.20 % 32.21 % 45.07 % 49.00 % 49.00 %
Bigger is
Better

42.79 %

The December breakdown remains red as Enterprise and NCC are yet to reconcile and approve the data and give NBC the figures.  The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will
commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC09 % of Fly Tipping incidents removed
within 2 working days of notification (SO2)
(M)

99.87 % 100.06 % 100.00 % 99.83 % 99.88 % 98.00 % 98.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.01 %

Due to the snow in December there has been a drop in reported fly tipping incidents. Two fly tips were reported as out of target due to needing the 7.5 ton truck which was off the road due to breakdown.
Source Date 31/12/2017

HML01 Total no. of households living in
temporary accommodation (M)

177 203 225 217 217 160 150
Smaller is
Better

143

the series of measures implemented to reduce the pressure on the homelessness service, and improve the living conditions of households in temporary accommodation, has had a positive effect. The number of households residing
in bed and breakfast accommodation has reduced by 31% and the number of households placed outside of the borough has reduced by 57%. Unfortunately, the number of homelessness applications received each month has
remained high, and there is a lack of ''moveon'' opportunities for households who are accepted as homeless, resulting in an increase in the overall number of households residing in temporary accommodation.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML07 Number of households that are
prevented from becoming homeless (M)

58 80 63 43 623 780 1,080
Bigger is
Better

737

While the Housing Options and Advice Team does all it can to prevent homelessness and the need for temporary accommodation, preventing assured shorthold tenants from becoming homeless is extremely difficult as the
majority of landlords seeking possession of their accommodation are determined to sell their accommodation. Due to the buoyancy of the of the private rented sector many tenants are unable to secure alternative affordable
accommodation. In preparation for the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Team is planning to make a series of changes to ensure that all services and organisations, including the Council, intervene
earlier, providing more opportunities to prevent homelessness.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML09 Number of households for whom a
full homelessness duty is accepted (M)

89 45 56 28 440 450 600
Smaller is
Better

359

By the end of the quarter the backlog of 130 unassessed homelessness applications had been cleared resulting in the number of outstanding homelessness decisions being reduced by two thirds (from 205 to 66) the average case
load of each Homelessness Officer being reduced by 64% (from 50 to 18). The waiting time for an appointment with a homelessness Officer being reduced from 4 weeks to less than 3 days. Out intention is to maintain this position
even though the number of homelessness applications received each month, and the proportionate number of acceptance remains high.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG03 % FOI/EIR cases responded to within
20 working days (M)

95.7 % 91.7 % 89.8 % 98.5 % 95.7 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.3 %

FOI and EIR requests continue to increase in the number received. In October six FOIs were responded to after the required deadline. One was insufficient information received from Service Area within timescales and there were 5
late responses recorded for FOIs for NPH, which are included in the figures as they come in centrally to NBC and are then forwarded on. In November there were six late responses, 5 were due to admin errors and one a late
response by NPH. December showed one late FOI response due to NBC error.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG04 % Subject Access requests responded
to within 40 days (M)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing to target.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157a % Major Planning applications
determined in 13 weeks or agreed extension
(M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.00 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157b % of 'minor' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

97.06 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157c % of 'other' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

98.94 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP06 % change in serious acquisitive crime
from the baseline (M)

44.81 % 37.00 % 38.00 % 37.80 % 37.80 % 1.63 % 2.17 %
Smaller is
Better

32.19 %

There has been another rise in the reported acquisitive crime. We continue to work with the police to ensure that people who live in areas of high crime are made aware of the projects to support them such as information packs for
victims of crime, and that the police with visit and carry out a target hardening visit, as properties are often revisited. The police continue to work with vulnerable groups.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP22 % Hackney Carriage and private hire
vehicles inspected which comply with
regulations (M)

77.78 % 55.71 % 79.31 % 60.44 % 62.73 % 70.00 % 70.00 %
Bigger is
Better

67.53 %

A significant operation was carried out with DVSA support and a number of vehicle defects were recorded with appropriate enforcement action being taken to follow up those defects. The figures reflect that as expected we found
vehicles that did not meet required standards.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP53 % Service requests responded to
within 3 working days (M)

83.41 %
Bigger is
Better

85.65 %

This KPI has now been discontinued and a new one showing % of checks carried out within 5 days instigated>
Source Date <<

PP53a % Service Requests responded to
within 5 working days (M)

78.40 83.75 92.43 86.74 25.89 94.00 94.00
Bigger is
Better

?

Shortfall due partly to vacant posts within Warden team and also to changes in operations within the Environmental Protection Team.  The Warden vacancies have now been filled and further changes made to operational
procedures to address the shortfall

Source Date 31/12/2017

HMO01 No. HMOs with Mandatory licence
(Q)

360 352 387 403 403 340 340
Bigger is
Better

362

The number of licenced properties which are three or more storeys and have 5 or more individual occupants is significantly above the YTD figure of 340.This is due to the way in which the enforcement team work proactively to
investigate unlicensed HMO's, taking robust enforcement action and thorough investigation to increase the number of properties with licences.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HMO08 No. of HMOs with an additional
licence (Q)

525 537 500 507 507 550 550
Bigger is
Better

515

The number of properties with an additional licence (those HMO's with 2 storeys) is difficult to predict. We use a range of intelligence resources to record information about properties that are unlicensed. We continue to take robust
action to ensure properties become licenced when required and promote awareness of when there is a need to licence properties.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG01 % LGO cases responded to within 28
days (excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

IG02 Av. days to respond to LGO enquiries
(excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

0.00 27.50 28.00 25.00 13.25 0.00 0.00
Smaller is
Better

0.00

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

MPE01 No. of new businesses locating on
NWEZ (Q)

7 3 2 5 10 15 25
Bigger is
Better

11

There have only been 5 new business locating to the NWEZ during this quarter, one of them being Lidl for which we only received the figures in December. We continue to actively support the ongoing investment enquiries
through the appointed economic development officer and senior management (enterprise and regeneration.) 

Source Date 31/12/2017
MPE02 No. of new jobs created on NWEZ
(Q)

293 20 5 24 49 200 350
Bigger is
Better

320

The five new businesses that located to the Enterprise Zone created twenty four new jobs. Although this is below target for the quarter, it is hoped that this will increase going forward. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP16 % Off licence checks that are
compliant (Q)

20.00 % 33.33 % 0.00 % 50.00 % 35.71 % 85.00 % 85.00 %
Bigger is
Better

49.02 %

Some of the checks are carried out in response to complaints. The breaches of conditions were found to relate generally to absence of relevant paperwork (failure to display signage or lack of copies of the licences). Enforcement
action is taken to address these breaches. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

TCO05n Town Centre footfall (Q) 3,126,019 4,129,997 4,033,739 4,387,058 12,550,794 11,700,000 14,700,000
Bigger is
Better

12,511,555

Footfall for the town centre has exceeded target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC05 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below an acceptable level  Litter
(NI195a) (4M)

2.83 % 3.33 % 3.17 % 3.13 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.67 %

The indicator is out of target and we continue to work with the contractor to monitor this. It is possible that the inspections were affected by leaves that still had to be cleared from footpaths. The contract for the new service will
commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC06 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Detritus
(NI195b) (4M)

2.17 % 2.66 % 2.17 % 3.02 % 4.00 % 4.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.83 %

This is a four monthly measure and reports up to November. It is performing over target. There has been efforts to reduce levels of detritus particularly in channels and back lanes as there has been an increase in reports. The
contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC07 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Graffiti
(NI195c) (4M)

0.67 % 0.65 % 0.50 % 0.49 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

1.00 %

This is a four monthly target and reports up to November. It is performing within targets during the last four months. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC08 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  FlyPosting
(NI195d) (4M)

0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

0.00 %

This is a four monthly target and the figures up to November are showing that Flyposting reporting within targets. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017

Delivery of the Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone
2,174 individuals were registered on the Project Angel site during the construction of the whole development, with 0.7 ha of land being developed equating to 20,860 sq.m. of new floor space including a car park and £46.4
million of public sector capital investment.  This is due to open in September 2018.   327 jobs are reported in Q3 with a further £27,583 M being secured to support the development works.  Five new enterprises have been created
with an estimated 28 new jobs and two enterprises are reported moved on taking five jobs with them.  Project on target.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Greyfriars site
Work continues on the former Greyfriars bus station site. Cabinet have resolved to cease negotiations with the preferred developer and has authorised that disposal options be reassessed. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Restoration and regeneration of Delapre Abbey and Park
Following on from the grant of planning permission for car park development at Delapre Abbey, works commenced on site in September 2017 The car park and CCTV works are now complete. Landscaping will be carried out when
the weather improves. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Business Incentive Scheme and account management to key businesses
The Business Incentive Scheme is a support programme which is funded by £250,000  NBC Funding awarded annually to assist new enterprises to increase  opportunities for new businesses within the Borough of Northampton. 
Three new businesses have been supported within the second quarter creating 4 additional jobs and attracting £15,561 of private sector investment.  So far this year a total of seventeen businesses have been supported with
£120,737 committed grants between AprilDecember 2017.  In total for 2017/2018, 49 jobs created  that leveraged approx. £567,469 of private sector investment.  Three new businesses supported in the third quarter creating 6
additional jobs and attracting £39,956 private sector investment. Project on target. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Four Waterside Development
Four Waterside is the proposed development of premium office space adjacent to the railway station.  Market testing is still continuing with a view to securing prelet office space.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development and expansion of the Museum site in Guildhall Road continues.  Planning was approved in November 2017.  Preparing to go to cabinet in March 2018 for Tender approval and then issue to tenderees. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development of the Vulcan Works site in Guildhall Road continues.  This is part refurbishment and part new of office space and workshops which will include small units for businesses from the digital and creative sector. During this
quarter Asbestos removal from the site has been completed.  Demolition of the old Amalgamated Tyres site will take place during March 2018. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Castle Station development
The Castle station development project refers to the development of the land behind the railway station.  There are proposals for mixed used development which will give more parking for communters, some residential and some
commercial use.  Discussions with Network Rail, Department of Transport, the new franchise holder and the Homes & Communities Agency are ongoing. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Quarterly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

4 Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jul 17 Nov 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Annual Measures
Measure ID & Name $Source Date$ $Source Date$ Outturn Target $Source Date$ Polarity

Major Project update

4

638
11

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col20')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','v10col21')


Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

AST05a External rental income demanded
against budgeted income (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST05b % commercial rent demanded
within the last 12 months (more than 2
months in arrears) (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Smaller is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews. Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams. 

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST12 % achieved where return on (sub
group) investment properties meets agreed
target rate (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

90.28 %

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Local invoices paid within 10 days
(M)

91.51 100.00 92.81 87.50 89.53 80.00 80.00
Bigger is
Better

92.18

Although there was a slight dip in figures shown for December, overall this KPI continues to perform well over target 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Percentage of invoices for
commercial goods & serv. paid within 30
days (M)

98.70 % 100.00 % 99.55 % 97.84 % 99.32 % 99.00 % 99.00 %
Bigger is
Better

99.37 %

There was a slight dip in December probably due to Christmas leave.  The accumulative figures for the quarter however, continues to meet target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV012_12r Ave. no. of days/shifts lost to
sickness for rolling 12 month period (M)

11.14 10.90 10.75 9.83 9.83 7.50 7.50
Smaller is
Better

7.99

HR has identified an issue with the reporting lines held within the agresso system for the period of the financial year 2016/17, HR are working closely with the Agresso team to correct the system and are confident that this will be
rectified in time for reporting from April. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CH10 No. of unique visits to Museum Pages
(M)

3,183 4,587 3,770 2,968 33,063 11,250 15,000
Bigger is
Better

37,470

The digital web officer is reviewing how web statistics are generated. This KPI will be reviewed at the end of the financial year. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS05 Percentage satisfied with the overall
service provided by the Customer Service
Officer (M)

96.83 % 95.56 % 100.00 % 97.73 % 95.41 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.60 %

We received 44 responses to the survey, 43 responders were satisfied, 1 dissatisfied... 98% 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS13a % of calls for NBC managed services
into contact centre answered (M)

88.31 % 94.43 % 93.91 % 98.10 % 90.18 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

88.55 %

Customer Services hit 97.8% against the 90% target for December with a total of 9,624 calls received which is a decrease by 2,292 contacts in comparison to November.
Both Environmental Services Calls and Housing Customer Services Calls have seen a decrease in comparison to November due to the holiday season. We are continuing to utilize cross trained staff within the One Stop Shop to
help increase call efficiency and reduce unavailability." 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CS14a % OSS customers with an
appointment seen on time (M)

90.2 % 87.2 % 90.6 % 95.6 % 92.4 % 90.0 % 90.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.5 %

Target has been exceeded due to ongoing improvements in service.
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC01n Total bins/boxes missed in period
(M)

419 342 390 1,570 5,265 1,053 1,404
Smaller is
Better

5,532

During December collection services had to stand down on occasion because of snow and severely inclement weather.  Crews were called in early when the weather improved to rectify. Collections were affected on both the Friday
and Saturday (in December) due to severe icy conditions so although a high figure it is very small compared to the amount of properties that had no service. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced
and the new contract will commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC02 % missed bins corrected within 24hrs
of notification (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 77.07 % 89.97 % 84.00 % 84.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.21 %

We continue to work hard with the contractor to ensure that missed bins are corrected as soon as possible. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will commence in June. We will
continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC04 % household waste recycled and
composted (NI192) (M)

44.11 % 41.64 % 38.20 % 32.21 % 45.07 % 49.00 % 49.00 %
Bigger is
Better

42.79 %

The December breakdown remains red as Enterprise and NCC are yet to reconcile and approve the data and give NBC the figures.  The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will
commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC09 % of Fly Tipping incidents removed
within 2 working days of notification (SO2)
(M)

99.87 % 100.06 % 100.00 % 99.83 % 99.88 % 98.00 % 98.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.01 %

Due to the snow in December there has been a drop in reported fly tipping incidents. Two fly tips were reported as out of target due to needing the 7.5 ton truck which was off the road due to breakdown.
Source Date 31/12/2017

HML01 Total no. of households living in
temporary accommodation (M)

177 203 225 217 217 160 150
Smaller is
Better

143

the series of measures implemented to reduce the pressure on the homelessness service, and improve the living conditions of households in temporary accommodation, has had a positive effect. The number of households residing
in bed and breakfast accommodation has reduced by 31% and the number of households placed outside of the borough has reduced by 57%. Unfortunately, the number of homelessness applications received each month has
remained high, and there is a lack of ''moveon'' opportunities for households who are accepted as homeless, resulting in an increase in the overall number of households residing in temporary accommodation.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML07 Number of households that are
prevented from becoming homeless (M)

58 80 63 43 623 780 1,080
Bigger is
Better

737

While the Housing Options and Advice Team does all it can to prevent homelessness and the need for temporary accommodation, preventing assured shorthold tenants from becoming homeless is extremely difficult as the
majority of landlords seeking possession of their accommodation are determined to sell their accommodation. Due to the buoyancy of the of the private rented sector many tenants are unable to secure alternative affordable
accommodation. In preparation for the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Team is planning to make a series of changes to ensure that all services and organisations, including the Council, intervene
earlier, providing more opportunities to prevent homelessness.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML09 Number of households for whom a
full homelessness duty is accepted (M)

89 45 56 28 440 450 600
Smaller is
Better

359

By the end of the quarter the backlog of 130 unassessed homelessness applications had been cleared resulting in the number of outstanding homelessness decisions being reduced by two thirds (from 205 to 66) the average case
load of each Homelessness Officer being reduced by 64% (from 50 to 18). The waiting time for an appointment with a homelessness Officer being reduced from 4 weeks to less than 3 days. Out intention is to maintain this position
even though the number of homelessness applications received each month, and the proportionate number of acceptance remains high.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG03 % FOI/EIR cases responded to within
20 working days (M)

95.7 % 91.7 % 89.8 % 98.5 % 95.7 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.3 %

FOI and EIR requests continue to increase in the number received. In October six FOIs were responded to after the required deadline. One was insufficient information received from Service Area within timescales and there were 5
late responses recorded for FOIs for NPH, which are included in the figures as they come in centrally to NBC and are then forwarded on. In November there were six late responses, 5 were due to admin errors and one a late
response by NPH. December showed one late FOI response due to NBC error.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG04 % Subject Access requests responded
to within 40 days (M)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing to target.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157a % Major Planning applications
determined in 13 weeks or agreed extension
(M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.00 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157b % of 'minor' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

97.06 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157c % of 'other' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

98.94 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP06 % change in serious acquisitive crime
from the baseline (M)

44.81 % 37.00 % 38.00 % 37.80 % 37.80 % 1.63 % 2.17 %
Smaller is
Better

32.19 %

There has been another rise in the reported acquisitive crime. We continue to work with the police to ensure that people who live in areas of high crime are made aware of the projects to support them such as information packs for
victims of crime, and that the police with visit and carry out a target hardening visit, as properties are often revisited. The police continue to work with vulnerable groups.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP22 % Hackney Carriage and private hire
vehicles inspected which comply with
regulations (M)

77.78 % 55.71 % 79.31 % 60.44 % 62.73 % 70.00 % 70.00 %
Bigger is
Better

67.53 %

A significant operation was carried out with DVSA support and a number of vehicle defects were recorded with appropriate enforcement action being taken to follow up those defects. The figures reflect that as expected we found
vehicles that did not meet required standards.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP53 % Service requests responded to
within 3 working days (M)

83.41 %
Bigger is
Better

85.65 %

This KPI has now been discontinued and a new one showing % of checks carried out within 5 days instigated>
Source Date <<

PP53a % Service Requests responded to
within 5 working days (M)

78.40 83.75 92.43 86.74 25.89 94.00 94.00
Bigger is
Better

?

Shortfall due partly to vacant posts within Warden team and also to changes in operations within the Environmental Protection Team.  The Warden vacancies have now been filled and further changes made to operational
procedures to address the shortfall

Source Date 31/12/2017

HMO01 No. HMOs with Mandatory licence
(Q)

360 352 387 403 403 340 340
Bigger is
Better

362

The number of licenced properties which are three or more storeys and have 5 or more individual occupants is significantly above the YTD figure of 340.This is due to the way in which the enforcement team work proactively to
investigate unlicensed HMO's, taking robust enforcement action and thorough investigation to increase the number of properties with licences.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HMO08 No. of HMOs with an additional
licence (Q)

525 537 500 507 507 550 550
Bigger is
Better

515

The number of properties with an additional licence (those HMO's with 2 storeys) is difficult to predict. We use a range of intelligence resources to record information about properties that are unlicensed. We continue to take robust
action to ensure properties become licenced when required and promote awareness of when there is a need to licence properties.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG01 % LGO cases responded to within 28
days (excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

IG02 Av. days to respond to LGO enquiries
(excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

0.00 27.50 28.00 25.00 13.25 0.00 0.00
Smaller is
Better

0.00

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

MPE01 No. of new businesses locating on
NWEZ (Q)

7 3 2 5 10 15 25
Bigger is
Better

11

There have only been 5 new business locating to the NWEZ during this quarter, one of them being Lidl for which we only received the figures in December. We continue to actively support the ongoing investment enquiries
through the appointed economic development officer and senior management (enterprise and regeneration.) 

Source Date 31/12/2017
MPE02 No. of new jobs created on NWEZ
(Q)

293 20 5 24 49 200 350
Bigger is
Better

320

The five new businesses that located to the Enterprise Zone created twenty four new jobs. Although this is below target for the quarter, it is hoped that this will increase going forward. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP16 % Off licence checks that are
compliant (Q)

20.00 % 33.33 % 0.00 % 50.00 % 35.71 % 85.00 % 85.00 %
Bigger is
Better

49.02 %

Some of the checks are carried out in response to complaints. The breaches of conditions were found to relate generally to absence of relevant paperwork (failure to display signage or lack of copies of the licences). Enforcement
action is taken to address these breaches. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

TCO05n Town Centre footfall (Q) 3,126,019 4,129,997 4,033,739 4,387,058 12,550,794 11,700,000 14,700,000
Bigger is
Better

12,511,555

Footfall for the town centre has exceeded target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC05 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below an acceptable level  Litter
(NI195a) (4M)

2.83 % 3.33 % 3.17 % 3.13 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.67 %

The indicator is out of target and we continue to work with the contractor to monitor this. It is possible that the inspections were affected by leaves that still had to be cleared from footpaths. The contract for the new service will
commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC06 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Detritus
(NI195b) (4M)

2.17 % 2.66 % 2.17 % 3.02 % 4.00 % 4.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.83 %

This is a four monthly measure and reports up to November. It is performing over target. There has been efforts to reduce levels of detritus particularly in channels and back lanes as there has been an increase in reports. The
contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC07 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Graffiti
(NI195c) (4M)

0.67 % 0.65 % 0.50 % 0.49 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

1.00 %

This is a four monthly target and reports up to November. It is performing within targets during the last four months. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC08 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  FlyPosting
(NI195d) (4M)

0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

0.00 %

This is a four monthly target and the figures up to November are showing that Flyposting reporting within targets. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017

Delivery of the Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone
2,174 individuals were registered on the Project Angel site during the construction of the whole development, with 0.7 ha of land being developed equating to 20,860 sq.m. of new floor space including a car park and £46.4
million of public sector capital investment.  This is due to open in September 2018.   327 jobs are reported in Q3 with a further £27,583 M being secured to support the development works.  Five new enterprises have been created
with an estimated 28 new jobs and two enterprises are reported moved on taking five jobs with them.  Project on target.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Greyfriars site
Work continues on the former Greyfriars bus station site. Cabinet have resolved to cease negotiations with the preferred developer and has authorised that disposal options be reassessed. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Restoration and regeneration of Delapre Abbey and Park
Following on from the grant of planning permission for car park development at Delapre Abbey, works commenced on site in September 2017 The car park and CCTV works are now complete. Landscaping will be carried out when
the weather improves. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Business Incentive Scheme and account management to key businesses
The Business Incentive Scheme is a support programme which is funded by £250,000  NBC Funding awarded annually to assist new enterprises to increase  opportunities for new businesses within the Borough of Northampton. 
Three new businesses have been supported within the second quarter creating 4 additional jobs and attracting £15,561 of private sector investment.  So far this year a total of seventeen businesses have been supported with
£120,737 committed grants between AprilDecember 2017.  In total for 2017/2018, 49 jobs created  that leveraged approx. £567,469 of private sector investment.  Three new businesses supported in the third quarter creating 6
additional jobs and attracting £39,956 private sector investment. Project on target. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Four Waterside Development
Four Waterside is the proposed development of premium office space adjacent to the railway station.  Market testing is still continuing with a view to securing prelet office space.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development and expansion of the Museum site in Guildhall Road continues.  Planning was approved in November 2017.  Preparing to go to cabinet in March 2018 for Tender approval and then issue to tenderees. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development of the Vulcan Works site in Guildhall Road continues.  This is part refurbishment and part new of office space and workshops which will include small units for businesses from the digital and creative sector. During this
quarter Asbestos removal from the site has been completed.  Demolition of the old Amalgamated Tyres site will take place during March 2018. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Castle Station development
The Castle station development project refers to the development of the land behind the railway station.  There are proposals for mixed used development which will give more parking for communters, some residential and some
commercial use.  Discussions with Network Rail, Department of Transport, the new franchise holder and the Homes & Communities Agency are ongoing. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Quarterly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

4 Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jul 17 Nov 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Annual Measures
Measure ID & Name $Source Date$ $Source Date$ Outturn Target $Source Date$ Polarity

Major Project update

5

639
12



Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

AST05a External rental income demanded
against budgeted income (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST05b % commercial rent demanded
within the last 12 months (more than 2
months in arrears) (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Smaller is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews. Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams. 

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST12 % achieved where return on (sub
group) investment properties meets agreed
target rate (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

90.28 %

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Local invoices paid within 10 days
(M)

91.51 100.00 92.81 87.50 89.53 80.00 80.00
Bigger is
Better

92.18

Although there was a slight dip in figures shown for December, overall this KPI continues to perform well over target 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Percentage of invoices for
commercial goods & serv. paid within 30
days (M)

98.70 % 100.00 % 99.55 % 97.84 % 99.32 % 99.00 % 99.00 %
Bigger is
Better

99.37 %

There was a slight dip in December probably due to Christmas leave.  The accumulative figures for the quarter however, continues to meet target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV012_12r Ave. no. of days/shifts lost to
sickness for rolling 12 month period (M)

11.14 10.90 10.75 9.83 9.83 7.50 7.50
Smaller is
Better

7.99

HR has identified an issue with the reporting lines held within the agresso system for the period of the financial year 2016/17, HR are working closely with the Agresso team to correct the system and are confident that this will be
rectified in time for reporting from April. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CH10 No. of unique visits to Museum Pages
(M)

3,183 4,587 3,770 2,968 33,063 11,250 15,000
Bigger is
Better

37,470

The digital web officer is reviewing how web statistics are generated. This KPI will be reviewed at the end of the financial year. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS05 Percentage satisfied with the overall
service provided by the Customer Service
Officer (M)

96.83 % 95.56 % 100.00 % 97.73 % 95.41 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.60 %

We received 44 responses to the survey, 43 responders were satisfied, 1 dissatisfied... 98% 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS13a % of calls for NBC managed services
into contact centre answered (M)

88.31 % 94.43 % 93.91 % 98.10 % 90.18 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

88.55 %

Customer Services hit 97.8% against the 90% target for December with a total of 9,624 calls received which is a decrease by 2,292 contacts in comparison to November.
Both Environmental Services Calls and Housing Customer Services Calls have seen a decrease in comparison to November due to the holiday season. We are continuing to utilize cross trained staff within the One Stop Shop to
help increase call efficiency and reduce unavailability." 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CS14a % OSS customers with an
appointment seen on time (M)

90.2 % 87.2 % 90.6 % 95.6 % 92.4 % 90.0 % 90.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.5 %

Target has been exceeded due to ongoing improvements in service.
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC01n Total bins/boxes missed in period
(M)

419 342 390 1,570 5,265 1,053 1,404
Smaller is
Better

5,532

During December collection services had to stand down on occasion because of snow and severely inclement weather.  Crews were called in early when the weather improved to rectify. Collections were affected on both the Friday
and Saturday (in December) due to severe icy conditions so although a high figure it is very small compared to the amount of properties that had no service. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced
and the new contract will commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC02 % missed bins corrected within 24hrs
of notification (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 77.07 % 89.97 % 84.00 % 84.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.21 %

We continue to work hard with the contractor to ensure that missed bins are corrected as soon as possible. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will commence in June. We will
continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC04 % household waste recycled and
composted (NI192) (M)

44.11 % 41.64 % 38.20 % 32.21 % 45.07 % 49.00 % 49.00 %
Bigger is
Better

42.79 %

The December breakdown remains red as Enterprise and NCC are yet to reconcile and approve the data and give NBC the figures.  The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will
commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC09 % of Fly Tipping incidents removed
within 2 working days of notification (SO2)
(M)

99.87 % 100.06 % 100.00 % 99.83 % 99.88 % 98.00 % 98.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.01 %

Due to the snow in December there has been a drop in reported fly tipping incidents. Two fly tips were reported as out of target due to needing the 7.5 ton truck which was off the road due to breakdown.
Source Date 31/12/2017

HML01 Total no. of households living in
temporary accommodation (M)

177 203 225 217 217 160 150
Smaller is
Better

143

the series of measures implemented to reduce the pressure on the homelessness service, and improve the living conditions of households in temporary accommodation, has had a positive effect. The number of households residing
in bed and breakfast accommodation has reduced by 31% and the number of households placed outside of the borough has reduced by 57%. Unfortunately, the number of homelessness applications received each month has
remained high, and there is a lack of ''moveon'' opportunities for households who are accepted as homeless, resulting in an increase in the overall number of households residing in temporary accommodation.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML07 Number of households that are
prevented from becoming homeless (M)

58 80 63 43 623 780 1,080
Bigger is
Better

737

While the Housing Options and Advice Team does all it can to prevent homelessness and the need for temporary accommodation, preventing assured shorthold tenants from becoming homeless is extremely difficult as the
majority of landlords seeking possession of their accommodation are determined to sell their accommodation. Due to the buoyancy of the of the private rented sector many tenants are unable to secure alternative affordable
accommodation. In preparation for the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Team is planning to make a series of changes to ensure that all services and organisations, including the Council, intervene
earlier, providing more opportunities to prevent homelessness.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML09 Number of households for whom a
full homelessness duty is accepted (M)

89 45 56 28 440 450 600
Smaller is
Better

359

By the end of the quarter the backlog of 130 unassessed homelessness applications had been cleared resulting in the number of outstanding homelessness decisions being reduced by two thirds (from 205 to 66) the average case
load of each Homelessness Officer being reduced by 64% (from 50 to 18). The waiting time for an appointment with a homelessness Officer being reduced from 4 weeks to less than 3 days. Out intention is to maintain this position
even though the number of homelessness applications received each month, and the proportionate number of acceptance remains high.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG03 % FOI/EIR cases responded to within
20 working days (M)

95.7 % 91.7 % 89.8 % 98.5 % 95.7 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.3 %

FOI and EIR requests continue to increase in the number received. In October six FOIs were responded to after the required deadline. One was insufficient information received from Service Area within timescales and there were 5
late responses recorded for FOIs for NPH, which are included in the figures as they come in centrally to NBC and are then forwarded on. In November there were six late responses, 5 were due to admin errors and one a late
response by NPH. December showed one late FOI response due to NBC error.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG04 % Subject Access requests responded
to within 40 days (M)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing to target.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157a % Major Planning applications
determined in 13 weeks or agreed extension
(M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.00 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157b % of 'minor' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

97.06 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157c % of 'other' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

98.94 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP06 % change in serious acquisitive crime
from the baseline (M)

44.81 % 37.00 % 38.00 % 37.80 % 37.80 % 1.63 % 2.17 %
Smaller is
Better

32.19 %

There has been another rise in the reported acquisitive crime. We continue to work with the police to ensure that people who live in areas of high crime are made aware of the projects to support them such as information packs for
victims of crime, and that the police with visit and carry out a target hardening visit, as properties are often revisited. The police continue to work with vulnerable groups.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP22 % Hackney Carriage and private hire
vehicles inspected which comply with
regulations (M)

77.78 % 55.71 % 79.31 % 60.44 % 62.73 % 70.00 % 70.00 %
Bigger is
Better

67.53 %

A significant operation was carried out with DVSA support and a number of vehicle defects were recorded with appropriate enforcement action being taken to follow up those defects. The figures reflect that as expected we found
vehicles that did not meet required standards.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP53 % Service requests responded to
within 3 working days (M)

83.41 %
Bigger is
Better

85.65 %

This KPI has now been discontinued and a new one showing % of checks carried out within 5 days instigated>
Source Date <<

PP53a % Service Requests responded to
within 5 working days (M)

78.40 83.75 92.43 86.74 25.89 94.00 94.00
Bigger is
Better

?

Shortfall due partly to vacant posts within Warden team and also to changes in operations within the Environmental Protection Team.  The Warden vacancies have now been filled and further changes made to operational
procedures to address the shortfall

Source Date 31/12/2017

HMO01 No. HMOs with Mandatory licence
(Q)

360 352 387 403 403 340 340
Bigger is
Better

362

The number of licenced properties which are three or more storeys and have 5 or more individual occupants is significantly above the YTD figure of 340.This is due to the way in which the enforcement team work proactively to
investigate unlicensed HMO's, taking robust enforcement action and thorough investigation to increase the number of properties with licences.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HMO08 No. of HMOs with an additional
licence (Q)

525 537 500 507 507 550 550
Bigger is
Better

515

The number of properties with an additional licence (those HMO's with 2 storeys) is difficult to predict. We use a range of intelligence resources to record information about properties that are unlicensed. We continue to take robust
action to ensure properties become licenced when required and promote awareness of when there is a need to licence properties.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG01 % LGO cases responded to within 28
days (excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

IG02 Av. days to respond to LGO enquiries
(excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

0.00 27.50 28.00 25.00 13.25 0.00 0.00
Smaller is
Better

0.00

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

MPE01 No. of new businesses locating on
NWEZ (Q)

7 3 2 5 10 15 25
Bigger is
Better

11

There have only been 5 new business locating to the NWEZ during this quarter, one of them being Lidl for which we only received the figures in December. We continue to actively support the ongoing investment enquiries
through the appointed economic development officer and senior management (enterprise and regeneration.) 

Source Date 31/12/2017
MPE02 No. of new jobs created on NWEZ
(Q)

293 20 5 24 49 200 350
Bigger is
Better

320

The five new businesses that located to the Enterprise Zone created twenty four new jobs. Although this is below target for the quarter, it is hoped that this will increase going forward. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP16 % Off licence checks that are
compliant (Q)

20.00 % 33.33 % 0.00 % 50.00 % 35.71 % 85.00 % 85.00 %
Bigger is
Better

49.02 %

Some of the checks are carried out in response to complaints. The breaches of conditions were found to relate generally to absence of relevant paperwork (failure to display signage or lack of copies of the licences). Enforcement
action is taken to address these breaches. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

TCO05n Town Centre footfall (Q) 3,126,019 4,129,997 4,033,739 4,387,058 12,550,794 11,700,000 14,700,000
Bigger is
Better

12,511,555

Footfall for the town centre has exceeded target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC05 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below an acceptable level  Litter
(NI195a) (4M)

2.83 % 3.33 % 3.17 % 3.13 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.67 %

The indicator is out of target and we continue to work with the contractor to monitor this. It is possible that the inspections were affected by leaves that still had to be cleared from footpaths. The contract for the new service will
commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC06 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Detritus
(NI195b) (4M)

2.17 % 2.66 % 2.17 % 3.02 % 4.00 % 4.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.83 %

This is a four monthly measure and reports up to November. It is performing over target. There has been efforts to reduce levels of detritus particularly in channels and back lanes as there has been an increase in reports. The
contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC07 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Graffiti
(NI195c) (4M)

0.67 % 0.65 % 0.50 % 0.49 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

1.00 %

This is a four monthly target and reports up to November. It is performing within targets during the last four months. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC08 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  FlyPosting
(NI195d) (4M)

0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

0.00 %

This is a four monthly target and the figures up to November are showing that Flyposting reporting within targets. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017

Delivery of the Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone
2,174 individuals were registered on the Project Angel site during the construction of the whole development, with 0.7 ha of land being developed equating to 20,860 sq.m. of new floor space including a car park and £46.4
million of public sector capital investment.  This is due to open in September 2018.   327 jobs are reported in Q3 with a further £27,583 M being secured to support the development works.  Five new enterprises have been created
with an estimated 28 new jobs and two enterprises are reported moved on taking five jobs with them.  Project on target.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Greyfriars site
Work continues on the former Greyfriars bus station site. Cabinet have resolved to cease negotiations with the preferred developer and has authorised that disposal options be reassessed. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Restoration and regeneration of Delapre Abbey and Park
Following on from the grant of planning permission for car park development at Delapre Abbey, works commenced on site in September 2017 The car park and CCTV works are now complete. Landscaping will be carried out when
the weather improves. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Business Incentive Scheme and account management to key businesses
The Business Incentive Scheme is a support programme which is funded by £250,000  NBC Funding awarded annually to assist new enterprises to increase  opportunities for new businesses within the Borough of Northampton. 
Three new businesses have been supported within the second quarter creating 4 additional jobs and attracting £15,561 of private sector investment.  So far this year a total of seventeen businesses have been supported with
£120,737 committed grants between AprilDecember 2017.  In total for 2017/2018, 49 jobs created  that leveraged approx. £567,469 of private sector investment.  Three new businesses supported in the third quarter creating 6
additional jobs and attracting £39,956 private sector investment. Project on target. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Four Waterside Development
Four Waterside is the proposed development of premium office space adjacent to the railway station.  Market testing is still continuing with a view to securing prelet office space.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development and expansion of the Museum site in Guildhall Road continues.  Planning was approved in November 2017.  Preparing to go to cabinet in March 2018 for Tender approval and then issue to tenderees. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development of the Vulcan Works site in Guildhall Road continues.  This is part refurbishment and part new of office space and workshops which will include small units for businesses from the digital and creative sector. During this
quarter Asbestos removal from the site has been completed.  Demolition of the old Amalgamated Tyres site will take place during March 2018. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Castle Station development
The Castle station development project refers to the development of the land behind the railway station.  There are proposals for mixed used development which will give more parking for communters, some residential and some
commercial use.  Discussions with Network Rail, Department of Transport, the new franchise holder and the Homes & Communities Agency are ongoing. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Quarterly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

4 Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jul 17 Nov 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Annual Measures
Measure ID & Name $Source Date$ $Source Date$ Outturn Target $Source Date$ Polarity

Major Project update

6

640
13



AST05a External rental income demanded
against budgeted income (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST05b % commercial rent demanded
within the last 12 months (more than 2
months in arrears) (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Smaller is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews. Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams. 

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST12 % achieved where return on (sub
group) investment properties meets agreed
target rate (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

90.28 %

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Local invoices paid within 10 days
(M)

91.51 100.00 92.81 87.50 89.53 80.00 80.00
Bigger is
Better

92.18

Although there was a slight dip in figures shown for December, overall this KPI continues to perform well over target 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Percentage of invoices for
commercial goods & serv. paid within 30
days (M)

98.70 % 100.00 % 99.55 % 97.84 % 99.32 % 99.00 % 99.00 %
Bigger is
Better

99.37 %

There was a slight dip in December probably due to Christmas leave.  The accumulative figures for the quarter however, continues to meet target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV012_12r Ave. no. of days/shifts lost to
sickness for rolling 12 month period (M)

11.14 10.90 10.75 9.83 9.83 7.50 7.50
Smaller is
Better

7.99

HR has identified an issue with the reporting lines held within the agresso system for the period of the financial year 2016/17, HR are working closely with the Agresso team to correct the system and are confident that this will be
rectified in time for reporting from April. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CH10 No. of unique visits to Museum Pages
(M)

3,183 4,587 3,770 2,968 33,063 11,250 15,000
Bigger is
Better

37,470

The digital web officer is reviewing how web statistics are generated. This KPI will be reviewed at the end of the financial year. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS05 Percentage satisfied with the overall
service provided by the Customer Service
Officer (M)

96.83 % 95.56 % 100.00 % 97.73 % 95.41 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.60 %

We received 44 responses to the survey, 43 responders were satisfied, 1 dissatisfied... 98% 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS13a % of calls for NBC managed services
into contact centre answered (M)

88.31 % 94.43 % 93.91 % 98.10 % 90.18 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

88.55 %

Customer Services hit 97.8% against the 90% target for December with a total of 9,624 calls received which is a decrease by 2,292 contacts in comparison to November.
Both Environmental Services Calls and Housing Customer Services Calls have seen a decrease in comparison to November due to the holiday season. We are continuing to utilize cross trained staff within the One Stop Shop to
help increase call efficiency and reduce unavailability." 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CS14a % OSS customers with an
appointment seen on time (M)

90.2 % 87.2 % 90.6 % 95.6 % 92.4 % 90.0 % 90.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.5 %

Target has been exceeded due to ongoing improvements in service.
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC01n Total bins/boxes missed in period
(M)

419 342 390 1,570 5,265 1,053 1,404
Smaller is
Better

5,532

During December collection services had to stand down on occasion because of snow and severely inclement weather.  Crews were called in early when the weather improved to rectify. Collections were affected on both the Friday
and Saturday (in December) due to severe icy conditions so although a high figure it is very small compared to the amount of properties that had no service. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced
and the new contract will commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC02 % missed bins corrected within 24hrs
of notification (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 77.07 % 89.97 % 84.00 % 84.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.21 %

We continue to work hard with the contractor to ensure that missed bins are corrected as soon as possible. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will commence in June. We will
continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC04 % household waste recycled and
composted (NI192) (M)

44.11 % 41.64 % 38.20 % 32.21 % 45.07 % 49.00 % 49.00 %
Bigger is
Better

42.79 %

The December breakdown remains red as Enterprise and NCC are yet to reconcile and approve the data and give NBC the figures.  The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will
commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC09 % of Fly Tipping incidents removed
within 2 working days of notification (SO2)
(M)

99.87 % 100.06 % 100.00 % 99.83 % 99.88 % 98.00 % 98.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.01 %

Due to the snow in December there has been a drop in reported fly tipping incidents. Two fly tips were reported as out of target due to needing the 7.5 ton truck which was off the road due to breakdown.
Source Date 31/12/2017

HML01 Total no. of households living in
temporary accommodation (M)

177 203 225 217 217 160 150
Smaller is
Better

143

the series of measures implemented to reduce the pressure on the homelessness service, and improve the living conditions of households in temporary accommodation, has had a positive effect. The number of households residing
in bed and breakfast accommodation has reduced by 31% and the number of households placed outside of the borough has reduced by 57%. Unfortunately, the number of homelessness applications received each month has
remained high, and there is a lack of ''moveon'' opportunities for households who are accepted as homeless, resulting in an increase in the overall number of households residing in temporary accommodation.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML07 Number of households that are
prevented from becoming homeless (M)

58 80 63 43 623 780 1,080
Bigger is
Better

737

While the Housing Options and Advice Team does all it can to prevent homelessness and the need for temporary accommodation, preventing assured shorthold tenants from becoming homeless is extremely difficult as the
majority of landlords seeking possession of their accommodation are determined to sell their accommodation. Due to the buoyancy of the of the private rented sector many tenants are unable to secure alternative affordable
accommodation. In preparation for the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Team is planning to make a series of changes to ensure that all services and organisations, including the Council, intervene
earlier, providing more opportunities to prevent homelessness.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML09 Number of households for whom a
full homelessness duty is accepted (M)

89 45 56 28 440 450 600
Smaller is
Better

359

By the end of the quarter the backlog of 130 unassessed homelessness applications had been cleared resulting in the number of outstanding homelessness decisions being reduced by two thirds (from 205 to 66) the average case
load of each Homelessness Officer being reduced by 64% (from 50 to 18). The waiting time for an appointment with a homelessness Officer being reduced from 4 weeks to less than 3 days. Out intention is to maintain this position
even though the number of homelessness applications received each month, and the proportionate number of acceptance remains high.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG03 % FOI/EIR cases responded to within
20 working days (M)

95.7 % 91.7 % 89.8 % 98.5 % 95.7 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.3 %

FOI and EIR requests continue to increase in the number received. In October six FOIs were responded to after the required deadline. One was insufficient information received from Service Area within timescales and there were 5
late responses recorded for FOIs for NPH, which are included in the figures as they come in centrally to NBC and are then forwarded on. In November there were six late responses, 5 were due to admin errors and one a late
response by NPH. December showed one late FOI response due to NBC error.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG04 % Subject Access requests responded
to within 40 days (M)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing to target.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157a % Major Planning applications
determined in 13 weeks or agreed extension
(M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.00 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157b % of 'minor' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

97.06 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157c % of 'other' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

98.94 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP06 % change in serious acquisitive crime
from the baseline (M)

44.81 % 37.00 % 38.00 % 37.80 % 37.80 % 1.63 % 2.17 %
Smaller is
Better

32.19 %

There has been another rise in the reported acquisitive crime. We continue to work with the police to ensure that people who live in areas of high crime are made aware of the projects to support them such as information packs for
victims of crime, and that the police with visit and carry out a target hardening visit, as properties are often revisited. The police continue to work with vulnerable groups.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP22 % Hackney Carriage and private hire
vehicles inspected which comply with
regulations (M)

77.78 % 55.71 % 79.31 % 60.44 % 62.73 % 70.00 % 70.00 %
Bigger is
Better

67.53 %

A significant operation was carried out with DVSA support and a number of vehicle defects were recorded with appropriate enforcement action being taken to follow up those defects. The figures reflect that as expected we found
vehicles that did not meet required standards.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP53 % Service requests responded to
within 3 working days (M)

83.41 %
Bigger is
Better

85.65 %

This KPI has now been discontinued and a new one showing % of checks carried out within 5 days instigated>
Source Date <<

PP53a % Service Requests responded to
within 5 working days (M)

78.40 83.75 92.43 86.74 25.89 94.00 94.00
Bigger is
Better

?

Shortfall due partly to vacant posts within Warden team and also to changes in operations within the Environmental Protection Team.  The Warden vacancies have now been filled and further changes made to operational
procedures to address the shortfall

Source Date 31/12/2017

HMO01 No. HMOs with Mandatory licence
(Q)

360 352 387 403 403 340 340
Bigger is
Better

362

The number of licenced properties which are three or more storeys and have 5 or more individual occupants is significantly above the YTD figure of 340.This is due to the way in which the enforcement team work proactively to
investigate unlicensed HMO's, taking robust enforcement action and thorough investigation to increase the number of properties with licences.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HMO08 No. of HMOs with an additional
licence (Q)

525 537 500 507 507 550 550
Bigger is
Better

515

The number of properties with an additional licence (those HMO's with 2 storeys) is difficult to predict. We use a range of intelligence resources to record information about properties that are unlicensed. We continue to take robust
action to ensure properties become licenced when required and promote awareness of when there is a need to licence properties.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG01 % LGO cases responded to within 28
days (excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

IG02 Av. days to respond to LGO enquiries
(excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

0.00 27.50 28.00 25.00 13.25 0.00 0.00
Smaller is
Better

0.00

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

MPE01 No. of new businesses locating on
NWEZ (Q)

7 3 2 5 10 15 25
Bigger is
Better

11

There have only been 5 new business locating to the NWEZ during this quarter, one of them being Lidl for which we only received the figures in December. We continue to actively support the ongoing investment enquiries
through the appointed economic development officer and senior management (enterprise and regeneration.) 

Source Date 31/12/2017
MPE02 No. of new jobs created on NWEZ
(Q)

293 20 5 24 49 200 350
Bigger is
Better

320

The five new businesses that located to the Enterprise Zone created twenty four new jobs. Although this is below target for the quarter, it is hoped that this will increase going forward. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP16 % Off licence checks that are
compliant (Q)

20.00 % 33.33 % 0.00 % 50.00 % 35.71 % 85.00 % 85.00 %
Bigger is
Better

49.02 %

Some of the checks are carried out in response to complaints. The breaches of conditions were found to relate generally to absence of relevant paperwork (failure to display signage or lack of copies of the licences). Enforcement
action is taken to address these breaches. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

TCO05n Town Centre footfall (Q) 3,126,019 4,129,997 4,033,739 4,387,058 12,550,794 11,700,000 14,700,000
Bigger is
Better

12,511,555

Footfall for the town centre has exceeded target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC05 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below an acceptable level  Litter
(NI195a) (4M)

2.83 % 3.33 % 3.17 % 3.13 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.67 %

The indicator is out of target and we continue to work with the contractor to monitor this. It is possible that the inspections were affected by leaves that still had to be cleared from footpaths. The contract for the new service will
commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC06 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Detritus
(NI195b) (4M)

2.17 % 2.66 % 2.17 % 3.02 % 4.00 % 4.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.83 %

This is a four monthly measure and reports up to November. It is performing over target. There has been efforts to reduce levels of detritus particularly in channels and back lanes as there has been an increase in reports. The
contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC07 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Graffiti
(NI195c) (4M)

0.67 % 0.65 % 0.50 % 0.49 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

1.00 %

This is a four monthly target and reports up to November. It is performing within targets during the last four months. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC08 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  FlyPosting
(NI195d) (4M)

0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

0.00 %

This is a four monthly target and the figures up to November are showing that Flyposting reporting within targets. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017

Delivery of the Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone
2,174 individuals were registered on the Project Angel site during the construction of the whole development, with 0.7 ha of land being developed equating to 20,860 sq.m. of new floor space including a car park and £46.4
million of public sector capital investment.  This is due to open in September 2018.   327 jobs are reported in Q3 with a further £27,583 M being secured to support the development works.  Five new enterprises have been created
with an estimated 28 new jobs and two enterprises are reported moved on taking five jobs with them.  Project on target.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Greyfriars site
Work continues on the former Greyfriars bus station site. Cabinet have resolved to cease negotiations with the preferred developer and has authorised that disposal options be reassessed. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Restoration and regeneration of Delapre Abbey and Park
Following on from the grant of planning permission for car park development at Delapre Abbey, works commenced on site in September 2017 The car park and CCTV works are now complete. Landscaping will be carried out when
the weather improves. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Business Incentive Scheme and account management to key businesses
The Business Incentive Scheme is a support programme which is funded by £250,000  NBC Funding awarded annually to assist new enterprises to increase  opportunities for new businesses within the Borough of Northampton. 
Three new businesses have been supported within the second quarter creating 4 additional jobs and attracting £15,561 of private sector investment.  So far this year a total of seventeen businesses have been supported with
£120,737 committed grants between AprilDecember 2017.  In total for 2017/2018, 49 jobs created  that leveraged approx. £567,469 of private sector investment.  Three new businesses supported in the third quarter creating 6
additional jobs and attracting £39,956 private sector investment. Project on target. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Four Waterside Development
Four Waterside is the proposed development of premium office space adjacent to the railway station.  Market testing is still continuing with a view to securing prelet office space.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development and expansion of the Museum site in Guildhall Road continues.  Planning was approved in November 2017.  Preparing to go to cabinet in March 2018 for Tender approval and then issue to tenderees. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development of the Vulcan Works site in Guildhall Road continues.  This is part refurbishment and part new of office space and workshops which will include small units for businesses from the digital and creative sector. During this
quarter Asbestos removal from the site has been completed.  Demolition of the old Amalgamated Tyres site will take place during March 2018. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Castle Station development
The Castle station development project refers to the development of the land behind the railway station.  There are proposals for mixed used development which will give more parking for communters, some residential and some
commercial use.  Discussions with Network Rail, Department of Transport, the new franchise holder and the Homes & Communities Agency are ongoing. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Quarterly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

4 Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jul 17 Nov 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Annual Measures
Measure ID & Name $Source Date$ $Source Date$ Outturn Target $Source Date$ Polarity

Major Project update

7

641
14

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','v10col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','v10col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','v10col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','v10col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col20')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','v10col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','v10col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','v10col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col15')


AST05a External rental income demanded
against budgeted income (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST05b % commercial rent demanded
within the last 12 months (more than 2
months in arrears) (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Smaller is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews. Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams. 

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST12 % achieved where return on (sub
group) investment properties meets agreed
target rate (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

90.28 %

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Local invoices paid within 10 days
(M)

91.51 100.00 92.81 87.50 89.53 80.00 80.00
Bigger is
Better

92.18

Although there was a slight dip in figures shown for December, overall this KPI continues to perform well over target 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Percentage of invoices for
commercial goods & serv. paid within 30
days (M)

98.70 % 100.00 % 99.55 % 97.84 % 99.32 % 99.00 % 99.00 %
Bigger is
Better

99.37 %

There was a slight dip in December probably due to Christmas leave.  The accumulative figures for the quarter however, continues to meet target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV012_12r Ave. no. of days/shifts lost to
sickness for rolling 12 month period (M)

11.14 10.90 10.75 9.83 9.83 7.50 7.50
Smaller is
Better

7.99

HR has identified an issue with the reporting lines held within the agresso system for the period of the financial year 2016/17, HR are working closely with the Agresso team to correct the system and are confident that this will be
rectified in time for reporting from April. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CH10 No. of unique visits to Museum Pages
(M)

3,183 4,587 3,770 2,968 33,063 11,250 15,000
Bigger is
Better

37,470

The digital web officer is reviewing how web statistics are generated. This KPI will be reviewed at the end of the financial year. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS05 Percentage satisfied with the overall
service provided by the Customer Service
Officer (M)

96.83 % 95.56 % 100.00 % 97.73 % 95.41 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.60 %

We received 44 responses to the survey, 43 responders were satisfied, 1 dissatisfied... 98% 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS13a % of calls for NBC managed services
into contact centre answered (M)

88.31 % 94.43 % 93.91 % 98.10 % 90.18 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

88.55 %

Customer Services hit 97.8% against the 90% target for December with a total of 9,624 calls received which is a decrease by 2,292 contacts in comparison to November.
Both Environmental Services Calls and Housing Customer Services Calls have seen a decrease in comparison to November due to the holiday season. We are continuing to utilize cross trained staff within the One Stop Shop to
help increase call efficiency and reduce unavailability." 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CS14a % OSS customers with an
appointment seen on time (M)

90.2 % 87.2 % 90.6 % 95.6 % 92.4 % 90.0 % 90.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.5 %

Target has been exceeded due to ongoing improvements in service.
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC01n Total bins/boxes missed in period
(M)

419 342 390 1,570 5,265 1,053 1,404
Smaller is
Better

5,532

During December collection services had to stand down on occasion because of snow and severely inclement weather.  Crews were called in early when the weather improved to rectify. Collections were affected on both the Friday
and Saturday (in December) due to severe icy conditions so although a high figure it is very small compared to the amount of properties that had no service. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced
and the new contract will commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC02 % missed bins corrected within 24hrs
of notification (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 77.07 % 89.97 % 84.00 % 84.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.21 %

We continue to work hard with the contractor to ensure that missed bins are corrected as soon as possible. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will commence in June. We will
continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC04 % household waste recycled and
composted (NI192) (M)

44.11 % 41.64 % 38.20 % 32.21 % 45.07 % 49.00 % 49.00 %
Bigger is
Better

42.79 %

The December breakdown remains red as Enterprise and NCC are yet to reconcile and approve the data and give NBC the figures.  The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will
commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC09 % of Fly Tipping incidents removed
within 2 working days of notification (SO2)
(M)

99.87 % 100.06 % 100.00 % 99.83 % 99.88 % 98.00 % 98.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.01 %

Due to the snow in December there has been a drop in reported fly tipping incidents. Two fly tips were reported as out of target due to needing the 7.5 ton truck which was off the road due to breakdown.
Source Date 31/12/2017

HML01 Total no. of households living in
temporary accommodation (M)

177 203 225 217 217 160 150
Smaller is
Better

143

the series of measures implemented to reduce the pressure on the homelessness service, and improve the living conditions of households in temporary accommodation, has had a positive effect. The number of households residing
in bed and breakfast accommodation has reduced by 31% and the number of households placed outside of the borough has reduced by 57%. Unfortunately, the number of homelessness applications received each month has
remained high, and there is a lack of ''moveon'' opportunities for households who are accepted as homeless, resulting in an increase in the overall number of households residing in temporary accommodation.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML07 Number of households that are
prevented from becoming homeless (M)

58 80 63 43 623 780 1,080
Bigger is
Better

737

While the Housing Options and Advice Team does all it can to prevent homelessness and the need for temporary accommodation, preventing assured shorthold tenants from becoming homeless is extremely difficult as the
majority of landlords seeking possession of their accommodation are determined to sell their accommodation. Due to the buoyancy of the of the private rented sector many tenants are unable to secure alternative affordable
accommodation. In preparation for the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Team is planning to make a series of changes to ensure that all services and organisations, including the Council, intervene
earlier, providing more opportunities to prevent homelessness.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML09 Number of households for whom a
full homelessness duty is accepted (M)

89 45 56 28 440 450 600
Smaller is
Better

359

By the end of the quarter the backlog of 130 unassessed homelessness applications had been cleared resulting in the number of outstanding homelessness decisions being reduced by two thirds (from 205 to 66) the average case
load of each Homelessness Officer being reduced by 64% (from 50 to 18). The waiting time for an appointment with a homelessness Officer being reduced from 4 weeks to less than 3 days. Out intention is to maintain this position
even though the number of homelessness applications received each month, and the proportionate number of acceptance remains high.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG03 % FOI/EIR cases responded to within
20 working days (M)

95.7 % 91.7 % 89.8 % 98.5 % 95.7 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.3 %

FOI and EIR requests continue to increase in the number received. In October six FOIs were responded to after the required deadline. One was insufficient information received from Service Area within timescales and there were 5
late responses recorded for FOIs for NPH, which are included in the figures as they come in centrally to NBC and are then forwarded on. In November there were six late responses, 5 were due to admin errors and one a late
response by NPH. December showed one late FOI response due to NBC error.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG04 % Subject Access requests responded
to within 40 days (M)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing to target.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157a % Major Planning applications
determined in 13 weeks or agreed extension
(M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.00 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157b % of 'minor' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

97.06 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157c % of 'other' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

98.94 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP06 % change in serious acquisitive crime
from the baseline (M)

44.81 % 37.00 % 38.00 % 37.80 % 37.80 % 1.63 % 2.17 %
Smaller is
Better

32.19 %

There has been another rise in the reported acquisitive crime. We continue to work with the police to ensure that people who live in areas of high crime are made aware of the projects to support them such as information packs for
victims of crime, and that the police with visit and carry out a target hardening visit, as properties are often revisited. The police continue to work with vulnerable groups.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP22 % Hackney Carriage and private hire
vehicles inspected which comply with
regulations (M)

77.78 % 55.71 % 79.31 % 60.44 % 62.73 % 70.00 % 70.00 %
Bigger is
Better

67.53 %

A significant operation was carried out with DVSA support and a number of vehicle defects were recorded with appropriate enforcement action being taken to follow up those defects. The figures reflect that as expected we found
vehicles that did not meet required standards.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP53 % Service requests responded to
within 3 working days (M)

83.41 %
Bigger is
Better

85.65 %

This KPI has now been discontinued and a new one showing % of checks carried out within 5 days instigated>
Source Date <<

PP53a % Service Requests responded to
within 5 working days (M)

78.40 83.75 92.43 86.74 25.89 94.00 94.00
Bigger is
Better

?

Shortfall due partly to vacant posts within Warden team and also to changes in operations within the Environmental Protection Team.  The Warden vacancies have now been filled and further changes made to operational
procedures to address the shortfall

Source Date 31/12/2017

HMO01 No. HMOs with Mandatory licence
(Q)

360 352 387 403 403 340 340
Bigger is
Better

362

The number of licenced properties which are three or more storeys and have 5 or more individual occupants is significantly above the YTD figure of 340.This is due to the way in which the enforcement team work proactively to
investigate unlicensed HMO's, taking robust enforcement action and thorough investigation to increase the number of properties with licences.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HMO08 No. of HMOs with an additional
licence (Q)

525 537 500 507 507 550 550
Bigger is
Better

515

The number of properties with an additional licence (those HMO's with 2 storeys) is difficult to predict. We use a range of intelligence resources to record information about properties that are unlicensed. We continue to take robust
action to ensure properties become licenced when required and promote awareness of when there is a need to licence properties.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG01 % LGO cases responded to within 28
days (excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

IG02 Av. days to respond to LGO enquiries
(excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

0.00 27.50 28.00 25.00 13.25 0.00 0.00
Smaller is
Better

0.00

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

MPE01 No. of new businesses locating on
NWEZ (Q)

7 3 2 5 10 15 25
Bigger is
Better

11

There have only been 5 new business locating to the NWEZ during this quarter, one of them being Lidl for which we only received the figures in December. We continue to actively support the ongoing investment enquiries
through the appointed economic development officer and senior management (enterprise and regeneration.) 

Source Date 31/12/2017
MPE02 No. of new jobs created on NWEZ
(Q)

293 20 5 24 49 200 350
Bigger is
Better

320

The five new businesses that located to the Enterprise Zone created twenty four new jobs. Although this is below target for the quarter, it is hoped that this will increase going forward. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP16 % Off licence checks that are
compliant (Q)

20.00 % 33.33 % 0.00 % 50.00 % 35.71 % 85.00 % 85.00 %
Bigger is
Better

49.02 %

Some of the checks are carried out in response to complaints. The breaches of conditions were found to relate generally to absence of relevant paperwork (failure to display signage or lack of copies of the licences). Enforcement
action is taken to address these breaches. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

TCO05n Town Centre footfall (Q) 3,126,019 4,129,997 4,033,739 4,387,058 12,550,794 11,700,000 14,700,000
Bigger is
Better

12,511,555

Footfall for the town centre has exceeded target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC05 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below an acceptable level  Litter
(NI195a) (4M)

2.83 % 3.33 % 3.17 % 3.13 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.67 %

The indicator is out of target and we continue to work with the contractor to monitor this. It is possible that the inspections were affected by leaves that still had to be cleared from footpaths. The contract for the new service will
commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC06 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Detritus
(NI195b) (4M)

2.17 % 2.66 % 2.17 % 3.02 % 4.00 % 4.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.83 %

This is a four monthly measure and reports up to November. It is performing over target. There has been efforts to reduce levels of detritus particularly in channels and back lanes as there has been an increase in reports. The
contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC07 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Graffiti
(NI195c) (4M)

0.67 % 0.65 % 0.50 % 0.49 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

1.00 %

This is a four monthly target and reports up to November. It is performing within targets during the last four months. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC08 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  FlyPosting
(NI195d) (4M)

0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

0.00 %

This is a four monthly target and the figures up to November are showing that Flyposting reporting within targets. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017

Delivery of the Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone
2,174 individuals were registered on the Project Angel site during the construction of the whole development, with 0.7 ha of land being developed equating to 20,860 sq.m. of new floor space including a car park and £46.4
million of public sector capital investment.  This is due to open in September 2018.   327 jobs are reported in Q3 with a further £27,583 M being secured to support the development works.  Five new enterprises have been created
with an estimated 28 new jobs and two enterprises are reported moved on taking five jobs with them.  Project on target.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Greyfriars site
Work continues on the former Greyfriars bus station site. Cabinet have resolved to cease negotiations with the preferred developer and has authorised that disposal options be reassessed. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Restoration and regeneration of Delapre Abbey and Park
Following on from the grant of planning permission for car park development at Delapre Abbey, works commenced on site in September 2017 The car park and CCTV works are now complete. Landscaping will be carried out when
the weather improves. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Business Incentive Scheme and account management to key businesses
The Business Incentive Scheme is a support programme which is funded by £250,000  NBC Funding awarded annually to assist new enterprises to increase  opportunities for new businesses within the Borough of Northampton. 
Three new businesses have been supported within the second quarter creating 4 additional jobs and attracting £15,561 of private sector investment.  So far this year a total of seventeen businesses have been supported with
£120,737 committed grants between AprilDecember 2017.  In total for 2017/2018, 49 jobs created  that leveraged approx. £567,469 of private sector investment.  Three new businesses supported in the third quarter creating 6
additional jobs and attracting £39,956 private sector investment. Project on target. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Four Waterside Development
Four Waterside is the proposed development of premium office space adjacent to the railway station.  Market testing is still continuing with a view to securing prelet office space.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development and expansion of the Museum site in Guildhall Road continues.  Planning was approved in November 2017.  Preparing to go to cabinet in March 2018 for Tender approval and then issue to tenderees. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development of the Vulcan Works site in Guildhall Road continues.  This is part refurbishment and part new of office space and workshops which will include small units for businesses from the digital and creative sector. During this
quarter Asbestos removal from the site has been completed.  Demolition of the old Amalgamated Tyres site will take place during March 2018. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Castle Station development
The Castle station development project refers to the development of the land behind the railway station.  There are proposals for mixed used development which will give more parking for communters, some residential and some
commercial use.  Discussions with Network Rail, Department of Transport, the new franchise holder and the Homes & Communities Agency are ongoing. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Quarterly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

4 Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jul 17 Nov 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Annual Measures
Measure ID & Name $Source Date$ $Source Date$ Outturn Target $Source Date$ Polarity

Major Project update

8

642
15

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col14')


AST05a External rental income demanded
against budgeted income (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST05b % commercial rent demanded
within the last 12 months (more than 2
months in arrears) (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Smaller is
Better

?

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews. Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams. 

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

AST12 % achieved where return on (sub
group) investment properties meets agreed
target rate (M)

? ? ? ? ? ? 
Bigger is
Better

90.28 %

Work continues on the review of all assets to ensure that the assets register on GVA is populated satisfactorily so that the team can then progress with lease renewals, rent and property reviews.  Good progress has been made but the
work has taken longer than originally projected, due to other demands on the time of the Assets and Legal Teams.  

Options have been explored to ensure that debt recovery is regularised in respect of rent and other sums due and a decision is pending. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Local invoices paid within 10 days
(M)

91.51 100.00 92.81 87.50 89.53 80.00 80.00
Bigger is
Better

92.18

Although there was a slight dip in figures shown for December, overall this KPI continues to perform well over target 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV008 Percentage of invoices for
commercial goods & serv. paid within 30
days (M)

98.70 % 100.00 % 99.55 % 97.84 % 99.32 % 99.00 % 99.00 %
Bigger is
Better

99.37 %

There was a slight dip in December probably due to Christmas leave.  The accumulative figures for the quarter however, continues to meet target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

BV012_12r Ave. no. of days/shifts lost to
sickness for rolling 12 month period (M)

11.14 10.90 10.75 9.83 9.83 7.50 7.50
Smaller is
Better

7.99

HR has identified an issue with the reporting lines held within the agresso system for the period of the financial year 2016/17, HR are working closely with the Agresso team to correct the system and are confident that this will be
rectified in time for reporting from April. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CH10 No. of unique visits to Museum Pages
(M)

3,183 4,587 3,770 2,968 33,063 11,250 15,000
Bigger is
Better

37,470

The digital web officer is reviewing how web statistics are generated. This KPI will be reviewed at the end of the financial year. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS05 Percentage satisfied with the overall
service provided by the Customer Service
Officer (M)

96.83 % 95.56 % 100.00 % 97.73 % 95.41 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.60 %

We received 44 responses to the survey, 43 responders were satisfied, 1 dissatisfied... 98% 
Source Date 31/12/2017

CS13a % of calls for NBC managed services
into contact centre answered (M)

88.31 % 94.43 % 93.91 % 98.10 % 90.18 % 90.00 % 90.00 %
Bigger is
Better

88.55 %

Customer Services hit 97.8% against the 90% target for December with a total of 9,624 calls received which is a decrease by 2,292 contacts in comparison to November.
Both Environmental Services Calls and Housing Customer Services Calls have seen a decrease in comparison to November due to the holiday season. We are continuing to utilize cross trained staff within the One Stop Shop to
help increase call efficiency and reduce unavailability." 

Source Date 31/12/2017
CS14a % OSS customers with an
appointment seen on time (M)

90.2 % 87.2 % 90.6 % 95.6 % 92.4 % 90.0 % 90.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.5 %

Target has been exceeded due to ongoing improvements in service.
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC01n Total bins/boxes missed in period
(M)

419 342 390 1,570 5,265 1,053 1,404
Smaller is
Better

5,532

During December collection services had to stand down on occasion because of snow and severely inclement weather.  Crews were called in early when the weather improved to rectify. Collections were affected on both the Friday
and Saturday (in December) due to severe icy conditions so although a high figure it is very small compared to the amount of properties that had no service. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced
and the new contract will commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC02 % missed bins corrected within 24hrs
of notification (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 77.07 % 89.97 % 84.00 % 84.00 %
Bigger is
Better

95.21 %

We continue to work hard with the contractor to ensure that missed bins are corrected as soon as possible. The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will commence in June. We will
continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC04 % household waste recycled and
composted (NI192) (M)

44.11 % 41.64 % 38.20 % 32.21 % 45.07 % 49.00 % 49.00 %
Bigger is
Better

42.79 %

The December breakdown remains red as Enterprise and NCC are yet to reconcile and approve the data and give NBC the figures.  The contract for the new service providers Veolia has been announced and the new contract will
commence in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure the delivery of service to required standards continues to the end of the contract.

Source Date 31/12/2017
ESC09 % of Fly Tipping incidents removed
within 2 working days of notification (SO2)
(M)

99.87 % 100.06 % 100.00 % 99.83 % 99.88 % 98.00 % 98.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.01 %

Due to the snow in December there has been a drop in reported fly tipping incidents. Two fly tips were reported as out of target due to needing the 7.5 ton truck which was off the road due to breakdown.
Source Date 31/12/2017

HML01 Total no. of households living in
temporary accommodation (M)

177 203 225 217 217 160 150
Smaller is
Better

143

the series of measures implemented to reduce the pressure on the homelessness service, and improve the living conditions of households in temporary accommodation, has had a positive effect. The number of households residing
in bed and breakfast accommodation has reduced by 31% and the number of households placed outside of the borough has reduced by 57%. Unfortunately, the number of homelessness applications received each month has
remained high, and there is a lack of ''moveon'' opportunities for households who are accepted as homeless, resulting in an increase in the overall number of households residing in temporary accommodation.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML07 Number of households that are
prevented from becoming homeless (M)

58 80 63 43 623 780 1,080
Bigger is
Better

737

While the Housing Options and Advice Team does all it can to prevent homelessness and the need for temporary accommodation, preventing assured shorthold tenants from becoming homeless is extremely difficult as the
majority of landlords seeking possession of their accommodation are determined to sell their accommodation. Due to the buoyancy of the of the private rented sector many tenants are unable to secure alternative affordable
accommodation. In preparation for the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Team is planning to make a series of changes to ensure that all services and organisations, including the Council, intervene
earlier, providing more opportunities to prevent homelessness.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HML09 Number of households for whom a
full homelessness duty is accepted (M)

89 45 56 28 440 450 600
Smaller is
Better

359

By the end of the quarter the backlog of 130 unassessed homelessness applications had been cleared resulting in the number of outstanding homelessness decisions being reduced by two thirds (from 205 to 66) the average case
load of each Homelessness Officer being reduced by 64% (from 50 to 18). The waiting time for an appointment with a homelessness Officer being reduced from 4 weeks to less than 3 days. Out intention is to maintain this position
even though the number of homelessness applications received each month, and the proportionate number of acceptance remains high.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG03 % FOI/EIR cases responded to within
20 working days (M)

95.7 % 91.7 % 89.8 % 98.5 % 95.7 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

93.3 %

FOI and EIR requests continue to increase in the number received. In October six FOIs were responded to after the required deadline. One was insufficient information received from Service Area within timescales and there were 5
late responses recorded for FOIs for NPH, which are included in the figures as they come in centrally to NBC and are then forwarded on. In November there were six late responses, 5 were due to admin errors and one a late
response by NPH. December showed one late FOI response due to NBC error.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG04 % Subject Access requests responded
to within 40 days (M)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing to target.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157a % Major Planning applications
determined in 13 weeks or agreed extension
(M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 %
Bigger is
Better

100.00 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157b % of 'minor' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

97.06 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

NI157c % of 'other' planning apps
determined within 8 weeks or agreed
extension (M)

100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 100.00 % 95.00 % 95.00 %
Bigger is
Better

98.94 %

100% applications determined within agreed time scales.
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP06 % change in serious acquisitive crime
from the baseline (M)

44.81 % 37.00 % 38.00 % 37.80 % 37.80 % 1.63 % 2.17 %
Smaller is
Better

32.19 %

There has been another rise in the reported acquisitive crime. We continue to work with the police to ensure that people who live in areas of high crime are made aware of the projects to support them such as information packs for
victims of crime, and that the police with visit and carry out a target hardening visit, as properties are often revisited. The police continue to work with vulnerable groups.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP22 % Hackney Carriage and private hire
vehicles inspected which comply with
regulations (M)

77.78 % 55.71 % 79.31 % 60.44 % 62.73 % 70.00 % 70.00 %
Bigger is
Better

67.53 %

A significant operation was carried out with DVSA support and a number of vehicle defects were recorded with appropriate enforcement action being taken to follow up those defects. The figures reflect that as expected we found
vehicles that did not meet required standards.

Source Date 31/12/2017
PP53 % Service requests responded to
within 3 working days (M)

83.41 %
Bigger is
Better

85.65 %

This KPI has now been discontinued and a new one showing % of checks carried out within 5 days instigated>
Source Date <<

PP53a % Service Requests responded to
within 5 working days (M)

78.40 83.75 92.43 86.74 25.89 94.00 94.00
Bigger is
Better

?

Shortfall due partly to vacant posts within Warden team and also to changes in operations within the Environmental Protection Team.  The Warden vacancies have now been filled and further changes made to operational
procedures to address the shortfall

Source Date 31/12/2017

HMO01 No. HMOs with Mandatory licence
(Q)

360 352 387 403 403 340 340
Bigger is
Better

362

The number of licenced properties which are three or more storeys and have 5 or more individual occupants is significantly above the YTD figure of 340.This is due to the way in which the enforcement team work proactively to
investigate unlicensed HMO's, taking robust enforcement action and thorough investigation to increase the number of properties with licences.

Source Date 31/12/2017
HMO08 No. of HMOs with an additional
licence (Q)

525 537 500 507 507 550 550
Bigger is
Better

515

The number of properties with an additional licence (those HMO's with 2 storeys) is difficult to predict. We use a range of intelligence resources to record information about properties that are unlicensed. We continue to take robust
action to ensure properties become licenced when required and promote awareness of when there is a need to licence properties.

Source Date 31/12/2017
IG01 % LGO cases responded to within 28
days (excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Bigger is
Better

100.0 %

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

IG02 Av. days to respond to LGO enquiries
(excl. predetermined cases) (Q)

0.00 27.50 28.00 25.00 13.25 0.00 0.00
Smaller is
Better

0.00

Performing within target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

MPE01 No. of new businesses locating on
NWEZ (Q)

7 3 2 5 10 15 25
Bigger is
Better

11

There have only been 5 new business locating to the NWEZ during this quarter, one of them being Lidl for which we only received the figures in December. We continue to actively support the ongoing investment enquiries
through the appointed economic development officer and senior management (enterprise and regeneration.) 

Source Date 31/12/2017
MPE02 No. of new jobs created on NWEZ
(Q)

293 20 5 24 49 200 350
Bigger is
Better

320

The five new businesses that located to the Enterprise Zone created twenty four new jobs. Although this is below target for the quarter, it is hoped that this will increase going forward. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

PP16 % Off licence checks that are
compliant (Q)

20.00 % 33.33 % 0.00 % 50.00 % 35.71 % 85.00 % 85.00 %
Bigger is
Better

49.02 %

Some of the checks are carried out in response to complaints. The breaches of conditions were found to relate generally to absence of relevant paperwork (failure to display signage or lack of copies of the licences). Enforcement
action is taken to address these breaches. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

TCO05n Town Centre footfall (Q) 3,126,019 4,129,997 4,033,739 4,387,058 12,550,794 11,700,000 14,700,000
Bigger is
Better

12,511,555

Footfall for the town centre has exceeded target. 
Source Date 31/12/2017

ESC05 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below an acceptable level  Litter
(NI195a) (4M)

2.83 % 3.33 % 3.17 % 3.13 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.67 %

The indicator is out of target and we continue to work with the contractor to monitor this. It is possible that the inspections were affected by leaves that still had to be cleared from footpaths. The contract for the new service will
commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC06 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Detritus
(NI195b) (4M)

2.17 % 2.66 % 2.17 % 3.02 % 4.00 % 4.00 %
Smaller is
Better

3.83 %

This is a four monthly measure and reports up to November. It is performing over target. There has been efforts to reduce levels of detritus particularly in channels and back lanes as there has been an increase in reports. The
contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC07 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  Graffiti
(NI195c) (4M)

0.67 % 0.65 % 0.50 % 0.49 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

1.00 %

This is a four monthly target and reports up to November. It is performing within targets during the last four months. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017
ESC08 % of Land and Highways assessed
falling below acceptable level  FlyPosting
(NI195d) (4M)

0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 % 2.00 % 2.00 %
Smaller is
Better

0.00 %

This is a four monthly target and the figures up to November are showing that Flyposting reporting within targets. The contract for the new service will commence with Veolia in June. We will continue to work with Enterprise to
ensure services for the public reach agreed targets during the remainder of the contract. 

Source Date 30/11/2017

Delivery of the Northampton Waterside Enterprise Zone
2,174 individuals were registered on the Project Angel site during the construction of the whole development, with 0.7 ha of land being developed equating to 20,860 sq.m. of new floor space including a car park and £46.4
million of public sector capital investment.  This is due to open in September 2018.   327 jobs are reported in Q3 with a further £27,583 M being secured to support the development works.  Five new enterprises have been created
with an estimated 28 new jobs and two enterprises are reported moved on taking five jobs with them.  Project on target.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Greyfriars site
Work continues on the former Greyfriars bus station site. Cabinet have resolved to cease negotiations with the preferred developer and has authorised that disposal options be reassessed. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Restoration and regeneration of Delapre Abbey and Park
Following on from the grant of planning permission for car park development at Delapre Abbey, works commenced on site in September 2017 The car park and CCTV works are now complete. Landscaping will be carried out when
the weather improves. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Business Incentive Scheme and account management to key businesses
The Business Incentive Scheme is a support programme which is funded by £250,000  NBC Funding awarded annually to assist new enterprises to increase  opportunities for new businesses within the Borough of Northampton. 
Three new businesses have been supported within the second quarter creating 4 additional jobs and attracting £15,561 of private sector investment.  So far this year a total of seventeen businesses have been supported with
£120,737 committed grants between AprilDecember 2017.  In total for 2017/2018, 49 jobs created  that leveraged approx. £567,469 of private sector investment.  Three new businesses supported in the third quarter creating 6
additional jobs and attracting £39,956 private sector investment. Project on target. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Four Waterside Development
Four Waterside is the proposed development of premium office space adjacent to the railway station.  Market testing is still continuing with a view to securing prelet office space.   

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development and expansion of the Museum site in Guildhall Road continues.  Planning was approved in November 2017.  Preparing to go to cabinet in March 2018 for Tender approval and then issue to tenderees. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Development of the Cultural Quarter
Development of the Vulcan Works site in Guildhall Road continues.  This is part refurbishment and part new of office space and workshops which will include small units for businesses from the digital and creative sector. During this
quarter Asbestos removal from the site has been completed.  Demolition of the old Amalgamated Tyres site will take place during March 2018. 

Source Date 31/12/2017
Delivery of the Castle Station development
The Castle station development project refers to the development of the land behind the railway station.  There are proposals for mixed used development which will give more parking for communters, some residential and some
commercial use.  Discussions with Network Rail, Department of Transport, the new franchise holder and the Homes & Communities Agency are ongoing. 

Source Date 31/12/2017

Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Outturn Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Quarterly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

4 Monthly Measures

Measure ID & Name Mar 17 Jul 17 Nov 17
Overall perf.
to Date

YTD
Current
Profiled
Target

Annual Target Polarity
Perf. vs. same
time last year

YTD value same
time last year

Annual Measures
Measure ID & Name $Source Date$ $Source Date$ Outturn Target $Source Date$ Polarity

Major Project update

09

643
16



Northampton Borough Council 
Overview and Scrutiny

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

30 April 2018

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2018/2019
 

1 Background

1.1 An annual Overview and Scrutiny work programming event is held. It is 
an opportunity for non-Executive Councillors to consider ideas for the 
Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for the year.

1.2      The event for 2018/2019 was held on Thursday 19 April 2018.

2      Work Programme Event 2018

2.1 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee opened the event 
and explained how the event would work. Directors, together with other 
Officers, provided assistance to Councillors when they considered 
suggested issues for review.

2.2 Cabinet Members informed the event of their priorities and objectives for 
the year 

2.3      Councillors considered:

 The suggestions put forward by the public and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for future Scrutiny 
review

 Cabinet’s priorities
 Councillor’s own ideas

2.4 Over seventy suggestions for future Scrutiny review were put forward by 
members of the public.

17

Agenda Item 9



Northampton Borough Council 
Overview and Scrutiny

3 Suggested Reviews for inclusion on the Overview and Scrutiny 
Work Programme 2018/2019

3.1      In  three Groups, Councillors, supported by a Director or Head of Service, 
put forward suggested issues for inclusion on the Overview and Scrutiny 
work programme 2018/2019.  

3.2      The Work Programme Event agreed that it would recommend  the 
following reviews for 2018/2019:   

Homelessness and Rough Sleepers
  

Purpose: Engaging rough sleepers, making best use of ‘Housing 
First’ and tackling hidden homelessness.
 

Impact of the move of the University of Northampton
 

Purpose:   To review the impact on the town and local areas; 
including student accommodation

 
 Northampton  - Post Unitary
 

Purpose:  To look at Northampton, post Unitary,  giving particular 
consideration to how civic pride and ceremonies can be protected.

 
Working Group    

 
Evaluation of O&S

 
Purpose:  To evaluate the effectiveness of all O&S reviews since 
2003.
 

 Reports to future meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

It is suggested to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that reports will 
be requested to future meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on the following topics:

 Enforcement of adults riding bicycles on pavements and the 
parking of cars on pavements

 The Bus Station
 Revenue from the hiring of rooms at the Guildhall
 Report on tenancies and how housing stock is increasing and 

maintained
 Littering and the cleanliness of the town
 Research - HIMOs

18



Northampton Borough Council 
Overview and Scrutiny

3.2 The event discussed the suggestions proposed by all three groups and 
agreed that the above proposed issues be prioritised by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for inclusion in the O&S Work Programme 
2018/2019.

4         Recommendations

4.1     That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees its Work Programme 
for 2018/2019 from the issues suggested by the recent Work 
Programming event.

4.2 That membership of the three Scrutiny Panels and the Working Group is 
set and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appoints the Chairs of the 
three Scrutiny Panels and the Working Group.

4.3 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee invites other non-
Executives, who are not a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, to join the membership of the Scrutiny Panels.

4.4 That the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee communicates 
details of the Work Programme 2018/2019 with all Councillors, and 
Directors. 

4.5 That the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for 2018/2019 is 
published on the Overview and Scrutiny page of the Council’s webpage.

Brief Author :  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Jamie Lane, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

         20 April 2018

19



O v e r v i e w  &  S c r u t i n y  C o m m i t t e e

S C R U T I N Y  P A N E L  –
C E M E T E R I E S

M a r c h  2 0 1 8 20

Agenda Item 10a



 1 

Index 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword         2 
 
Executive Summary         4 
 
Final Report including recommendations     9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   
 
Appendix B Fees and Charges 
 
Appendix C Core Questions 
 
Appendix D Processes and Procedures 
 
Appendix E Findings – Site Visits 
 
Appendix F Desktop research 
 

21



 2 

Foreword 
 
The objective of this Scrutiny Panel was: 
 
To review cemeteries in the Borough, concentrating on: 

  
 Maintenance and health and safety requirements 
 Amenities and facilities 
 Financial implications 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To gain an understanding  of the maintenance and health and safety 

requirements within the Borough’s cemeteries 
 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 

maintenance and health and safety requirements within the Borough’s 
cemeteries 

 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around amenities 
and facilities within the Borough’s cemeteries 

 
The required outcomes being: 
 

 To ensure that the Borough’s cemeteries are easily accessible, well maintained with 

adequate amenities and facilities available for visitors to use. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel was made up from members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
Councillors Vicky Culbard (Deputy Chair of the Scrutiny Panel), Mohammed Aziz, Alan Bottwood, 
Dennis Meredith and myself (Chair); together with other non-Executive Councillors Arthur 
McCutcheon and Andrew Kilbride. The Scrutiny Panel benefitted from the expertise of the co optee, 
Simon Hollowell of Hollowell’s Funeral Services.   
 
The Scrutiny Panel received both written and spoken evidence from a wide variety of expert 
advisors.  Desktop research was carried out by the Scrutiny Officer.  Representatives undertook site 
visits to varies cemeteries around the borough and also visited the cemetery at Kettering.  All of 
which produced a wealth of information that informed the evidence base of this high profile Scrutiny 
review. 

Following the collation of the evidence, the Scrutiny Panel drew various conclusion and 
recommendations that are contained in the report. 

The Review took place between June 2017 and March 2018.   

I would like to thank all those people acknowledged below who gave up their time and contributed to 
this Review. 

 

Councillor Brian Sargeant 

Chair, Scrutiny Panel 1 - Cemeteries 

22

http://asmemserv:9070/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=3569


 3 

 
 
Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the Review: - 
 

 Councillors Vicky Culbard (Deputy Chair of the Scrutiny Panel), Andrew Kilbride, 
Mohammed Aziz, Alan Bottwood, Dennis Meredith and Arthur McCutcheon who sat 
with me on this Review  

 Simon Hollowell, co-optee, for sitting on this Scrutiny Panel 
 Councillor  Mike Hallam, Cabinet Member for Environment,  Ruth Austen, 

Environmental Services and Licensing Manager for  attending a meeting of the 
Scrutiny Panel and providing information to inform the Review 

 Hollowells Funeral Services, War Graves Commission  for providing a written 
response to the core questions of the Panel 

 Thomas Appleyard, Margaret Pateman, Mrs Coolman and Mr Abdul Ali, St George’s 
Mosque, members of the public, for attending a number of the meetings of the 
Scrutiny Panel, providing written evidence and addressing the Panel 
 

23



 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY    
 
1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was: 

 
To review cemeteries in the Borough, concentrating on: 

  
Maintenance and health and safety requirements 
Amenities and facilities 
Financial implications 
  

                 Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding  of the maintenance and health and 
safety requirements within the Borough’s cemeteries 

 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 
maintenance and health and safety requirements within the 
Borough’s cemeteries 

 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 
amenities and facilities within the Borough’s cemeteries 

 
1.2 The required outcome being: 
 

To ensure that the Borough’s cemeteries are easily accessible, well 

maintained with adequate amenities and facilities available for visitors to 
use. 

 
1.3    The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its work programming event in 

April 2017, agreed to include a review of cemeteries onto its work 

programme for the year. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

commissioned Scrutiny Panel 1 to undertake the review.   An in-depth 
review commenced in June 2017 and concluded in March 2018 

 

1.4 The Scrutiny Panel was made up of Members from the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee:  Councillor Brian Sargeant (Chair); Councillor Vicky 
Culbard (Vice Chair); Councillors Mohammed Aziz, Dennis Meredith and 

Alan Bottwood ; together with other non-Executives Councillors Andrew 

Kilbride and Arthur McCutcheon.  The Scrutiny Panel benefitted from the 

expertise of a co-optee – Simon Hollowell, of Hollowell’s Funeral Services. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

24



 5 

     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 

 
                     Maintenance 
 
6.1.1 The Scrutiny Panel realised that the cutting back of trees, within a 

cemetery, particularly those located near to or on graves, can be a 
sensitive issues.  Initially Officers will start a negotiation process with 
the service user.  However, if the tree is causing damage or is a 
health and safety issue a decision has to be made regarding the 
wider implications.  Each situation is looked at individually.  Should a 
tombstone become unstable and unsafe.  Officers can organise for it 
to be made safe. 

 
6.1.2 From its site visits, the Scrutiny Panel concluded that the cemeteries 

visited were all of a high standard and were well maintained, but 
there was a number of maintenance issues that required attention, as 
detailed in paragraph 4 of this report.   A written report, dated 2017, 
was submitted by the Friends of Dallington Cemetery regarding their 
concerns about Dallington Cemetery. This prompted a site visit by 
the Scrutiny Panel to Dallington Cemetery. Representatives of the 
Scrutiny Panel visited Dallington Cemetery and found it to be of a 
high standard. 

 
6.1.3 The Scrutiny Panel noted that the Council fulfils its role in ensuring 

that health and safety on the cemeteries, is adequately managed by 
the contractor, through audits and inspections carried out by the 
corporate Health and Safety department.  Risk Assessments and 
safe systems of work are in place for all operations that are carried 
out in the cemeteries.  Costs for health and safety management 
within the current environmental services contract are included within 
the overall contract cost.  There is no specific cost for health and 
safety management within cemeteries. 

 
6.1.4 Evidence received had highlighted that in some cemeteries in other 

towns, stand pipes are available and the Scrutiny Panel felt this to be 
a useful alternative to water bottles. 

  
6.1.5 From its evidence gathering, the Scrutiny Panel determined that 

there is a need to ensure that the Policies and Regulations regarding 
cemeteries are adhered to.      A previously issued Regulations 
Guidance Booklet for cemeteries had been useful to both Funeral 
Directors and service users; the re-issue of a similar document would 
be helpful.   

6.1.6 The Scrutiny Panel realised that some of the suggestions put forward 
by the Funeral Director, section 3.3 of this report, mirrored some of 
the potential suggestions proposed by the Scrutiny Panel following its 
recent site visits to cemeteries with the borough of Northampton. 

 

25



 6 

                     Finance 
 
6.1.7 Evidence gathered determined that the costs of the different 

functions within cemetery services are contained in the costs of other 
service areas.  For example, grounds maintenance costs for 
cemeteries is included in the overall cost of grounds maintenance for 
the whole environmental services contract.   

 
6.1.8         There is minimal cost to the Council for the provision of amenities in 

cemeteries; an amenity cost would be the cost of providing water via 
the standpipes.  

 
                    Amenities and facilities                    
 
6.1.9 Duston cemetery was extended in 2016, providing an additional 800 

burial spaces. 
 
6.1.10         Burial plots come with rights for 99 years. 
6.1.11 Currently funerals do not take place in Northampton on Sundays; there 

is a limited service on Saturday in exceptional circumstances. 
 
6.1.12 There are two cemeteries in the borough with chapels.  The Scrutiny 

Panel felt that it would be useful for a key to be available upon request 
for the Chapel at Kingsthorpe and Towcester Road cemeteries.  
Funeral Directors, based in Northampton, could be issued with a key 
to the chapel.  There is a need for the facility of the chapels to be 
promoted. 

 
6.1.13 The Scrutiny Panel noted, from its site visits, that there are no toilets 

for users to use at the cemeteries.  It was realised from the evidence 
provided, that toilets had been provided at Kingsthorpe and Towcester 
Road cemeteries but due to continued vandalism these had been 
closed.  Both cemeteries have chapels but there are no toilets 
associated with the chapels.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that the provision 
of toilets would be very useful for users of cemeteries. 

 
6.1.14         All open cemeteries have standpipes where users can obtain water. 
 
6.1.15        The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be beneficial to the town for a 

feasibility study to be undertaken into the requirement of a new 
crematorium and cemetery. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
  

The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 
The purpose of this Scrutiny Panel was: 

26



 7 

 
To review cemeteries in the Borough, concentrating on: 

  
Maintenance and health and safety requirements 
Amenities and facilities 
Financial implications 

 
Scrutiny Panel 1 recommends to Cabinet :  
 
Maintenance 
 
7.1.1 That a number of maintenance and safety issues are considered for action: 
 

 Some of the large trees located in the town’s cemeteries, 
that have been planted on, or outside the burial plot 
investigated for removal as soon as possible.  

 The water tanks located in the extension at Duston 
Cemetery are plumbed in as soon as practicable.  

 The trees that are obscuring the sign at the entrance to 
Duston Cemetery are pruned as soon as possible.  

 Litter and recycling bins in situ within the cemeteries are 
replaced with modern bins, including recycling bins, 
uniformed throughout all cemeteries, where appropriate. 

 The footpaths and roadways in Kingsthorpe Cemetery that 
are in need of repair, are repaired as soon as possible.  

 The tops of the vaults are made secure. 
 The sign located at the entrance to Dallington Cemetery is 

cleaned and fresh signage placed behind the glass 
cabinet. 

 Signs be erected in cemeteries “ Dogs to be kept on a 
leash at all times”  “Please clean up after your dog.” 

 All signs erected within the borough’s cemeteries are of 
the same style and standard as other Borough signage. 

 
7.1.3 Information regarding the usage and disposal of plastic bottles in 

cemeteries is produced for users.  The information could be included 
within a Regulations Guidance booklet for users of cemeteries.  All 
Funeral Directors are provided with a copy of the booklet.    

 
7.1.4 The Policies and procedures for the usage of cemeteries within the 

borough are tightened up and a zero tolerance approach is applied. 
7.1.5 The Scrutiny Panel welcomed and noted the pristine condition of the 

war graves. 
 
                     Amenities and Facilities 
 
7.1.6 Consideration is given to the issuing to Funeral Directors based in 

the borough of Northampton, key passes, to the chapels in 
Towcester Road and Kingthorpe cemeteries. 

 
7.1.7 The facility of the chapels at Kingsthorpe and Towcester Road 

cemeteries are promoted. 

27



 8 

 
7.1.8  The lack of burial space is addressed and potential new sites are 

investigated, for example, consideration is given to re-categorising 
the borough owned land (currently categorised as commercial land) 
that edges the cemetery at Dallington as further cemetery land. 

 
7.1.9 A feasibility study is undertaken into the requirement of a new large 

crematorium and cemetery for the town that offers the required 
services and facilities. 

 
                     Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
7.1.10          The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring 

regime, reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

28



 

9 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Report of Scrutiny Panel 1- Cemeteries 

1 Purposes 

1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was: 
 

  To review cemeteries in the Borough, concentrating on: 

           Maintenance and health and safety requirements 

Amenities and facilities 

Financial implications 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

  

 To gain an understanding  of the maintenance and health and 
safety requirements within the Borough’s cemeteries 

 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 
maintenance and health and safety requirements within the 
Borough’s cemeteries 

 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 
amenities and facilities within the Borough’s cemeteries 
 

   
1.2  A copy of the scope of the Review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
2  Context and Background     

2.1 Following approval of its work programme for 2017/2018, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2017 commissioned 
Scrutiny Panel 1 to undertake the review – Cemeteries.   An in-depth 
review commenced in June 2017 and concluded in March 2018. 

2.2 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Brian Sargeant 
(Chair); Councillor Vicky Culbard (Deputy Chair);  Councillors 
Mohammed Aziz, Alan Bottwood, Dennis Meredith and Andrew 
Kilbride.  Simon Hollowell, Hollowell’s Funeral Services was co-opted to 
the review. 

2.3 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 
corporate priority  4- Protecting our Environment (a clean and attractive 
town for residents and visitors) 

29



 

10 

 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be 
investigated and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate 

priorities: 

  
  3 Evidence Collection 

3.1 Evidence was collected from a variety of sources: 

 Background data, including: 

   
Presentation to set the scene:   Maintenance and health and 
safety requirements, amenities and facilities, financial 
implications 
Relevant national and local background research papers 
Relevant Legislation and Ecclesiastical Legislation including: 

  
 Cemetery and Crematorium Regulations 

1989 
 Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977 
 Cremation Act 1902 
 Integrated Pollution Control (IPPC) 
 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 
Relevant Statistics: including: 
 

 Burial space – current and projected 
 Population statistics 
 Budgetary information regarding the 

Borough’s Cemeteries 
 Relevant published papers (if applicable) 

 
Best practice external to Northampton 
Internal expert advisors: 
 

 Cabinet Member for Environment, NBC 
 Environmental Protection Officer, NBC (re: 

Public Health Burials)  
 Cabinet Member for Finance, NBC 

  
                     External expert advisors: 
 

 Funeral Directors within the Borough 
 Service users, via Community Groups such as Residents’ 

Associations, Interfaith Group etc. 
 War Graves Commission 
 Representative(s) from local churches, with a current 

graveyard 

30



 

11 

 

 Humanist celebrant 
  

                    Site visit to various cemeteries within the borough 
3.2                Background reports and information 

Presentation to set the scene - Maintenance and health and safety 
requirements, amenities and facilities, financial implications 

3.2.1            Green Burials 

   Green/Woodland Burial Area 

 
A specific area in Kingsthorpe Cemetery has been dedicated for 
green/woodland burials. Families have a choice of graves available, 
but there are only a limited number of graves suitable to have a tree 
planted. 

 
Only cardboard coffins, wicker coffins and bamboo coffins, are to be 
used in this area. No other type of coffin will be permitted. 

 
Each grave is for one burial only and additional graves may be pre-
purchased. 

 
The following items will not be permitted in the green/woodland area: 
pots, tubs, lights, lanterns, fences, pebbles and conifers. 

 
Natural wood markers may be purchased but the plaque must not 
exceed 8x6 inches and must contain text only etched into the wood. No 
border, designs, or images will be permitted. 

 
Temporary markers are permitted however they must conform within 
the overall dimensions of  18 inches in length (with at least one third 
positioned in the ground) equalling  12 inches tall, a plaque can be 
fixed to the marker but must not exceed the dimensions of 8 inches in 
width and 4 inches in height. 

 
The Council/Contractor reserves the right to remove the marker from 
the cemetery if a marker does not conform to the measurements stated 
herein. 
There are approximately 10 burials per annum and have approximately 
57 spaces remaining in the only green burial area at Kingsthorpe.  

 
The purchase price of a plot and the interment costs are the same for a 
green burial as for a normal burial. 

31

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/documents/s53605/Scrutiny%20Cemeteries%20doc.pdf


 

12 

 

 

3.2.2             Fees and Charges 

Fees and charges for burials and cremations from neighbouring 
authorities were provided as evidence: 

 Kettering Borough Council 

 Wellingborough Borough Council 

 Rugby Borough Council 

Complete details at Appendix B. 

3.2.3             Burial Space 

From the information detailing the number of available spaces and the 
average number of burials, it has been estimated that the life span of 
the existing interment space is as follows. 

Towcester Road cemetery           10 years burials – 17 years 
cremated remains 

Kingsthorpe cemetery                   4 years burials – 17 years 
cremated remains 

Dallington cemetery                       2 years burials – 7 years cremated 
remains 

Duston cemetery                           10 years burials – 7 years cremated 
remains in old part of cemetery (As there has been and extension to 
the cemetery in recent years, it is difficult to estimate the annual 
number of burials, as it has been a number of years since there was 
cemetery space available for new burials. 

Weston Favell cemetery               Closed – Only interments into 
existing purchased graves. 

Great Houghton cemetery          Closed – Only interments into family 
owned graves – 5 years cremated remains. 

2.2 There are some areas within existing open cemeteries that have the 
potential to provide extra burial spaces: 

Kingsthorpe cemetery – The “Goat Field” could be extended into, 

subject to a ground survey. Potential for 300 extra plots if the area is 
usable. 

32



 

13 

 

Dallington cemetery – Old allotment land to the side of the cemetery 
could be used to accommodate at least 1,000 extra plots. 

Towcester Road cemetery – The removal of a groups of trees would 
provide extra burial space.  

3.3 Core Questions 

3.3.1 The Scrutiny Panel devised a series of core questions that it put to its 
key witnesses over a cycle of meetings (Copy at Appendix C). 

3.3.2 Key witnesses provided a response to these core questions at the 
meetings of the Scrutiny Panel held on  

3.3.3 Salient points of evidence: 

Cabinet Member for Environment, Northampton Borough Council 

(NBC) 

Maintenance operations for open and closed churchyards and 

cemeteries. 

Trees 

All trees within the churchyard area will be assessed in accordance 
with the Councils tree policy. Any trees that are identified as requiring 
work will be prioritized on a Health and Safety basis, with those 
considered to be a danger being regarded as High Priority. 

Grass Cutting; 

Grass cutting operations will run from approx. Mid-March through until 
late October, dependent on growth rates and weather conditions. The 
grass shall be cut on a fortnightly basis. 

Areas of grass that cannot be mown in their entirety such as around 
obstacles or boundaries will be strimmed to ensure that a “finished” 

visual quality is achieved. 

Any undesirable arisings that are spread to paths, hard surfaces and 
memorials due to the mowing operation will be blown or swept to 
remove and tidy. 

Litter/ Litter Bins; 

Litter picking operations will take place based on the requirements of 
the site. E.g., a site that is deemed to have a “littering” problem will 

receive more visits as would be appropriate.  

33



 

14 

 

Litter bins will be emptied weekly with litter picking normally carried out 
on a weekly basis.  

Litter picking will also take place during any schedule maintenance 
visits i.e., grass cutting or shrub maintenance. 

Shrub Areas; 

Shrub maintenance will occur during the winter period on an annual 
basis. Each visit will include pruning and weed control. 

Remedial pruning will take place during the summer time to ensure 
sight lines, paths and windows are not affected by re-growth. 

Hedge Cutting;  

Hedge maintenance will be carried out to retain the form or shape as 
required. Cutting will be done outside of the recognized bird nesting 
period usually between October and February. All arising will be 
removed from site. 

Footpaths/ Hard standing Areas; 

Will be kept in a litter and detritus free condition Chemical treatments 
will take place as indicated below 

Chemical Use/ Application; 

The use of herbicides will take place annually to control weed species. 
Area to be treated will include hard standings, paths and walk ways. 
Also, if appropriate, applications will also be considered around 
building bases, boundary lines and memorials. 

Tombs/ Memorials; 

Headstones and Memorials will be inspected on a periodic basis to 
assess their stability, in consideration of the Ministry of Justice, 
Managing the safety of Burial Ground Memorial guidelines 2014, and 
the Contract Documentation. 

Memorials will be checked by visual and “hand” means. 

If a memorial is deemed to be of risk it shall be made safe. 

Methods of work 

In order to ensure that the delivery of the service is consistent, and to 
maintain safe working conditions, Enterprise has processes in place 
that the staff should work to. 

34



 

15 

 

Process and procedures are adhered to as at Appendix D. 

Finance 

The costs of the different functions within the service are contained in 
the costs of other service areas. For example, the grounds 
maintenance costs for cemeteries are included in the overall cost of 
grounds maintenance for the whole contract. 

The environmental services contract is one contract covering both 
Daventry District Council and Northampton Borough Council, the cost 
related to each authority area are not separately identified.  

Health and Safety 

The most significant health and safety risks are related to the 
excavation of graves and the stability of headstones and memorials. 

Enterprise has Risk Assessments and safe systems of work in place 
for all operations that are carried out in the cemeteries. Copies of the 
Risk Assessments are kept onsite in the cemetery buildings used by 
the staff.   As an example, a copy of the grave digging risk assessment 
can be seen below. This format is used for all risk assessments 
produced by Enterprise.  The management of health and safety, by the 
contractor, is monitored by the Partnership Unit and the NBC Health 
and Safety Advisor.   All costs related to health and safety management 
within the current contract, are included within the overall contract 
costs. There is no specific cost for health and safety management 
within cemeteries. 

The Council fulfils its role in ensuring that health and safety is 
adequately managed by the contractor, through audits and inspections 
carried out by the Corporate Health and Safety Department.  

Currently, there are minimal costs to the Council for the provision of 
amenities in the cemeteries. If the capital costs of the maintenance of 
items such as footpaths, chapels, walls etc. are accepted as being 
unavoidable costs, the only amenity cost would be the cost of providing 
water via the standpipes. 

Should amenities such as toilets be provided in the cemeteries, not 
only will there be the construction and building maintenance costs, but 
there will also be the costs for staff to replenish consumables (toilet roll, 
soap etc.) and clean the toilets, seven days per week.  There would 
also be the cost of purchasing the consumables, as well as water and 
electricity charges.  

35



 

16 

 

The Council’s main operational cemeteries are easily accessible to the 

public, by car or public transport. All of the cemeteries are accessed via 
main roads and have bus routes that go past them.  However, the 
locations of the cemeteries within the town, does mean that residents in 
Eastern side of the town do not have a cemetery local to them.   The 
current open cemeteries are located in the South (Towcester Road, 
Great Houghton), West (Duston and Dallington) and North 
(Kingsthorpe) of the town.    When looking at the future provision of 
cemetery space, it would be worth looking at the option of a cemetery 
in the East of the town 

There are minimal amenities in the town’s cemeteries. At one time, 
there were toilets in both Kingsthorpe and Towcester Road cemeteries, 
but due to continued vandalism, the toilets had to be closed. There are 
now no toilet facilities in any of the cemeteries.   Towcester Road and 
Kingsthorpe cemeteries both have chapels, which are available for hire 
for funeral services. There are no toilets associated with the chapels.   
All open cemeteries have stand pipes where visitors to the cemetery 
can obtain water. 

Since June 2011, Enterprise Managed Services have managed the 
cemetery service on behalf of Northampton Borough Council. 
Enterprise is responsible for all aspects of the service, including both 
the management of funerals and the maintenance of the cemeteries. 

Cemeteries and burial grounds that the council is responsible for. are 
Kingsthorpe, Towcester Road, Dallington, Duston and Great Houghton 
cemeteries. 

The management of cemeteries complies with the standards set out in 
the Code of Practice as described by the Federation of Burial and 
Cremation Authorities.  

Grave digging and related works are carried out in accordance with the 
Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium Management (ICCM) “Code of 

Safe Working Practices for Cemeteries”. 

Environmental Health and Licensing Manager, NBC 

Under section 46 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) 1984, it is 
the duty of the local authority to cause to be buried or cremated the 
body of any person who has died or been found dead in their area, in 
any case where it appears to the authority that suitable arrangements 
have not been made for the disposal of the body.   The legislation 

36



 

17 

 

empowers the local authority to recover its expenses in arranging a 
funeral from the estate of the deceased person. 

The number of local authority funerals carried out by Northampton 
Borough Council are detailed in the table below. 

Year  Total number 
of local 
authority 
funerals 

Number of 
cremations 

Number of 
burials 

2016/17 11 10 1 
2015/16 11 10 1 
2014/15 17 16 1 
2013/14 29 27 2 
2012/13 28 26 2 

 

The majority of local authority funerals carried out in the last five years 
have been cremations.  In recent year it has been the normal practice.  
The costs of burials and cremations are broadly similar and a 
cremation allows for a service to take place in the chapel at the 
crematorium rather than at the graveside (which would be the case for 
burials).   

The burials that have taken place have been at the request of the 
Coroner, in cases where the deceased had already purchased a burial 
plot, where the deceased had religious beliefs that did not allow 
crematorium or where practical factors such as the size of the 
deceased meant that cremation was not possible. 

The arrangement of local authority funerals is carried out by a funeral 
director under contract to the local authority.  This contract has recently 
been re-let and it is possible that there may be a change in the 
proportion of burials and cremations in future. 

Local authority funerals are carried out for a range of reasons.  Some 
of the deceased have no immediate family members or friends who are 
able to carry out the funerals.  In some situations estrangements within 
families mean that no one is willing to arrange a funeral.  Sometimes 
family members do not have sufficient funds to pay the funeral 
directors, although social fund payments are available to assist with 
funeral costs, they do not cover the full cost. 

Service Users 

Four members of the public submitted either written or verbal evidence: 

37



 

18 

 

A written report, dated 2016, was provided regarding findings at that 
time regarding Kingsthorpe Cemetery.  A further report was submitted 
dated 2018.  A written report, dated 2017, was submitted regarding 
concerns about Dallington Cemetery.  

Key points: 

 All cemeteries would benefit from more colour.  

 Planting extra flowers could be carried out with other 
partnerships or the pay back scheme.   

 Cemeteries should be locked in the silent hours.  He referred to 
bins commenting that one bin does not fit all.   

 Bins located in the cemeteries are not fit for purpose, the 
undamaged wire bins with minimum cost can be modified.  Euro 
bins could be a possible be the solution in identified areas.   

 Bins could be emptying bins on a Friday may ensure they have 
space for the weekend and holidays should be taken into 
account. 

 The cemetery rules require amending. They should also reflect 
the many different faiths and customs using the facilities.   

 A large notice board could be erected at all entrances to the 
cemeteries with easy to read bullet points may help.   

 Picnics are taking place in the cemetery this is common practice 
in many Asian and eastern European countries. Signed bins for 
food may be required.   

 Trees directly affect the lives of approximately 65 of the 82 
properties boarding Towcester Road cemetery and will affect the 
remainder as the recently planted trees grow.  They restrict light 
and sun this is not just from overhanging trees.  There is a 
problem with clay and roots.  A quantity of trees are less then 
60cm from the boundaries.  Newly planted trees are less than 
1.6 metres from gardens. Some trees shed their leaves in the 
winter and sticky sap in the summer which damages their 
property.  

 Dogs have been observed running in the cemetery and dog 
fouling; there is a need for signage.   

 Plastic milk bottles are an issue, there is a need for dedicated 
water containers at each point with signs requesting it is 
returned.    

 A small quantity of benches along with grassed areas have 
become unauthorised memorials.   

38



 

19 

 

 There are concern regarding pebbles and shingle in the 
cemetery and only small bushes and shrubs should be permitted 
to be planted. 

 The children’s areas required attention. 
 Fly tipping had stopped.  
 Dallington cemetery is not of a high standard or it is well 

maintained. The whole cemetery has been deemed by several 
people they have spoken to as a dark and dismal place due to 
the number of trees and shrubs that have become extremely 
overgrown and need attention. Boundary fences need to be 
repaired in several places as the gaps only serve to provide 
access for people who have no interest in the Cemetery.  

 Recently, an adult on a scrambling bike was sighted near the 
grave plots overlooking Kings Heath where access can be 
gained through the shrubs.  

 Litter bins are constantly  overflowing in Dallington Cemetery, 
and many of the wire bins are not fit for purpose as they are bent 
out of shape.   

 The water tanks are in working order, but there are only three in 
the whole of the cemetery and none in the lower part which 
overlooks Kings Heath, making it difficult for relatives to fetch 
and carry water to graves in these areas.    

 There are only 3 dog bins in situ. Several  dog walkers use the 
cemetery.  The 3 roundabouts on the main avenue are in poor 
condition, especially the one at the end, with traffic cones 
permanently sited there. This is a place where funeral cortege’s 
park, whilst burials take place and is not a pleasant place for 
mourners to wait in any case as it is very dark and dreary due to 
the overgrown trees.  

 Whenever a grave is excavated for a burial, the lack of care and 
attention is unacceptable as mud and other debris is left on the 
paths and grass prior to and after the burial has taken place 
which is disrespectful to the mourners. 

 The staff toilets located in Dallington Cemetery are of a poor 
condition. 

 The water tanks are often full of plastic bottles that often blow 
out of the tanks across the cemetery.   

 The verges are muddy and driving around the cemetery is 
dangerous.   

 The bins are in the wrong place, wrong area and of wrong type.   
 

There is a need for a seven day cemetery service.  The Muslim 
community bury their deceased as soon as possible.  There needs to 
be toilet and washing facilities at cemeteries.  There is a shortage of 
burial space and there is concern what will happen when it is full.  The 
specific area at Towcester Road cemetery for Muslim burials is getting 
filled up very quickly; there is a need for extra land for cemetery 
space.    

39



 

20 

 

 
Hollowell Funeral Services 

 

Vehicular access is sufficient to allow easy access, turning and exit of 
all cemeteries. However, there is insufficient parking in all of the 
cemeteries for following funeral cars and other visitors without 
sometimes regrettably, using the lawn. 

The road surface at all cemeteries, but urgently at Towcester Road 
(Hardingstone), in places needs improvement where it has degraded. 
Solution – resurface. 

Occasionally at Dallington (Harlestone Road) overhanging trees and 
branches and unkept trees that line the drive prove obstructive.  This 
can make turning vehicles at the end of the cemetery drive difficult.  

Parking for clients’ cars can be difficult at Kingsthorpe cemetery in the 

area where the mausoleum is situated. The road is narrow and parked 
cars make it difficult to pass without driving on the lawn. The road 
leaves little space for a small car park or passing space. 

In all cemeteries, access when shouldering a coffin along pre-existing 
paths, can be hampered by low hanging boughs that threaten to whip 
the flowers from the coffin.  

There needs to be better and sustained gardening/grounds keeping. 

Some of the tarmacked paths become very slippery when wet. There 
needs to be the application/addition of a non-slip compound to existing 
tarmac. Alternatively, new non-slip pathways. In either choice, proper 
signage displayed to mitigate risk. 

From time to time the height of the grass is such that access to graves 
becomes unsafe if not using a pre-existing path. It is not always 
enough to have the grass cut only at the site of the grave. Mourners 
often use a funeral as an opportunity to seek out other family graves.   

The chapel at Kingsthorpe is ideal and well-kept and has to date 
served its purpose adequately. 

The chapel at Towcester Road (Hardingstone) by comparison is dark 
and dreary and not used as much.  The Chapel requires brightening 
up. 

It is difficult to ascertain many people know about these chapels.  They 
could be promoted more. 

40



 

21 

 

The water troughs and rubbish bins are adequately scattered 
throughout all of the cemeteries and are widely used. 

Encourage recycling   

The notice boards in all cemeteries need some work, not just 
aesthetically but also the content. 

The cost to install a toilet is appreciated that it may be beyond any 
allocated budget, but there are a lot of visitors to the cemeteries, and 
this would be worthy of consideration. 

Signage within the cemetery whilst adequate can be abused and from 
time to time.     

Reassurance was once delivered in the form of a cemetery 
superintendent or similar who would not only be present but would also 
show exactly where the grave was located, be on hand during the 
interment and be able to address any problem that may arise. If any 
issue prevails during a service apart from the gravediggers there is 
nobody to approach: It would be beneficial to reinstate an ‘on the 
ground’ superintendent or similar. 

Grave size - Currently the only grave size that appears to be available 
is large. this is because under new policy the graves are shored-up. A 
large grave space makes it very difficult to safely position a coffin over 
the grave without overstretching. 

The Commonwealth War Graves Commission 

The Commonwealth War Graves Commission (CWGC) honours the 
1.7 million men and women of the Commonwealth forces who died in 
the First and Second World Wars, and ensures they will never be 
forgotten.  

Its work commemorates the war dead, from building and maintaining 
our cemeteries and memorials at 23,000 locations in more than 150 
countries to preservation of our extensive records and archives. Our 
values and aims, laid out in 1917, are as relevant now as they were 
100 years ago.  

The Commission's principles are: 

 Each of the dead should be commemorated by name on the 
headstone or memorial 

 Headstones and memorials should be permanent 

41



 

22 

 

 Headstones should be uniform 

 There should be no distinction made on account of military or 
civil rank, race or creed 

Since its establishment by Royal Charter it has constructed 2,500 war 
cemeteries and plots, erected headstones over graves and where the 
remains are missing, inscribed the names of the dead on permanent 
memorials. More than a million burials are now commemorated at 
military and civil sites in some 150 countries. 

Within the United Kingdom there are over 300,000 Commonwealth 
burials and commemorations across some 12,500 locations.  

3.5                 Site Visits 

3.5.1 Site visits took place to various cemeteries around the borough and to 
a cemetery at Kettering.   

 
3.5.2             Key findings: 

 

The cemeteries visited were all of a high standard and were well 
maintained.  

The paths and edges in Towcester Road Cemetery were pristine.  

One of the litter bins, as located in Towcester Road Cemetery requires 
replacing.  

Some of the graves located in Towcester Road Cemetery had trees 
planted on them.  

Some of the trees in situ in Towcester Road Cemetery need to be 
removed as soon as possible. 

It would be useful for consideration to be given to the issuing of key 
passes to the Chapel in Towcester Road Cemetery. 

It would be useful for consideration to be given to the water tanks 
located in the extension at Duston Cemetery to be plumbed in as soon 
as practicable. 

The trees that are obscuring the sign at the entrance to Duston 
Cemetery need to be pruned as soon as possible. 

42

https://www.cwgc.org/-/media/files/cwgc/about-us/royal_charter_of_incorporation.ashx?la=en&hash=5F1E3AA4104F8862F119CDE28A5E810F55364433


 

23 

 

Some of the footpaths and road way in Kingsthorpe Cemetery is in 
need of repair.  

Signage at Kettering Crematorium and Cemetery is clear and well 
worded signed.  

Dallington Cemetery is of a high standard and is well maintained.  

There are a number of trees in situ, either on, or between graves, in 
Dallington cemetery that require removing. 

The sign located at the entrance to Dallington Cemetery requires 
cleaning and new signage inserted into the glass cabinet. 

The commercial land, owned by Northampton Borough Council, that 
edges Dallington Cemetery could be re-categorised as further cemetery 
land 

3.5.3            Appendix E provides comprehensive findings from the site visits. 

 

4.  Desktop Research 

4.1.1  As part of its evidence gathering process for this review, desktop 
research was undertaken regarding best practice elsewhere. 

4.1.2 Appendix F provides comprehensive findings from the desktop 
research exercise. 

 

 

 

5                   Equality Impact Assessment 

5.1 Overview and Scrutiny ensures that it adheres to the Council’s statutory 

duty to provide the public with access to Scrutiny reports, briefing 
notes, agendas, minutes and other such documentation.  Meetings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Panels are 
widely publicised, i.e. on the Council’s website, copies issued to the 

local media and paper copies are made available in the Council’s One 

Stop Shop and local libraries. 

5.2 The Scrutiny Panel was mindful of the eight protected characteristics 
when undertaking this scrutiny activity so that any recommendations 
that it made could identify potential positive and negative impacts on 

43



 

24 

 

any particular sector of the community.  This was borne in mind as the 
Scrutiny Panel progressed with the review and evidence gathered. 

5.3              So that the Scrutiny Panel obtains a wide range of views, a number of 
key witnesses provided evidence as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

5.4              Details  of the Equality Impact Assessment undertaken can be located 
on the Overview and Scrutiny webpage. 

 

6 

 

Conclusions and Key Findings 

 

6.1            After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were 
drawn: 

 Maintenance 

6.1.1 The Scrutiny Panel realised that the cutting back of trees, within a 
cemetery, particularly those located near to or on graves, can be a 
sensitive issues.  Initially Officers will start a negotiation process with 
the service user.  However, if the tree is causing damage or is a health 
and safety issue a decision has to be made regarding the wider 
implications.  Each situation is looked at individually.  Should a 
tombstone become unstable and unsafe.  Officers can organise for it to 
be made safe. 

 
6.1.2 From its site visits, the Scrutiny Panel concluded that the cemeteries 

visited were all of a high standard and were well maintained, but there 
was a number of maintenance issues that required attention, as 
detailed in paragraph 4 of this report.   A written report, dated 2017, 
was submitted by the Friends of Dallington Cemetery regarding their 
concerns about Dallington Cemetery. This prompted a site visit by the 
Scrutiny Panel to Dallington Cemetery. Representatives of the Scrutiny 
Panel visited Dallington Cemetery and found it to be of a high standard. 

 
6.1.3 The Scrutiny Panel noted that the Council fulfils its role in ensuring that 

health and safety on the cemeteries, is adequately managed by the 
contractor, through audits and inspections carried out by the corporate 
Health and Safety department.  Risk Assessments and safe systems of 
work are in place for all operations that are carried out in the 
cemeteries.  Costs for health and safety management within the current 
environmental services contract are included within the overall contract 
cost.  There is no specific cost for health and safety management within 
cemeteries. 

 

44

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/11


 

25 

 

6.1.4 Evidence received had highlighted that in some cemeteries in other 
towns, stand pipes are available and the Scrutiny Panel felt this to be a 
useful alternative to water bottles. 

  
6.1.5 From its evidence gathering, the Scrutiny Panel determined that there 

is a need to ensure that the Policies and Regulations regarding 
cemeteries are adhered to.      A previously issued Regulations 
Guidance Booklet for cemeteries had been useful to both Funeral 
Directors and service users; the re-issue of a similar document would 
be helpful.   

6.1.6 The Scrutiny Panel realised that some of the suggestions put forward 
by the Funeral Director, section 3.3 of this report, mirrored some of the 
potential suggestions proposed by the Scrutiny Panel following its 
recent site visits to cemeteries with the borough of Northampton. 

 
                     Finance 
 
6.1.7 Evidence gathered determined that the costs of the different functions 

within cemetery services are contained in the costs of other service 
areas.  For example, grounds maintenance costs for cemeteries is 
included in the overall cost of grounds maintenance for the whole 
environmental services contract.   

 
6.1.8       There is minimal cost to the Council for the provision of amenities in 

cemeteries; an amenity cost would be the cost of providing water via 
the standpipes.  

 
                    Amenities and facilities                    
 
6.1.9 Duston cemetery was extended in 2016, providing an additional 800 

burial spaces. 

6.1.10         Burial plots come with rights for 99 years. 
6.1.11 Currently funerals do not take place in Northampton on Sundays; there 

is a limited service on Saturday in exceptional circumstances. 
 
6.1.12 There are two cemeteries in the borough with chapels.  The Scrutiny 

Panel felt that it would be useful for a key to be available upon request 
for the Chapel at Kingsthorpe and Towcester Road cemeteries.  Funeral 
Directors, based in Northampton, could be issued with a key to the 
chapel.  There is a need for the facility of the chapels to be promoted. 

 
6.1.13 The Scrutiny Panel noted, from its site visits, that there are no toilets for 

users to use at the cemeteries.  It was realised from the evidence 
provided, that toilets had been provided at Kingsthorpe and Towcester 
Road cemeteries but due to continued vandalism these had been 

45



 

26 

 

closed.  Both cemeteries have chapels but there are no toilets 
associated with the chapels.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that the provision of 
toilets would be very useful for users of cemeteries. 

 
6.1.14        All open cemeteries have standpipes where users can obtain water. 
 
6.1.15       The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be beneficial to the town for a 

feasibility study to be undertaken into the requirement of a new 
crematorium and cemetery.  

 
7 Recommendations 

 

7.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to review cemeteries in the Borough, 
concentrating on: 

Maintenance and health and safety requirements  

Amenities and facilities  

Financial implications 

Key Lines of Enquiry  

 To gain an understanding of the maintenance and health and safety 
requirements within the Borough’s cemeteries   

 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 
maintenance and health and safety requirements within the Borough’s 

cemeteries   

 To gain an understanding of the financial implications around amenities 
and facilities within the Borough’s cemeteries 

 

 Scrutiny Panel 1 therefore recommends to Cabinet that: 

           Maintenance 

7.1.1 That a number of maintenance and safety issues are considered for action: 

Some of the large trees located in the town’s cemeteries, that have 

been planted on, or outside the burial plot investigated for removal 
as soon as possible.  

The water tanks located in the extension at Duston Cemetery are 
plumbed in as soon as practicable.  

46



 

27 

 

The trees that are obscuring the sign at the entrance to Duston 
Cemetery are pruned as soon as possible.  

Litter and recycling bins in situ within the cemeteries are replaced 
with modern bins, including recycling bins, uniformed throughout all 
cemeteries, where appropriate. 

The footpaths and roadways in Kingsthorpe Cemetery that are in 
need of repair, are repaired as soon as possible.  

The tops of the vaults are made secure. 

The sign located at the entrance to Dallington Cemetery is cleaned 
and fresh signage placed behind the glass cabinet. 

Signs be erected in cemeteries “ Dogs to be kept on a leash at all 
times”  “Please clean up after your dog.” 

All signs erected within the borough’s cemeteries are of the same 

style and standard as other Borough signage. 

7.1.3 Information regarding the usage and disposal of plastic bottles in 
cemeteries is produced for users.  The information could be included 
within a Regulations Guidance booklet for users of cemeteries.  All 
Funeral Directors are provided with a copy of the booklet.    

 

7.1.4 The Policies and procedures for the usage of cemeteries within the 
borough are tightened up and a zero tolerance approach is applied. 

7.1.5 The Scrutiny Panel welcomed and noted the pristine condition of the 
war graves. 

                     Amenities and Facilities 

7.1.6 Consideration is given to the issuing to Funeral Directors based in the 
borough of Northampton, key passes, to the chapels in Towcester 
Road and Kingthorpe cemeteries. 

7.1.7 The facility of the chapels at Kingsthorpe and Towcester Road 
cemeteries are promoted. 

7.1.8  The lack of burial space is addressed and potential new sites are 
investigated, for example, consideration is given to re-categorising the 
borough owned land (currently categorised as commercial land) that 
edges the cemetery at Dallington as further cemetery land. 

47



 

28 

 

7.1.9 A feasibility study is undertaken into the requirement of a new large 
crematorium and cemetery for the town that offers the required services 
and facilities. 

 

                     Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7.1.10          The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring 
regime, reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

48



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49



 1 

 
  

 Appendix A 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
SCRUTINY PANEL 1 -CEMETERIES 

 
1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 
  To review cemeteries in the Borough, concentrating on: 

 
Maintenance and health and safety requirements 
Amenities and facilities 
Financial implications 
 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

   To gain an understanding  of the maintenance and health and safety 
requirements within the Borough’s cemeteries 

   To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 
maintenance and health and safety requirements within the Borough’s 

cemeteries 
  To gain an understanding of the financial implications around 

amenities and facilities within the Borough’s cemeteries 
 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

   To ensure that the Borough’s cemeteries are easily accessible, well 

maintained with adequate amenities and facilities available for visitors 
to use. 

 
3. Information Required  

 
 Background data   
 Background reports 
 Best practice data 
 Desktop research 
 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 
 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

50



 2 

 Site visits (if applicable) 
 
4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 
 
Presentation to set the scene:   Maintenance and health and 
safety requirements, amenities and facilities, financial 
implications 
 Relevant national and local background research papers 
 Relevant Legislation and Ecclesiastical Legislation 

including: 
  
Cemetery and Crematorium Regulations 1989 
Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977  

  Cremation Act 1902 
  Integrated Pollution Control (IPPC) 
  Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 Statistics: including: 
 Burial space – current and projected 
 Population statistics 
Budgetary information regarding the Borough’s 

Cemeteries 
 Relevant published papers (if applicable)  

 Best practice external to Northampton 
 Internal expert advisors: 

 Cabinet Member for Environment, NBC 
 Environmental Protection Officer, NBC (re: Public Health 

Burials)   
 Cabinet Member for Finance, NBC 

 
 External expert advisors: 

 Funeral Directors within the Borough 
 Service users, via Community Groups such as Residents’ 

Associations, Interfaith Group etc. 
 War Graves Commission 
 Representative(s) from local churches, with a current 

graveyard 
 Humanist celebrant 

 
 Site visit to various cemeteries within the borough  

 
 

51



 3 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 
 Desktop research 
 Site visits  
 Officer reports 
 Presentations 
 Examples of best practice 
 Witness Evidence:- 
 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 
 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

  

 Local Funeral Director to be approached to be a co optee to this 
Review. 
 

7.  Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 
scope of the Review 

 
8.   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

June 2017 – March 2018 
 

 22 June 2016                        - Scoping meeting 
  6  July                                  - Evidence gathering 
  27    September                   - Evidence gathering 
  9   November                       - Evidence gathering 
 8  January 2018                    - Evidence gathering 
 15 March                               - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 
 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 
 

9. Responsible Officers 
 

Lead Officer   Julie Seddon, Director of Environment and  Culture  
Co-ordinator  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

52



 4 

10. Resources and Budgets 
 

Julie Seddon, Director of Environment and Culture, to provide internal advice. 
 
 
 
11. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2018.  Presented by the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 
 

12. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months (approximately 
November/December 2018)  

53



 

Appendix B 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 – CEMETERIES 

9 NOVEMBER 2017 

BRIEFING NOTE: FEES AND CHARGES –  

NEIGHBOURING AUTHORITIES 

1               KETTERING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

1.1              Information regarding fees and charges for burials and cremations 
has been gathered from Kettering Borough Council and is detailed 
below: 

                         Schedule of Charges  

                        As from 1st April 2017 

Crematorium Fees 

 

£ £ 2017/2018 

Cremation Fee 

Medical Referee 

Environmental Fee 

 

Total Crematorium Fee 

Crematorium Music Fee (Inc VAT) 

(Invoiced directly from Crematorium Music Ltd) 

Total Fee For Cremation Inc Crematorium Music 

Fee 

 

Saturday Cremation Fee (All Services) 

Medical Referee 

598.00 

  18.00 

120.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

902.00 

18.00 

 

 

 

 

736.00 

75.00 

 

811.00 

 

 

 

 

Over 18’s only 

Over 18’s only 

Over 18’s only 

 

54



Environmental Fee 

 

Total Crematorium Fee 

Crematorium Music Fee (inc VAT) 

(Invoiced directly from Crematorium Music Ltd) 

Total Fee For Cremation Inc Crematorium Music 

Fee 

 

Pre-Paid Cremation Plan (music not included)         

Medical Referee 

Environmental Fee      

 

Total for Pre-paid cremation Plan                                                          

 

120.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

635.00 

18.00 

120.00 

 

 

1040.00 

75.00 

 

1115.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

773.00 

Ancillary Charges 

 

   

Scatter No Witness (free of charge) 

Scatter With Witness 

Scatter cremated remains from away 

Ashes on hold – per month or part thereof 

Use of Additional Crematorium Chapel Time 

(Excluding Crematorium Music Fee) 

 00.00 

32.00 

40.00 

50.00 

130.00 

 

 

 

Mausoleum Charges 

 

  

 £ 

 

Mausoleum Chamber (Subject to availability, contact 
Bereavement Services for details) 

Dimensions:- 2m long x .903m wide x .690m high 

 5000.00

  

 

Cemetery Fees 

 

  2017/2018 

55



Purchase of Exclusive Right of Burial 

 

Baby or Childs Grave 

(6’ x 3’ x 4’) 

 

Single Depth Adult Grave 

(9’ x 4’ x 4’6”) 

 

Double Depth Adult Grave 

(9’ x 4’ x 6’3”) 

 

Cremated Remains Plot 

(4’ x 3’ x 2’6”) 

 

 

Right to construct a brick chamber or vault 

(additional to interment fee and excluding building 
works) 

 

Use of Crematorium Chapel 

(Excluding Organists Fee) 

 

 

Re-Assignment of the Exclusive Right of Burial 

 

 

 

 

Interment Fee 

 

 

Interment Fee 

 

 

Interment Fee 

 

 

Interment Fee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

320.00 

185.00 

 

595.00 

520.00 

 

960.00 

635.00 

 

525.00 

240.00 

 

 

400.00 

 

 

 

130.00 

 

50.00 

 

 

99 years 

 

 

99 years 

 

 

99 years 

 

 

99 years 

 

 

 

Green Burial – Rothwell Cemetery Only 

 

Single Graves Only 

 

 

Fee 

 

 

 

960.00 

 

 

Reservations 

 

 £  

56



(Excluding Rothwell Road) 

 

Reserving 1 plot only at the time of interment –  

(Excluding Exclusive Right) – relates to Broughton, 
Rothwell & Desborough Only – all other cemeteries 
will incur the reservation fee. 

 

All other reservations – (Pre purchase excluding 
Exclusive Right of Burial) 

  

 

As Above 

 

 

 

 

1935.00 

 

Fees for the Right to Place a memorial or 

headstone on a grave where the Exclusive Right 

of Burial has been purchased – From 1st April 

2015. 

 

   

2017/2018 

Additional inscription  70.00 

 

 

Fees for the Right to Place a memorial or 

headstone on a grave where the Exclusive Right 

of Burial has been purchased – Before 1st April 

2015 

 

   

 

Headstone (or footstone) including 1st inscription 

 

Full kerb memorial (each grave space) including 1st 
inscription 

 

Additional inscription 

 

 

 

 

 

125.00 

 

215.00 

 

 

70.00 

 

 

Exhumation 

 

   

Cost of exhumation of a full grave space in addition 
to the cost of opening the grave. 

Cost of exhumation of a cremated remains plot in 

 2045.00 

 

 

57



addition to the cost of opening the grave. 

 

395.00 

2 NOTE FOR BURIAL FEES 

3 Any person in permanent residence within the Borough of Kettering at the time of death may be 
buried in a cemetery of the Authority at the basic fees determined in the Authority’s fees and 

charges applicable at that time. 

4 Any person not in permanent residence within the Borough at the time of death but who had been 
resident and been required to move out of the area for circumstances beyond their control e.g. 
health care issues, armed forces etc. – subject to evidence of previous residency and reason for 
relocation may be buried in a cemetery of the Authority at the basic fees determined in the 
Authority’s fees and charges. 

5 Any person not in permanent residence within the Borough at the time of death and not meeting the 
requirements of the paragraph above may be buried in a cemetery of the Authority at the basic fees 
determined in the Authority’s fees and charges multiplied by 4. 

6 Where the deceased is a child (under 18) then the above paragraphs apply and evidence of the 
parent’s residency may be required. 

7 Note: Details of the person for whom an exclusive right of burial is being purchased in advance will 

be required and residency checks may be carried out. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
58



 

3         WELLINGBOROUGH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

3.1     Fees and charges 2016/2017: 

 59



 

 

4      RUGBY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

4.1   Current fees and charges for Rainsbrook Crematorium: 

Cremation Fees 

Prices inclusive of organist fee, scattering fee and Environmental Levy 

Child - up to and including 15 years of age: no charge 

Adult - service (9am to 4.45pm): £795 

Adult - no service (from 8.15am): £550 

Cremation of body parts: price on application 

Weekend Surcharge 

Saturday (10am to 12 noon, strict rotation): £500 
Saturday scattering of cremated remains (AM only): £75 
Saturday interment of cremated remains (AM only): £150 

Cremation Sundry Fees and Charges 

Scattering of ashes when cremation has taken place elsewhere: £25 

Supply of casket (with name plate): from £60 

Forwarding cremated remains by post (inland): price on application 

Audio recording of services: £50 

DVD recording of service: £60 
Subsequent copies: £40 

Webcast: £75 

60



Use of Rainsbrook Ceremony Room only (no cremation): £200 

Bearer's fee (advance booking only): £20 

Memorial flowers: £40 (medium) or £60 (large) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Brief Author: Tracy Tiff, Overview and Scrutiny Officer        

61



Date:  2 October 2017 

62



1 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

Appendix C 

 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 - CEMETERIES 

CORE QUESTIONS  – EXPERT ADVISORS 

 
The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review: Cemeteries 
 
To review cemeteries in the Borough, concentrating on: 

 

Maintenance and health and safety requirements 

Amenities and facilities 

Financial implications 

Outcomes required: 
 

   To ensure that the Borough’s cemeteries are easily accessible, well 

maintained with adequate amenities and facilities available for visitors to use. 
 
CORE QUESTIONS: 
 

A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base of the 
Scrutiny Panel:  

 

a. Please can you provide details of the maintenance regime and the 
financial implication of maintenance of the Borough’s cemeteries, please 

explain. 

 

63



2 

 

b. Please can you provide details of the health and safety requirements and 
the financial implications within the Borough’s cemeteries.    Please 
explain. 

c. Please can you provide details of the financial implications around 
amenities and facilities within the Borough’s cemeteries.  Please explain. 

d.  In your opinion, are the Borough’s cemeteries easily accessible?  

Please provide details.   If not, please can you provide suggestions for 
improvement. 

e. Are you aware of the location and the provision of amenities in the 
Borough’s cemeteries,  please provide details. 

f. Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation to 
the Borough’s cemeteries? 

64



Appendix D 
 

Maintenance operations for open and closed churchyards and 
cemeteries. 
 
Trees; 
All trees within the churchyard area will be assessed in accordance with the councils 
tree policy. Any trees that are identified as requiring work will be prioritized on a Health 
and Safety basis, with those considered to be a danger being regarded as High Priority. 
 
Grass Cutting; 
Grass cutting operations will run from approx. Mid-March through until late October, 
dependent on growth rates and weather conditions. The grass shall be cut on a 
fortnightly basis. 
 
Areas of grass that cannot be mown in their entirety such as around obstacles or 
boundaries will be strimmed to ensure that a “finished” visual quality is achieved. 
Any undesirable arisings that are spread to paths, hard surfaces and memorials due to 
the mowing operation will be blown or swept to remove and tidy. 
 
Litter/ Litter Bins; 
Litter picking operations will take place based on the requirements of the site. E.g., a 
site that is deemed to have a “littering” problem will receive more visits as would be 
appropriate.  
Litter bins will be emptied weekly with litter picking normally carried out on a weekly 
basis.  
Litter picking will also take place during any schedule maintenance visits i.e., grass 
cutting or shrub maintenance. 
 
Shrub Areas; 
Shrub maintenance will occur during the winter period on an annual basis. Each visit will 
include pruning and weed control. 
Remedial pruning will take place during the summer time to ensure sight lines, paths 
and windows are not affected by re-growth. 
 
Hedge Cutting;  
Hedge maintenance will be carried out to retain the form or shape as required. Cutting 
will be done outside of the recognized bird nesting period usually between October and 
February. All arising will be removed from site. 
 
 
 

65



Footpaths/ Hard standing Areas; 
Will be kept in a litter and detritus free condition Chemical treatments will take place as 
indicated below 
 
Chemical Use/ Application; 
The use of herbicides will take place annually to control weed species. Area to be 
treated will include hard standings, paths and walk ways. Also, if appropriate, 
applications will also be considered around building bases, boundary lines and 
memorials. 
 
Tombs/ Memorials; 
Headstones and Memorials will be inspected on a periodic basis to assess their stability, 
in consideration of the Ministry of Justice, Managing the safety of Burial Ground 
Memorial guidelines 2014, and the Contract Documentation. 
Memorials will be checked by visual and “hand” means. 
If a memorial is deemed to be of risk it shall be made safe. 

 
Methods of work 
 
In order to ensure that the delivery of the service is consistent, and to maintain safe 
working conditions, Enterprise has processes in place that the staff should work to. 
 

 Excavation of Graves 

 The excavation of graves shall be undertaken using the following process and 
procedures; - 

 Upon receipt of the ‘Instruction for Preparation of Burial’, the Cemetery 
Management Team shall undertake relevant checks, which relate to names and 
location for interment, with any anomalies or concerns to be immediately 
relayed to the relevant Client Officer where necessary. 

 Working in Partnership with the Client Officer, the relevant grave shall be 
marked out in full, ready for excavation, with all due steps taken to ensure 
spacing and alignment are precise. Care shall also be taken to ensure that 
sufficient additional measurement is allowed for the inclusion of grave shoring. 

 Prior to the commencement of any works a Site Specific Risk Assessment shall be 
produced. As well as measuring the risk to carrying out the excavation, 
consideration shall also be given to the access to the grave, the safe method of 
operation, the positioning of the soil box, the creation of the burial platform and 
of course the safety of the public. Consideration shall also be given as to PPE, 
which shall include safety footwear, hard hats, gloves, overalls and where a 
mechanical digger is in operation – ear defenders.  

 Where the excavation is adjacent to memorials, immediate steps must be taken 
to prevent damage to those memorials. In certain cases, this may mean seeking 
approval to dismantle a memorial; in such circumstances, this shall only be 

66



undertaken with the express approval of the Client officer and arrangements 
must be made for the prompt return and safe repositioning by a qualified 
mason. 

 Prior to the commencement of the excavation, all tools and equipment must be 
present and available for use. Furthermore, wherever shoring is in use it shall 
have been checked on a weekly frequency as to its condition and in particular 
the operational capacity of the hydraulic rams.  

 Excavation shall be carried out to the centre of the grave space, ensuring a 
minimization of additional risk of collapse. 

 Turf shall be lifted and re-used elsewhere within the cemetery. 

 Soil boxes shall be erected, in line with the approved Risk Assessment and 
checked as secure. Soil boxes shall be located at a sufficient distance from the 
edge of the grave so as to minimize risk of collapse or fallback. Where a hand-
dig, ‘walk boards’ shall be installed along either side of the grave. 

 Heavy clay soil can increase the risk of collapse and where necessary additional 
wooden struts shall be used to protect the security of the soil box. 

 Excavation shall be either by hand or by machine digging, depending upon 
whether access is available and safe, as well as, whether it is a new or re-opened 
grave. In any event, it shall be two-person operation, with care taken to ensure 
the safety of members of the public and the accuracy of the dig. All sides shall be 
square and vertical, with spoil deposited into the soil box (In certain unique 
circumstances, spoil will need to be completely removed from the location; in 
such circumstances, this shall be to the compound, taking care to ensure that 
there is no deterioration to roads and paths due to soil from tyres. Where this 
does occur it shall be immediately removed.). 

 Any surplus soil shall be removed (as above). 

 During the excavation process care must be taken to note any undue matter, 
such as the discovery of remains or a risk or actual collapse. In any these 
circumstances work shall cease and the matter should be immediately referred 
to the Relevant Client Officer for guidance. During this time an operative must 
remain at the site for safety purposes. 

 As the excavation progresses, grave shoring shall be installed by trained 
operatives. 

 Once a depth of 90mm has been reached (during a hand dig) access and egress 
must only be made using a ladder. All ladders must be regularly checked for 
suitability or deterioration and replaced as necessary. In no circumstances 
should an operative use the shoring as an aid to climbing out of, or descending 
into the grave. 

 As the excavation approaches the prescribed depth, regular checks must be 
undertaken so as to ensure the preparation is accurate. Should an obstruction 
arise, which prevents the full preparation of the grave this shall also be referred 
to the relevant Client Officer for a decision on how to progress. 

67



 Once the excavation is complete then the grave shall be fully covered by suitable 
boards to prevent risk for the public. If for any reason, during the excavation, the 
grave is left unattended, then the grave shall also be fully covered and all tools 
removed from site. 

 At the completion of the work the entire surrounding area shall be fully cleaned 
and made safe. 

 

 It is important to note that the usage of a mechanical digger, the installation of 
grave shoring and acting as banks-man are key activities, which must only be 
undertaken by properly trained and accredited employees.  

 

 Excavation of Re-Opened / Reserved Graves 
 

 All processes and procedures shall be undertaken, as detailed in Excavation of 
Graves above, with the following additions; - 

 Mechanical digging shall not be a consideration. 

 Care shall be taken when approaching the depth of the previous interment, 
ensuring an avoidance of damage to previously interred remains.  

 

 Exhumation 
 

 All processes and procedures shall be undertaken, as detailed in Excavation of 
Graves above, with the following additions; - 

 Work shall only progress with the relevant paperwork in place; i.e. the license 
issued by the Home Office or the Faculty issued by the Church Authority. 

 Work will only commence following the erection of suitable and approved 
screening, which is used to prevent public view of the exhumation site. 

 Suitable lifting equipment shall be engaged as necessary to remove the 
coffin/remains from the grave. Excess soil shall be cleared from the 
remains/coffin. 

 Freshly ground lime and disinfectant shall be used as required. 

 The removed remains shall be carefully placed in a container supplied. All other 
items, which are removed from the grave, shall be treated and disinfected. 

 Should any other remains require removal (to attain access) then such remains 
shall be returned to the grave in the same position. 

 All operatives involved with the process shall be supplied with specific PPE 
(goggles, disposable coveralls, gloves, etc. all of which disposed of following the 
completion of the procedure). 

 Wherever possible, the procedure shall be arranged outside normal hours, 
seeking to achieve completion, outside the view of the general public.   

 
 
 

68



 Cremated Remains 
 
Cremated Remains shall be treated in various manners, dependent upon into which 
medium the interment is going to be made. This will include into earth, vault or graveled 
areas; or indeed scattered. 
 

69



20 
 

 

 
Appendix E 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 – CEMETERIES 

 

BRIEFING NOTE: SITE VISITS TO A VARIETY OF CEMETERIES 

IN NORTHAMPTON AND KETTERING 

 

1 SITE VISITS 
 
1.1                  On  Thursday  3  August  2017,  Councillor  Brian  Sargeant  (Chair) 

Councillor Vicky Culbard (Deputy Chair), Councillor Dennis Meredith, 
Councillor Arthur McCutcheon and Councillor Andrew together with 
Mick Tyrrell, Contract Manager and Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer visited 
a variety of cemeteries to inform the evidence base of this Scrutiny 
Review. 

 

1.2 TOWCESTER ROAD CEMETERY 
 

 
 
1.2.1 The site visit walked around the cemetery noting: 

 
 The cemetery was well maintained and very tidy 

 
 Litter  bins  and  seating  is  in  situ. Most  were  in  very  good 

condition but one required replacing 

70



21 
 

 
 

 The paths and edges were very well maintained 
 

 Some  graves  had  conifers  planted on  them  and  other  trees 
which would also grow very large. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 The  area  of  the  cemetery  dedicated  to  war  graves  was 
immaculately kept. 

 

 The natural area within the cemetery looked a bit over grown, 
but the Panel understood that it is a natural area. 

 

 The Panel was very impressed by the condition and upkeep of 
Towcester Road cemetery 

 
 Some of the graves comprised of eight plots and contained a 

number of monuments. 
 

 The  Panel  felt  that  a  number  of  trees  in  the  cemetery  at 
Towcester Road should be removed as soon as possible so that 
the land could be used fully as burial ground. 

 

 The water tanks were in full working order. 

71



22 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

o 
 

 The Chapel was locked. The Panel realised that this was due to 
anti-social behaviour previously taking place but felt it would be 
useful for consideration to be given to the issuing of a pass or 
key to visitors to the cemetery. 

 

 There  are  areas  within  the  cemetery  for  burials  of  those  of 
different religions 

 

1.3 DUSTON CEMETERY 
 
1.3.1 The site visit walked around the cemetery noting: 

 
 Duston is a small cemetery but is very well kept 

 
 The original cemetery is now full but there is an extension of 800 

plots 
 

 
 

 The  edging  to  the  pathways  is  not  as  pristine  as  it  was  in 
Towcester Road cemetery 

 
 The water tanks in the extension Duston Cemetery are not 

plumbed in 

72



23  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 

 The sign at the entrance to “Duston Cemetery” is obscured by 
tree growth 

 

 The Site Visit felt that the architecture of Duston Cemetery is 
austere 

 

1.4 KINGSTHORPE CEMETERY 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1.4.1 The site visit walked around the cemetery noting: 
 

 Kingsthorpe Cemetery is the largest cemetery in 
Northampton which opened in 1899 

73



24  

 There are 38,000 interments over approximately 19,000 grave 

spaces 
 

 Approximately 1000 new designated grave spaces (not 

including possible Goat Field expansion) 
 

 There are spaces for further graves in the extension 
 

 There were toilet facilities in this cemetery but they had 
been vandalised and burnt down 

 

 The water tanks are in working order 
 

 Litter bins and seating is situated around the cemetery 
 

 It is very tidy and well-kept cemetery 
 

 The footpaths are in need of repair 
 

 
 

  The grounds of the cemetery are pleasant with nice flowers and 
trees planted 

 

 
 

 Vaults and the mausoleum is located in Kingsthorpe cemetery 
 

 

74



25  

1.5 CREMATORIUM AND CEMETERY - KETTERING 
 
1.5.1 The site visit walked around the cemetery noting: 

 
 Toilets  are  available  on  site  but  are  only  open  when  the 

crematorium is in use.   The crematorium has full time staff 
employed. 

 

 There is clear signage within the cemetery: 
 

  
 

 Cemetery regulations are clear and on display 
 

 
 

 Should plot owners not adhere to the rules a notice is put up next to the plot 
informing them of this 

75



26  

 
 

 Memorial testing takes place and visitors are informed of this 
 

 
 

 Rules regarding the scattering of ashes are clearly communicated: 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 The cemetery is very well maintained and is a fully functioning cemetery. 
 

 There are a number of flower displays around the grounds of the cemetery. 
Shrubs were very well maintained with evidence of summer pruning 

 
 
 
 

76



27  

 
1.6        DALLINGTON CEMETERY 

 

1.6.1    On Friday 24 November 2017, Councillors Dennis Meredith and Alan Bottwood, 
together with Mick Tyrrell, Contract Manager and Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 
visited a Dallington Cemetery to inform the evidence base of this Scrutiny 
Review.   

 

1.6.2      The site visit walked around the cemetery noting: 

 The cemetery was well maintained and very tidy 

 

 Litter bins and seating is in situ. Most were in very good condition.  
There was a couple of different styles of bins. The bins looked as 
though they had been recently emptied with fresh bags inside. 
There was also a dog waste bin in situ. 

 

 Some graves had conifers planted on them and other trees which 
would also grow very large.  The planting of such trees is contrary 
to the cemetery rules and regulations. 

 
77



28  

                                                

 The water tanks located in the cemetery were in full working order. 

 

 The noticeboard located at the entrance of the cemetery requires 
cleaning and fresh signage putting in: 

 

 There is a lot of borough owned land that edges the cemetery.  
This land has been categorised as commercial land.  The site visit 
felt this land would be useful to be re-categorised as further 
cemetery land. 

 
2 CONCLUSIONS 

 
2.1 The Site Visit concluded that: 

78



29  

2.1.1             The  cemeteries  visited  were  all  of  a  high  standard  and  were  well 
maintained. 

 

2.1.2 The paths and edges in Towcester Road Cemetery were pristine. 
 
2.1.3           One of the litter bins, as located in Towcester Road Cemetery, as 

detailed in paragraph 2.2 of this briefing note requires replacing. 
 

2.1.4 The  Site  Visit  was  concerned  that  some  of  the  graves  located  in 
Towcester Road Cemetery had trees planted on them. 

 
2.1.5             A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – some 

of the trees in situ in Towcester Road Cemetery are removed as soon 
as possible. 

 

2.1.6     A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – consideration 
is given to the issuing of key passes to the Chapel in Towcester Road 
Cemetery. 

 

2.1.7             A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – the 
water tanks located in the extension at Duston Cemetery are plumbed 
in as soon as practicable. 

 

2.1.9             A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – the 
trees that are obscuring the sign at the entrance to Duston Cemetery 
are pruned as soon as possible. 

 

2.1.10           Some of the footpaths and road way in Kingsthorpe Cemetery is in 
need of repair.  A potential recommendation of the final report was 
suggested   - those footpaths and roadways in Kingsthorpe Cemetery 
that are in need of repair, are repaired as soon as possible. 

 

2.1.11           The Site Visit was impressed by the clear and well worded signed 
located at Kettering Crematorium and Cemetery.    A potential 
recommendation of the final report was suggested – Signage, similar to 
that located at Kettering Crematorium and Cemetery, as detailed in 
paragraph 2.5 of this briefing note is implemented in Northampton’s 

cemeteries.  Signage  to  be  made  of  similar  material  to  that  of  the 
signage at Kettering Crematorium and Cemetery and be installed onto 
plinths for easy maintenance and cleansing. 

 

2.1.12             Dallington Cemetery is of a high standard and is well maintained. 

2.1.13 A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – Some of 
the trees in situ, either on, or between graves, in Dallington cemetery are 
removed as soon as possible.   

2.1.14 A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – Officers 
are instructed to ensure the enforcement rules and regulations of 
cemeteries are adhered to such as the planting of trees either on or near 
to a grave.  

79



30  

2.1.15 A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – The sign 
located at the entrance to Dallington Cemetery is cleaned and fresh 
signage placed behind the glass cabinet. 

2.1.16 A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested – 
Consideration is given to re-categorising the borough owned land 
(currently categorised as commercial land) that edges the cemetery as 
further cemetery land. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Brief Author: Tracy Tiff, Overview and Scrutiny Officer 
 
  

80



 

Appendix F 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 – CEMETERIES 

   

BRIEFING NOTE:  BEST PRACTICE GUIDANCE AND CEMETERIES 

 

1 BEST PRACTICE GUIDANCE 

1.1 The International Cemetery, Cremation and Funeral Association 

(ICCFA) 

1.1.1 The International Cemetery, Cremation and Funeral Association 
(ICCFA) published in May 2006, Top 10 Cemetery Best Practices. 

1.1.2             The ICCFA suggests five criteria: 

1. Does it do something for the customer? Does it improve the 
delivery of products or services for your families? 

2. Does it benefit your company? Does this practice help you 
become more profitable, reduce costs or increase safety? 

3. Does it benefit the employee? Does it increase employee morale, 
or foster teamwork and buy-in? 

4. Does it also improve the community? 

5. Does it raise the bar for the entire profession and make funeral 
and cemetery services that much more relevant to consumers? 

11.3             The ICCFA further suggests: 

 Have a good performance management system in place 

 Have written policies and procedures 

 Have a focus on career development 

 Have a vehicle, equipment and facilities maintenance 
programme 

81



 Undertake internal inspections and quality control and 
compliance audits 

 Disclose the nature of all services 

 Have a system in place for resolving any customer complaints 

 Have good technology, such as an informative Webpage 

 Have cemetery master planning, and build this around what you 
know about your customers 

 Have safety processes in place: 

 Safeguard the deceased 

 Safeguard the employees 

 Safeguard the visitors 

2.2        ICCM 

2.2.1 The ICCM has produced excellence criteria for Cemeteries and Crematoria.  It 
is reported that the guidance is a tool to encourage organisations to pursue 
recognised principles of organisational excellence. The guidance is for 
organisations that provide and operate cemeteries, using the experiences of 
organisations working in this field. 

2.2.2 The guidance states that the excellence criteria incorporates elements that 
are relevant of specific quality initiatives for cemeteries and crematoria such 
as IS09002, IS014001. 

2.2.3 The excellence criteria is split into 18 sections:    

1. Leadership - The aim being Leaders demonstrate commitment 
to providing value-adding cemetery and crematoria services, and 
to the concepts and practices of continuous improvement; 
Leaders create a system in which the team and individuals “own” 

the responsibility for planning, delivering and improving the 
service, Leaders seek to develop partnerships and relationships 
with other bodies to deliver integrated cemetery and crematoria 
services for the community,  

2. Public Consultation and Research - The aim being a proactive 
approach to formal and informal consultation is implemented, to 
develop an understanding of the needs, wants and expectations 
of the various individuals and groups in the community for 
cemetery and crematoria services, external market information is 
used to develop an understanding of the needs of the various 
individuals and groups in the community for cemetery and 
crematoria services.   

82



3. Policy and Strategy - The aim being the organisation reviews 
and develops its strategic approach to ensure that it is 
attempting to meet the needs and expectations of the community 
for cemetery and crematoria services, the organisation 
effectively implements and communicates its policy and strategy. 

4. Process Management and Improvement   - The aim being the 
processes involved in providing cemetery and crematoria 
services are systematically identified and managed to ensure 
that they are effective and efficient, the processes involved in 
operating cemetery and crematoria services are improved as 
required, in order to generate increasing value for the 
stakeholders, particularly the bereaved. 

5. Environmental Performance Planning - The aim being the 
organisation’s formal policy and strategy reflects a commitment 
to sustaining and improving the environment, particularly relating 
to bio-diversity, management of waste, pollution, global warming 
and the use of non-renewable, global resources, the 
environmental policy and strategy is effectively implemented and 
communicated. 

6. Financial Management - The aim being the organisation values 
the cemeteries and crematoria as assets, and is committed to 
using financial resources to ensure sustainability and to enhance 
these assets, the organisation’s financial resources are 
managed in a way which ensures added value to the community 

7. Staff Planning, Training and Development   - The aim being 
Cemetery and crematoria staffing is planned, managed and 
improved to enable the services to be provided safely, effectively 
and efficiently, the organisation ensures that all staff involved in 
planning and implementing the service are competent, and that 
the service is improved continuously through ongoing training 
and development. 

8. Service Design - The aim being Cemetery and crematoria 
facilities and services are designed and regularly reviewed and 
developed, bearing in mind the identified needs, wants and 
expectations of the community. 

9. Grounds Maintenance   - The aim being Preparation and 
maintenance of the grounds is planned, based upon the 
identified needs of the bereaved, and these plans are 
implemented effectively, Grounds maintenance work outside of 
the planned work is identified and action is taken effectively. 

10. Burials  - The aim being Burials are organised and conducted 
in a dignified manner, to meet the identified needs and 
expectations of the bereaved, based on the statutory 

83



requirements and the standards identified in the ICCM Charter 
for the Bereaved (“Rights” and “Targets”). 

11. Cremations (this is outside the scope of the Scrutiny Review, 
but the aim is Cremations are organised and conducted in a 
dignified manner, to meet the identified needs and expectations 
of the bereaved, based on the statutory requirements and the 
standards identified in the ICCM Charter for the Bereaved 
(“Rights” and “Targets”). 

12. Buildings, Equipment and Consumables  - The aim being 
Suitable equipment and consumables are provided to support 
the provision of the service, Maintenance of buildings and 
equipment is planned, based upon the needs of the service and 
available resources, and these plans are effectively 
implemented, Repairs to the buildings and equipment are 
carried out in an effective manner to ensure that any adverse 
effects are minimised, The negative impact upon the 
environment arising from buildings, equipment and 
consumables is reduced. 

13. Health and Safety Management - The aim being the 

organisation implements a planned and proactive approach to 
the management of health and safety for the bereaved and 
staff, in conjunction with partners; e.g. Funeral Directors, etc. 

14. Communication with the Bereaved – The aim being the 
organisation manages communication with the bereaved so 
that all staff deal with users in a sensitive, friendly, professional 
and informative manner, portraying a suitable image. 

15. Feedback - The aim being routine feedback from the bereaved 
regarding the service is encouraged and dealt with in a manner 
which attempts to achieve satisfaction, and this feedback is 
used as a means of improving the service. 

16. Public Relations – The aim being Cemetery and crematoria 
services are effectively communicated throughout the 
community. 

17. Measurement and Review – The aim being the organisation 
regularly measures and reviews its progress in pursuing its 
desired outcomes, to enable improvements to be planned and 
initiated. 

18. Results Achieved   - The aims of this area are to analyse how 
well the organisation is performing in achieving its desired 
outcomes throughout the community that it serves.   

84



2.2.4    The Guidance states that it is important that self-assessments are 
undertaken as these are a key part of continuous improvement.  ICCM 
states that effective self-assessment provides: 

 Identification of the organisation’s strengths;  

 Identification of the organisation’s areas for improvement;  

 Measurement of the organisation’s progress (i.e. through 

scores);  

 A basis for the development of plans for improvement.  

                 The process of carrying out Self-Assessment can also improve:-  

 staff awareness of the organisation; April 2001 40  

 staff ownership of improvements;  

 values of continuous improvement; 

 teamwork;  

 understanding of what is required to improve the service;  

 ability to view the organisation through customers’ eyes. 

2.2.4 The Guidance provides an example of a self-assessment process for 
cemetery and crematoria services: 

 

2.2.5 The Guidance states that best practice benchmarking plays a significant role 
in assisting and driving continuous improvement.  It goes on to suggest that 
benchmarking could involve the following steps: 

85



1. Identify the issue which needs to be the subject of benchmarking. This 
could be carried out using Self-Assessment or process measurement and 
review activity;  

2. Establish project team and plan;  

3. Clarify the subject to be benchmarked;  

4. Find suitable internal, external or competitive benchmarking partners. The 
following tools could be considered:-  

I Researching Industry media for information on organisations and 
benchmarks;  

II The ICCM facilitate Benchmarking partnerships through workshops 
and personal contact, involving organisations which have carried out 
ICCM Best value Charter Assessment, or have undergone an 
Excellence Recognition assessment;  

III Staff networks often identify suitable partners, particularly regional 
groups;  

IV Consultants can be used to identify and facilitate suitable 
partnerships; V Industry networks; through the ICCM, etc.  

5. Make contact and establish partnership;  

6. Meet, discuss and collect the information;  

7. Plan and carry out improvements; 

8. Review progress. 

2.2.6 A copy of the Guidance can be accessed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Brief Author: Tracy Tiff, Overview and Scrutiny Officer        

Date: 15 August 2017 

86

http://www.iccm-uk.com/iccm/library/Excellence%20Criteria.pdf


O v e r v i e w  &  S c r u t i n y  C o m m i t t e e

S C R U T I N Y  P A N E L  –  
C U L T U R E  A N D  T O U R I S M

A p r i l  2 0 1 8 87

Agenda Item 10b



 1 

Index 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword        2 
 
Executive Summary        4  
 
Final Report including recommendations     13  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   
 
Appendix B Core Questions 
 
Appendix C Findings from Site Visits 
 
Appendix D Results of Desktop Research 
  
 

88



 2 

Foreword    
 

The objective of this Scrutiny Panel was: 
 
 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national and global platform. 
 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse heritage and cultural offering. 
 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about Northampton. 
  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To gain an understanding  of the culture and heritage within the Borough of Northampton 
 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s tourism, heritage and culture offer is 

marketed and to identify any gaps that can be developed 
 To receive an overview of Northampton’s heritage assets 
 To review the extent to which an holistic image of Northampton as an attractive cultural, 

heritage and tourism place to visit 
 To understand the roles of both Northampton Borough Council and other partners in 

promoting the town of Northampton 
 
The required outcomes being: 

 
     To recommend an action plan that will ensure the marketing and the promotion of the Northampton’s 

culture, heritage and tourism are effective. 
     To identify key areas to focus in order to enhance Northampton as an appealing place to visit and 

recommend a plan of action. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel was made up from members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Councillors Sam Kilby-
Shaw (Deputy Chair), Mohammed Aziz, Vicky Culbard, Brian Sargeant, Zoe Smith and myself (Chair); together with 
other another non-Executive Councillor, Arthur McCutcheon. The Scrutiny Panel benefitted from the expertise of the 
co optee, Martin Sutherland, Chief Executive, Royal and Derngate Theatres. 
 
From its evidence gathering the Scrutiny Panel realised there are a lot of events organised and there is a need to 
build on this success to attract visitors from across the country.   
 
The Scrutiny Panel held its meetings in a number of various locations around the town, including the Doddridge 
Centre, Delapre Abbey and the Great Hall at the Guildhall, noting the history of these venues. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel received both written and spoken evidence from a wide variety of expert advisors.  Desktop 
research was carried out by the Scrutiny Officer.  There was a very good response to the survey of the Scrutiny 
Panel; comments received have informed the evidence base of this Review.   
 
Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel undertook site visits to Market Harborough and Rugby, valuable information 
was gathered from these towns; all of which informed the evidence base of this important Scrutiny review.   The 
Scrutiny Panel was also pleased to have benefitted from a site visit to Delapre Abbey. 

Following the collation of the evidence, the Scrutiny Panel drew various key conclusion and recommendations that 
are contained in the report.  The Review took place between June 2017 and April 2018.   

I would like to thank all those acknowledged below who gave up their time and contributed to this Review. 

 

Councillor Jamie Lane 

Scrutiny Panel 2  - Culture and Tourism 

 
89

http://asmemserv:9070/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1046


 3 

 
Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the Review: - 
 

 Councillors Sam Kilby-Shaw (Deputy Chair), Mohammed Aziz, Vicky Culbard, Brian 
Sargeant, Zoe Smith and   Arthur McCutcheon who sat with me on this Review  

 Martin Sutherland, co-optee, for sitting on this Scrutiny Panel 
 Councillor Jonathan Nunn, Leader of the Council, Councillor  Mike Hallam, Cabinet 

Member for Environment, Tim Hadland, Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Enterprise 
and Planning, Anna King, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety, Peter 
Baguley, Head of Planning, Marion Goodman, Head of Customers and Culture, Nick 
Gordon, Cultural Services Manager, NBC, Rachael Boyd, Operations Director, Delapre 
Abbey, David Grindley, Highways Asset and Traffic Manager, Northamptonshire County 
Council, and Kate Dent, Director, Britain's Best Surprise, for  attending a meeting of the 
Scrutiny Panel and providing information to inform the Review 

 Colin Spears, local Historian, for attending a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel and for also 
providing a written response to the core questions of the Panel. 

 Alaric Neville, local Historian, for providing a written response to the core questions of the 
Panel 

 Trevor Ward, Freeman of the Borough, for attending a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel and 
providing information to inform its review. 

 Richard Clinton, Royal and Derngate Theatre, Graham Croucher, Arthur Mishell, Mark 
Barber,  members of the public, for attending a number of the meetings of the Scrutiny 
Panel, providing written evidence and addressing the Panel. 

 Members of the public who have taken the time to complete the Scrutiny Panel’s short 
survey. 
 
 

90



 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY    
 
1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was: 

 
 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national 

and global platform. 
 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse 

heritage and cultural offering. 
 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about 

Northampton. 
  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To gain an understanding  of the culture and heritage within the 

Borough of Northampton 
 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s tourism, 

heritage and culture offer is marketed and to identify any gaps 
that can be developed 

 To receive an overview of Northampton’s heritage assets 
 To review the extent to which an holistic image of Northampton 

as an attractive cultural, heritage and tourism place to visit 
 To understand the roles of both Northampton Borough Council 

and other partners in promoting the town of Northampton 
 

1.2 The required outcome being: 
 

    To recommend an action plan that will ensure the marketing and the 
promotion of the Northampton’s culture, heritage and tourism are 

effective. 
     To identify key areas to focus in order to enhance Northampton as an 

appealing place to visit and recommend a plan of action. 
 
1.3    The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its work programming event in 

April 2017, agreed to include a review of cemeteries onto its work 
programme for the year. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commissioned Scrutiny Panel 2 to undertake the review.   An in-depth 
review commenced in June 2017 and concluded in April 2018. 

 
1.4 The Scrutiny Panel was made up of Members from the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee:  Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair); Councillor Sam Kilby-
Shaw (Vice Chair); Councillors Mohammed Aziz, Vicky Culbard, Brian 
Sargeant, and Zoe Smith; together with other another non-Executive 
Councillor Arthur McCutcheon.  The Scrutiny Panel benefitted from the 
expertise of a co-optee – Martin Sutherland, Chief Executive, Royal and 
Derngate Theatres. 

91



 5 

 

 

     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 

 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 

 

 

Vision 

 
6.1.1           The Scrutiny Panel felt that would be beneficial for there to be a vision 

for the town with a goal to be achieved.   The vision should be 
included within an Action Plan.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that the vision 
should be applicable from 2018 to 2025 and include “that by 2025 the 
cultural and heritage offer of Northampton is a town that recognises 
the positives associated with a town of rich heritage and historical 
significance and that this is at the forefront of the town centre offering 
to both new and existing residents, visitors and businesses”.  
 
Definitions 
 

6.1.2             The Scrutiny Panel supported the definitions of culture and heritage: 
 
Culture - “the arts and other manifestations of human intellectual 
achievement regarded collectively”. 
 
Tourism – “The commercial organisation and operation of holidays 
and visits to places of interest”.  
 
Heritage – “Valued objects and qualities such as historic buildings 
and cultural traditions that have been passed down from previous 
generations”. 
 
Promotion 
 

6.1.3      The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges that there is an apparent lack of 
promotional material available locally and regionally to promote the 
heritage and cultural offering in Northampton.  It highlights that 
Northampton Borough Council has a key role in the promotion of the 
town.  The use of existing infrastructure, such as the railway station, 
bus station, public transport and accommodation would be a useful 
quick and cost effective way of promotion, using a free map.  A cost 
of producing a free map has been estimated at around £2,500 for 
5,000 copies. 

 
 6.1.4           Evidence gathered highlighted that there is a gap in how Northampton 

Borough Council (NBC) is working with its global brands to 
collectively promote the Northampton offer to a wider audience.  

 

92



 6 

 
6.1.5          The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges the need for NBC to work with  

various partners and groups in the promotion of the town and what it 
has to offer. 

6.1.6         The Scrutiny Panel recognised the value of the role of the Tourism 
Executive of Leicestershire Promotions; it was further recognised that 
Rugby Borough Council has the roles of Arts, Heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager, Town Centre and Tourism Team Leader and Place 
Marketing Officer. 

6.1.7a The Scrutiny Panel felt that there was a need to further develop the 
website “Love Northampton”; particularly with the inclusion of further 
facilities.  The website:  www.northamptonshiresurprise.com/.   is 
being promoted at the Grand Prix at Silverstone in 2018.  There 
would be no cost for the development of the two websites for 
Northampton; it would need to be programmed into work streams.  

 
6.1.7b        Evidence gathered highlighted that Hull benefits from a website entitled 

Heritage Learning.  The page states that it brings learning to life 
through diverse art and heritage collections at Hull Museums and 
Ferens Art Gallery.  The webpage includes a number of blogs 
ranging from information about Rugby football, Museum news, and 
how early years can benefit from the Museums.    An app. has also 
been developed – Curious Collector App. The app. gives details of 
what to do and was launched over the summer holidays last year. It 
became available from August 2017.  There would be no cost for the 
production of a similar app. for Northampton; it would need to be 
programmed into work streams.  

 
6.1.8             Hull was awarded City of Culture in 2013.  It has developed a  

website – Hull 2017 – UK City of Culture details what’s on, what to 
visit and how residents can get involved. The website also includes 
details of the history of Hull and goes back to when it was founded a 
city in the late 12th century.  A guide how to get to Hull is detailed 
along with useful information and getting around the city.  
Merchandise, such as T-shirts, tote bags, pencil cases and baseball 
caps, can also be purchased via the website. 

 
6.1.9           The Scrutiny Panel recognised the value of the website “Britain’s 

Best Surprise” and was pleased to note that Northampton is already 

promoted on the website and has received a number of hits, from 
both within Northampton and external to the town. The website 
includes various historical places and monuments around the town, 
such as churches, stately homes and monuments.  The Scrutiny 
Panel realised that some of the monuments, such as Eleanor Cross 
require maintenance. 

 
6.1.10 People need to be aware of what Northampton has to offer and this 

needs to be well promoted in a number of mediums. 

93

http://www.northamptonshiresurprise.com/
http://www.heritage-learning.com/
http://www.heritage-learning.com/news/curious-collector-app
https://www.hull2017.co.uk/


 7 

 
6.1.11 It was noted that the leaflets at Northampton train station do not 

contain information about Northamptonshire. This is similar in a hotel 
in the borough.  It was suggested that the Borough Council could aid 
tourist attractions as part of package.   The production of 5,000 would 
cost around £2,500 to produce. 

 
6.1.12 There is a real need to capture the interest of people coming to 

Northampton to shop at the shoe factory shop so that they visit other 
parts of the town whilst they are here   Shoes and lace are core to the 
town of Northampton.  There is a need to promote the shoe factory 
shops. It was acknowledged that this would be an excellent resource 
to the town. 

 
6.1.13 Evidence gathered highlighted that volunteers are key in the 

promotion of heritage and culture of a town and that a team of 
volunteers would be useful in promoting Northampton and what it has 
to offer.  This has been successful in Market Harborough and Rugby.    
Market Harborough has volunteers for its Cultural Hub, Bloom and 
litter picking. 

 
6.1.14 Historical plaques are located in towns such as Rugby and Market 

Harborough and the value of which was noted by the Scrutiny Panel. 
 

   Retail and Retailers 

 

6.1.15 It was felt that a lot of people are unaware of the beautiful 
architecture of the town, a lot of which is second floor and above of 
buildings.  Use of the upper floors of the beautiful buildings should be 
encouraged. 

 

6.1.16 It would be beneficial for the museum to put exhibits in some of the 
empty retail outlets in the town.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that the 
Officer responsible for the outreach programme could investigate a 
unit in the Grosvenor Centre for the display of Museum artefacts.  
The costs for such exhibitions are around £12,750 for the exhibition 
production plus staffing costs of £1,300 whilst the exhibition is up. 

 
6.1.17 The Borough Council has a good working relationship with the major 

shop companies in the town and it would be useful to ascertain better 
working as a cluster.  Getting businesses together to liaise and share 
ideas would be an easy and useful solution. 

             
 

Heritage Trails  

 

94



 8 

6.1.18 The Scrutiny Panel supported the Ghost Hunt and felt this could be 
widened to a Heritage Walk or Trail.  Tours of the theatres could also 
be included. 

 
6.1.19 The Scrutiny Panel felt it would be beneficial to the town for the 

Green Badge qualification, offered by the Institute of Tourist Guiding 
(ITG) to be investigated for Northampton.     Councillors could be 
useful guides under the Green Badge initiative  

 
 Transport, Engineering and Industry 

 

6.1.20 Evidence gathered highlighted the importance of transport, 
engineering and industry in Northampton; for example the Transport 
Corporation is well known. 

 
6.1.21 There is a need for the history around transport to be promoted; 

along with the promotion of the two double decker buses that have 
been restored by two local groups.  These buses have previously 
been involved in Heritage Days and the Scrutiny Panel felt that they 
could be further involved in the heritage and tourism of Northampton. 

 
University  

 

6.1.22 The Scrutiny Panel welcomes the move of the University into the 
town, noting that it will change the culture of the town but felt that 
although the town was not ready for all the visitors that the University 
would create but acknowledged that it is an amazing opportunity for 
the town. 

 
 Heritage Group 
 
6.1.23        The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the work of the Heritage Group that is 

chaired by the Leader of the Council, NBC, acknowledging that the 
work of this Group complements the work of the Scrutiny Panel, 
there is no duplication.  The Scrutiny Panel looked at promotion and 
the Heritage Group is undertaking a stock take of heritage and 
culture. 

 
 Education and Heritage Talks 
 

6.1.24 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges the value of the involvement of 
historians and those delivering and in education regarding the 
promotion of heritage and culture. The Scrutiny Panel further realised 
the importance and value of talks given by local historians. 
Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel had attended such a talk 
during the evidence gathering phase of this Scrutiny Review.  Hay on 
Wye has its own history group and is led by an architectural historian.  
Various talks are given throughout the year, there is a small cost to 
attend. 

95



 9 

 
6.1.25 The Scrutiny Panel recognised the significant cultural tourist 

attractions around the town, including and not limited to 78 Derngate, 
Delapre Abbey, Royal & Derngate, Museum & Art Gallery, the site of 
Northampton Castle, battlefields and various churches. 

 
           Tourist Information Centre 
 
6.1.26 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges the importance of a Tourist 

Information Centre.  For example, Hull has a Tourist Information 
Centre that is open Monday to Saturday from 10am to 5pm and 
Sundays from 11am to 3pm.  The Scrutiny Panel felt it would be 
beneficial for a Tourist Information for Northampton to have a facility 
such as a café or library so that it is a vibrant place to visit. 

 
 
 Signage 
 
6.1.27  The importance of signage is recognised.  A sign at the entrances to 

the town stating “Don’t drive through, stop and visit ….”   Would be 
beneficial.  The Scrutiny Panel realised that there may be a need for 
the relevant licence from the Highways Agency to be obtained to 
erect such signs and planning permission granted.  It is estimated 
that each sign would cost in the region of £2,000 each. 

 
6.1.28 Evidence gathered demonstrated the criteria for the erection of 

brown signage.  Delapre Abbey has brown signage. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

 

 

  
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 
The purpose of this Scrutiny Panel was: 
 

 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national 

and global platform. 
 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse 

heritage and cultural offering. 
 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about 

Northampton. 
 
Scrutiny Panel 2 recommends to Cabinet :  

 

96



 10 

  
1.1.1   An action plan is devised and ensures the marketing and the promotion of 

Northampton’s culture, heritage and tourism is effective and includes: 

 The action plan includes a vision for the promotion of the town which 
includes the following definitions: 

 Culture - “the arts and other manifestations of human 
intellectual achievement regarded collectively”. 

 Tourism – “The commercial organisation and operation of 

holidays and visits to places of interest”.  

 Heritage – “Valued objects and qualities such as historic 

buildings and cultural traditions that have been passed down 
from previous generations”. 

and 
 
Aspires to be a city of culture in 2025 
 

 A free map, highlighting key attractions, is produced and 
disseminated via existing infrastructure, such as the railway station, 
bus station, public transport and accommodation. 

 A review is undertaken of the success of the Britain’s Best Surprise 

and funding is sought to support Northampton’s contribution to it. 

 An app. that gives details of what to do and where to visit in 
Northampton is developed similar to that produced by Hull – Curious 
Collector App.    

 Shoes, leather and lace manufacturing are promoted on the website 
“Britain’s Best Surprise.” 

 The Ghost Hunt is widened to a Heritage Walk/Trail that include tours 
of the theatres. 

  A trail around the town demonstrated by metal shoes is introduced. 
 The Green Badge qualification, offered by the Institute of Tourist 

Guiding (ITG) is investigated for Northampton in conjunction with 
Northampton BID. This qualification is opened to ward Councillors 
and Honorary Aldermen.   

 Exhibits of museum artefacts in empty retail units are displayed and 
promoted.  As a pilot, a unit in the Grosvenor Centre is used for the 
display of Museum artefacts.    

 Northampton Borough Council (NBC) works with its global brands to 
collectively promote the Northampton offer to a wider audience. 

97

http://www.heritage-learning.com/news/curious-collector-app
http://www.heritage-learning.com/news/curious-collector-app


 11 

 A cluster comprising the Borough Council and major shoe companies 
in the town is developed so that they can network and share ideas. 

 Working with NBC’s Planning Department, encouragement is given 

to have a consistent and sympathetic appearance in accordance with 
Northampton’s rich architectural and cultural heritage, for shop 

frontages. 

 Work is undertaken on the promotion of the history of transport 
including the two double decker buses that have been restored by 
local groups.  The Northampton Transport Heritage Group is 
consulted regarding the promotion of the history of transport in 
Northampton.    

 In recognising that local historians give Education and Heritage Talks 
throughout the year; these talks are promoted on the website 
“Britain’s Best Surprise”. 

 A Tourist Information Centre for Northampton, is investigated located 
in a prominent place in the town, until the Museum is opened in late 
2019; and a café is included in the extended Northampton Museum 
and Art Gallery is investigated.    

 Signs on the entrance to Northampton are erected that says what the 
town has to offer.   “Don’t drive through, stop and visit ….”   

 Brand Northampton as an exciting place to visit. 

 Blue plaques are introduced around the town. 

 Opportunities to promote our cultural heritage with Marlberg are 
investigated. 

 Funding is sought to maintain and upkeep monuments around the 
town, such as Eleanor Cross, the Tram Terminals and other historic 
buildings.  

 Flower displays are maintained all year round, sponsorship to 
purchase and upkeep more planters is sought.  Branding is in 
keeping with the signage. 

 A Co-Ordinator role similar to that of the Tourism Executive of 
Leicestershire Promotions Limited is established in conjunction with 
Britain’s Best Surprise aspirations for a Destination Management 
Organisation. 

 A Cultural Strategy for the Borough is developed to look at 
investment, opportunities, infrastructure to promote Northampton and 
grow the cultural sector, to make an application to be the City of 
Culture 2025. 

98



 12 

 
1.1.2 As part of the induction process for Councillors, a leaflet of pamphlet on the  

history of Northampton is given to all Members.  The same leaflet is 
available for events such as Heritage weekends.     

 
7.1.3 A copy of the report is sent to Michael Ellis, MP, who has the role of 

Parliamentary Under-Secretary (Department for Digital , Culture, Media and 
Sport). 

 
7.1.4  Giving consideration to Unitary Status, civic pride and ceremonies are 

protected. 
           Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
7.1.5  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
 
 

99



13 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Report of Scrutiny Panel 2 - Culture and Tourism 

  

1 Purposes 

1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was: 
 

 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national and 
global platform. 

 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse 
heritage and cultural offering. 

 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about 

Northampton. 
  

Key Lines of Enquiry 

  

 To gain an understanding  of the culture and heritage within the 
Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s tourism, heritage 
and culture offer is marketed and to identify any gaps that can be 
developed 

 To receive an overview of Northampton’s heritage assets 
 To review the extent to which an holistic image of Northampton as 

an attractive cultural, heritage and tourism place to visit 
 To understand the roles of both Northampton Borough Council 

and other partners in promoting the town of Northampton 
 

1.2 A copy of the scope of the Review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
2  Context and Background     

2.1 Following approval of its work programme for 2017/2018, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2017 commissioned 
Scrutiny Panel 2 to undertake the review – culture and heritage.   An in-
depth review commenced in June 2017 and concluded in April 2018. 

2.2 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Jamie Lane 
(Chair); Councillor Sam Kilby-Shaw (Deputy Chair);  Councillors 
Mohammed Aziz, Vicky Culbard, Brian Sargeant, Arthur McCutcheon 

100



14 

 

and Zoe Smith.  Martin Sutherland, Chief Executive, Royal and 
Derngate Theatres, was co-opted to the review. 

2.3 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 
corporate priority 1 - Northampton Alive (A vibrant successful town for 
now and the future.) 

 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be 
investigated and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate 

priorities: 

  
  3 Evidence Collection 

3.1 Evidence was collected from a variety of sources: 

Background data, including: 
 

Presentation to set the scene:  a summary of the current marketing of 
tourism, culture and heritage carried out by Northampton Borough 
Council, information regarding the key cultural, tourism and heritage 
assets within the borough and potential opportunities to attract visitors 
and the types of attractions which Northampton can offer   

 Relevant Legislation including: 
 

National Heritage Act 1983 

Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013. 

National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 

Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 

 Statistics: including: 
 

Website and Social media statistics 

Statistics: Visitors to the town and tourism in Northampton, 
in particular, Cultural Quarter and Heritage Sites 

 

 

101



15 

 

 Relevant published papers, such as: 
Central Government’s paper “Preserving historic sites and 
buildings” 

Central Government’s paper “Backing the Tourism Sector 
A Five Point Plan” 2015 

Building Conservation.com “Heritage Protection in the UK – 
Key Facts”  

 Best practice external to Northampton/Case Study examples 
 Internal expert advisors: 

 

 Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Planning and Enterprise, 
NBC 

 Head of Economic Development, NBC 
 Head of Planning, NBC (for heritage) 
 Cabinet Member for Environment, NBC 
 Head of Customers and Culture, NBC, Town Centre Manager 

(regarding events), Cultural Services Manager (regarding events 
at the Museums). 

 
 External expert advisors: 
 

 Communications Director and Director with responsibility for 
events, Northamptonshire Chamber of Commerce 

 Director, Highways, Northamptonshire County Council 
 Director, Northampton BID 

 Director, Northampton Tourism Association 

 Director, Visit Britain 

 Director, The Association of Leading Visitor Attractions (ALVA) 
 Director, Historic England 
 Northampton Heritage Group  
 Director, Canal River Trust (CRT) 
 Head of History (Heritage), University of Northampton 

 Travel Agents in the town 

 Visitor Groups, Northampton 
 Residents and Visitors (through a survey) 

 

 Site visit to various heritage and tourist attractions within the borough  
 

 

102

http://www.parliament.uk/about/living-heritage/transformingsociety/towncountry/landscape/overview/historicsites/
http://www.parliament.uk/about/living-heritage/transformingsociety/towncountry/landscape/overview/historicsites/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/446167/Tourism_-_A_Five_Point_Plan.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/446167/Tourism_-_A_Five_Point_Plan.pdf
http://www.buildingconservation.com/articles/heritage-summary/heritage-summary.htm
http://www.buildingconservation.com/articles/heritage-summary/heritage-summary.htm


16 

 

3.2                Background reports and information 

 Presentation to set the scene 

 Definitions 

 Culture - “the arts and other manifestations of human intellectual 
achievement regarded collectively”. • Tourism – “The commercial 

organisation and operation of holidays and visits to places of interest”. • 

Heritage – “Valued objects and qualities such as historic buildings and 

cultural traditions that have been passed down from previous 
generations”. 

  Presentation - Northampton Museum 

 The Scrutiny Panel received a comprehensive presentation on the 
Northampton Museum and Art Gallery –  Expansion Project. 

3.3 Core Questions 

3.3.1 The Scrutiny Panel devised a series of core questions that it put to its 
key witnesses over a cycle of meetings (Copy at Appendix B). 

3.3.2 Key witnesses provided a response to these core questions at the 
meetings of the Scrutiny Panel held on 14 September 2017, 4 
December 2017, 18 January 2018 and 22 January 2018. 

3.3.3 Salient points of evidence: 

Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning, 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Cabinet Member for Community 
Engagement, Head of Economic Development, Head of 
Planning, Head of Customers and Culture 

 

 As Local Planning Authority, the Borough Council is responsible for ensuring 
that heritage assets are protected in a way which will secure their long term 
survival.  The Councils role in this respect therefore is in making appropriately 
informed planning decisions which preserve and enhance the asset or assets 
– robust decision making based on best practice and adopted policy ensure 
that assets are maintained in their best possible state. Through its work in 
protected listed buildings and designating and assessing Conservation Areas, 
the Councils heritage officers have a wealth of knowledge about the history of 
the town, its most important heritage features and also how these contribute 
to the unique character of parts of the town. 

103

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s53706/oandsculturetourism0717.pdf


17 

 

 Heritage walks and interpretive material could develop deeper understanding 
of how the town has developed over time and how this contributes towards 
the character, and sense of place, of the town today.  

 At the Heritage Stakeholder meeting officers suggested ‘Architects walks’ for 

significant architects such as Matthew Holding, Charles Dorman, E. F. Law 
and specifically relating to the Boot & Shoe Industry. Heritage Open Days and 
the emerging Local List also offers opportunities to both understand and 
promote the heritage of the town. 

 Protecting and promoting heritage assets ensures that the special character 
of the town is preserved, whilst still being home to thriving retail and 
employment sectors.  Positive Planning in this respect enhances the unique 
selling point of the town, in particular in relation to responding to competing 
retail offers, for example at Milton Keynes and Rushden Lakes, which are 
often criticised for lacking any sense of character or place, or being ‘clone 

towns’. 

 Officers also work constructively with NBC’s partners such as NCC and 

Historic England 

 The Borough Council has a good working relationship with the major shop 
companies in the town and it would be useful to ascertain better working as a 
cluster. 

 The move of the University into the town will change the culture. 
 Work has previously been undertaken with the college regarding fashion 

shows in the town and pop up shops.  This had been very well received.  
 The Grosvenor Centre is in the process of having its shop frontages 

finalised.   Guidelines are as such and cannot be enforced.   Other towns and 
cities, such as Leeds, have a signage policy whereby all signs are produced 
in the same style 

 Northampton has obvious assets such as the 
museums, Delapre Abbey, Althorpe House, the Saints and the shoe industry. 

 Getting businesses together to liaise and share ideas would be an easy and 
useful solution. 

 There is an apparent lack of promotional material available locally and 
regionally to promote the heritage and cultural offering in Northampton. In the 
short term this could be remedied in a quick and cost effective manner 
through using existing infrastructure such as the railway station, bus station, 
public transport and accommodation offering to promote the offer. 

 On a wider scale there are events and people of historical significance whose 
origins can be directly traced back to Northampton and we could make more 
of these when promoting the town as a visitor and inward investment 
destination.  

104



18 

 

 NBC should also work more closely with our national and global brands such 
as Northampton Saints, Cosworth, Churchs and Carlsberg to reach a more 
national and global audience.  

 There are presently gaps in the marketing of the town and its rich heritage 
and some of this can be remedied simply through an increase in available and 
relevant marketing literature and wayfinding in strategically significant 
locations. 

 A gap is also apparent in how NBC is working with its global brands to 
collectively promote the ‘Northampton offer’ to a wider audience.   

 Within the town centre alone there are a number of culturally significant 
buildings and other architecture that if promoted effectively could represent an 
element of tourism offering not currently being utilised. By drawing attention to 
these buildings and the part they have to play in the history of Northampton 
could be an effective vehicle to support the wider tourism offer. 

 Clearly the Borough Council has a key role to play in promoting the town, not 
least from an inward investment and economic development point of view.  

 If NBC is to successfully attract and retain businesses within the local area 
this needs to be underpinned through a strong promotion of the town and its 
physical, cultural and historical assets in order to build a strong overarching 
case for investment that also includes current and future footfall, housing 
stock, educational facilities and catchment affluence. 

 The Borough Council alone cannot be responsible for “building” this offer and  

NBC therefore needs to recognise and work with a number of partner 
organisations to ensure the full offer is apparent. 

 By 2025 it would be good for the cultural and heritage offer of Northampton to 
be a town that recognises the positives associated with a town of rich heritage 
and historical significance and that this is at the forefront of any town centre 
offering to both new and existing residents, visitors and businesses.  

 The role of culture, sport and heritage in place shaping 

Asset & Traffic Manager, Highways, Northamptonshire County Council 
(NCC) 

 The install of brown signage is dependent upon the facility that is wanting to 
be signed.  

 It is the responsibility of the applicant to pay for the signage.  There is set 
criteria contained in both a local document and a document from the 
Highways Agency with set criteria for brown signage.  However certain 
organisations such as the National Trust and English Heritage, are exempt 
and have automatic brown signs put up.  Criteria is around visitor number and 
attractions and type of leisure facilities. 

105

http://asmemserv:9070/documents/s53948/CASE_Placeshaping_Report_-_The_role_of_culture__sport_and_heritage_in_place_shaping_.pdf


19 

 

 The venue/facility has to be of national significance for a brown 
sign.  Delapre Abbey has brown signs. 

 The organisation has to pay for the signs but they then become the 
responsibility of   NCC 

 There is different criteria to put a brown sign on a trunk road.  Visitor figures 
have to be over   150,000 per year. 

 Signs (not brown) are put up for churches and other religious venues if they 
are hard to find 
 
Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and 
Safety - Northampton Borough Council 

 The Leader of the Council, chair’s a Heritage Group that has a different remit 
to that of the Scrutiny Review, the two groups complement each other. 
Scrutiny is looking at the promotion side, the Heritage Group is doing a stock 
take.   

 The Heritage Group comprises lots of historians from around the town; all with 
varied background.   

 Alongside this, the council has created a Hotels’ Forum to promote visitors to 
the town’s heritage.   

 The latest version of the Town Guide will feature history and heritage 
 The Historians Group has also been looking to drive out particular themes, for 

example for inclusion on interpretation boards.  Emerging themes include: 
 

o Crime and punishment 
o Open buildings 
o Churches 
o Royal theme 

 
 A draft of a map and a tour guide is also being created by NBC’s Coms 

Department, in consultation with the Historians 
 The Leather Museum is part open in the Grosvenor Centre. 

 
Local Historians 
 

 Getting the town’s population to take pride in the place they live in would be a 
start, then working up to global.  

 It needs to be accepted that not all things labelled as heritage are going to 
provide a positive draw for a wider lay group of visitors or locals. The meeting 
on Thursday was in many ways a self-selecting group of people with a 
passion for any and all historical subjects. I celebrate and champion the 
wonderfully quirky English enthusiast who gets to know and love an obscure 
subject with a depth that even professional academics don’t often match. 
Unfortunately it would be unwise to base a modern civic programme on such 
niche interests alone.  

 It has been remarked by many, that Northampton is a town with as much raw 
history as a York or Chester. This is of course a valid observation in terms of 

106



20 

 

dates and events, if there was a popular history book written on the town, it 
would indeed have many interesting chapters to match many towns and cities 
in Britain. Sadly from a casual tourist’s point of view, dead dates, vanished 
castles and plaques saying something once happened here in a building long 
gone, aren’t the same draw as mediaeval walls, ramparts, half-timbered 
thatched houses, winding street patterns, majestic minsters and colossal 
cathedrals.  

 Flagging up some of the things that have happened in the town, adding them 
to concise illumination of what the modern town has to offer is surely the mix 
we should be aiming at for the average tourist. The reality of any tourism offer 
in the town is that the only current national draw we have is the well-known 
shoe industry. I would be overjoyed if any of the surviving quality footwear 
manufacturers decided to fully embrace the visitor centre approach to their 
business. Going beyond just a factory shop which most manufacturers have, 
they should creating a museum space, a café, and importantly viewing of the 
ancient and modern techniques and machinery still used in the creation of 
Northampton’s famous good year welted brogues would be a great addition to 
the town’s attractions. Perhaps Churches are considering this in their new 
expansion into the old bus depot, we badly need it. Their proximity to the 
railway station is a boon for access via public transport from outside the town, 
something we see with the Albion Brewery’s similar walkable location 

 Culture and night life offers a better route to a vital and prosperous town 
centre. The University’s move to Waterside may be a help in realizing this 

goal but in heritage terms, students aren’t an obvious market for such 
attractions. They will crave the buzz of a busy night life, funky small shops, 
and café culture in the day, gigs at night. 

 It would be good to see the town erect Poster drum towers at strategic places 
within the town centre. These appear in other towns and cities and by their 
very existence, covered in bright eye catching posters for all sorts of events, 
add to the street view that the town is jumping and alive. They aide the 
independent promoter in getting the message out that their event is on, or the 
local business selling its wares and services at special times. As students 
come to town these would help spread the word of what the town has to offer 
outside of the academic institution and its student union. 

 The simple idea of free visitor maps available at every hotel, the railway 
station, Student hall of Residence, tourist information centre is an obvious and 
easily attainable goal. I would vote for this map to be as much a signpost for 
what we have today as solely a trip around the town’s past. Showing 

commercial visitors or random tourists who want to fill some time in the town 
where to go and what to see is the key. Pure heritage trail publications have 
their place but we really need to think about whether we have enough above 
ground structures or visitor attractions to make that work. 

 People do visit Northampton as tourists in some small number.  
 Since the opening up the restored Albion Brewery,   Real Ale enthusiasts from 

around the country and even abroad turning up every now and again as 
Phipps is on the radar for those serious in tracking down brewing history have 

107



21 

 

attended. Small groups from Norway, Australia, Italy and Japan visit us and a 
film crew from LA in the States came to the brewery, most stayed in the town 
overnight. There are day and weekend trippers from within the UK who come 
to hunt out pubs and breweries they can reference in the Good Beer Guide, 
the bible of British Beer fans. 

 The Brewery plans to continue restoring other sections of the brewery still 
semi derelict. We also have some historic Phipps Brewing equipment we 
would like to restore and display in the bar and brewery, costly refurbishment 
and re assembly of a giant 1914 brass and copper mash tun from the original 
Bridge Street Brewery is a long cherished goal, but funds are always needed 
elsewhere as we expand as a modern manufacturing business. 

 One great improvement in developing the Albion Brewery as a real Heritage 
draw would be the pedestrianisation of the stub of Kingswell Street outside 
our building. This idea has had some support from The County Council which 
as the body responsible for Highways, would be in charge and technically 
owners the land. Creating a new town square in the space bounded by the 
15th century Church Restaurant, The King Billy Pub, The Albion Brewery and 
the Department for Meat and Social Affairs. There are plans to re-route the 
traffic which currently flows around the island of buildings including the Plough 
and the Church with just bus access up Bridge Street. This would enable this 
area to be included more organically into the cultural quarter, pulling it down 
from the Guildhall Rd to a new public space, paved, with tree planting and 
public art. I would propose that a statue of Bill Urquhart with pint in hand, the 
last head brewer at Phipps’ Bridge Street brewery and the world’s First Micro 
brewer be erected as the centre piece to this square. The statue itself would 
become a national draw and be photographed and posted on line by many 
visiting ale enthusiasts along with educating the local population about 
Northampton’s pivotal role in the history of brewing.  

 In addition prior to the paving, an archaeological dig on the site might find 
evidence for the ancient Saxon or Anglo Danish Burg wall around the original 
settlement of Hamtun. This wall was situated between Kingswell Street on the 
inside and Bridge Street on its outside and thus the only place in the town 
where it could be found and marked in the modern fabric would be in front of 
the Albion Brewery, if it extended this far down the Ham hill. There may even 
have been a southern gate at this point as the wall probably turned westwards 
around this spot. We hear so much about our Norman castle that the origins 
of the town are somewhat forgotten. If a wall line was located, (and its always 
an if when dealing with re used and re dug town centre sites where 
archaeological remains could have been destroyed by cellars and later 
building) I would propose marking it in the modern day square paving in a 
different stone, tracing in Saxon / Danish inspired twisting knot work design 
the line of the original settlement boundary of the town, along with a plaque 
noting the founding of the town and the small Saxon kingdom it was the 
capital of. Of course we might not find it, and it might not be there, that is 
archaeology. 

 Have a look at Light Night events around the country. Leeds and its Light 
Night event has grown over the years to become a wonderful celebration of 
art and the joy of city living. They also have smaller versions in other places 

108



22 

 

like York. An evening as autumn draws in where the town centre is full of 
street art and most distinctively moving film and illuminated buildings brings 
virtually the whole city out to promenade the streets closed to traffic and soak 
in the visual feast before their eyes. It would be good to imagine the front of 
All Saints and the Guildhall lit up with fantastic moving images and 
animations, and Guildhall road being a sea of lights and stalls. St Crispin’s fair 
could be the basis for a Northampton event but it needs to be widened out 
from just fun fairs and stalls to be a genuine town festival again, attracting 
resident from town and county interested in art, culture and spectacle, free to 
families, young and old. 

 It would be good to see a bustling town with a championship Football team to 
match its great Rugby and Cricket clubs;  a kaleidoscope of independent 
shops, bars and venues making the town a hub for the area’s night life, an 
end to homelessness and begging in the borough, no harsh enforcement but 
caring provision.  Some sympathetic re development of run down and in many 
cases empty parts of the ancient town centre, for instance supporting the 
proposed redevelopment of the former Barclaycard site on Marefair, enlarging 
it to encompass a re-purposed arts centre in St Peters church, creating new 
mixed residential and commercial quarters constructed in a sympathetic 
architectural style with green eco-friendly, timber framed, real brick, real iron 
stone, topped off with Northampton’s first new thatched roofs for centuries. 
These could be built around an imposing monument to the lost castle, 
possibly a stone, 3d recreation of the town crest complete with rampant lions. 
Something with life and commerce that respects the location in the heart of 
the ancient town, marks the adjacent castle site. The centre of town needs 
more life, more people, more jobs, more attractions, more shops, more 
affluence. 

 A pedestrian square outside the Albion Brewery called Kingswell Square 
where a bronze statue of Bill Urquhart, the world’s first Microbrewer has pride 
of place within sight of his old Brewery at Phipps Bridge Street, Carlsberg’s 
new brewery and the County Hall, site of the town’s first Norman brewery. 

 A regionally famous Light Night Festival on the historic St Crispin’s day 
evening, attracting visitors from around the area into Northampton, giving 
residents a pride in their historic town home.  

 A light rail, tram line that connects the Town’s rail station with the main 
shopping streets and then stretches out along the Nene Valley through stops 
at Billing, Earl’s Barton, Wellingborough where it splits into two branches, one 
up to Kettering the other down to Rushden and Higham on the track bed of 
the disused 4th good line on the Midland main line. Linking up the economic 
and cultural attractions of the county town with its main shire hinterland, 
easing the A45 commuter snarl ups, easing the congestion in the new town 
bus station, Linking the West Coast Northampton branch with the Midland 
Mainline and destinations to the East Midlands and the North, providing some 
nationally appealing and green transport infrastructure which the town and 
county would be proud to host. 

109



23 

 

 It would be good if Carlsberg could begin offering public brewery tours in their 
own 1970s monster brewery, matching what happens in Copenhagen or at 
other lager breweries, they and Northampton would benefit from a raising in 
profile.    

 To be successful in promoting the Towns Heritage and Culture (  Culture 
needs to be defined )   the lead individual and small Team,  need to know 
quite clearly the responsibility  and financial parameters they are working to in 
order to  achieve the strategic objective for NBC.   In doing so in order to 
maintain and develop their motivation in the Post,  they need to be given 
freedom of thought and action in developing within the parameters  -  their 
vision of achieving the objectives.  NBC procedures are not always conducive 
to free thought and expression which reduces initiative and leads to staff 
turnover.  It is critical that this key aspect is accepted for the Team to succeed 
when the job descriptions are created. This Team should be the enablers for 
the Borough to achieve over time mutual objectives: 

 Heritage - An agreed list in a Priority Order e.g. Grade 1, Grade 
2*, Grade 2 etc.  needs to be  created for the new Team by those 
personalities who have the knowledge to do so. This should rebut 
any public comments about what is not in it or should have been 
before published.   

 Culture -  There is a need for an agree definition 

 Promotion.    The Person Specification for this Post needs to 
include as a key requirement - Evidence of achievements with the 
Media and ideally -  the ‘Visit Britain’ organisation which is funded 

by the Department of Culture, Media and Sport under guidance of 
the British Tourist Authority created by the Development of 
Tourism Act 1969.     

 The gaps between Marketing and the Cultural & Tourism offer will be due to: 

  The poor creation and design of the overall Function Structure.   

  Their decision responsibility reporting levels  not being able  to blend  
together,  to achieve Team respective aims and service to the Public.   

  It is therefore important to make the Structure simple, cohesive and t 
effective, enabling the Team members to meet their key objectives in 
the required timescale. .  

  The University will be able to focus on appropriate Courses for the 
Team which will enable them to improve and develop their knowledge 
skills if and when needed.    

110



24 

 

 Functional Tourism is a good tool for people who are interested to learn about 
how / why / when  history in the Town -  for example - the use by the 
Americans of a stitched Boot in their Civil War,  created the gradual use of 
initially imported Stitching Machines in the Northampton Shoe Trade from 
circa 1870 onwards.  This developed a parallel new Industry in the Town of 
maintaining and eventually making such Machines.  

 Shoe Industry knowledge could be delivered by Walks in the part of the Town 
where such work was carried out - but in my view the Subject could be better 
covered by talks on the subject with a visit to see the typical equipment that 
was used  with - ideally - a retired person from the Industry to add an 
overview of what it was like in the past 40 + years.   

 The local radio could assist on this by interviewing an elderly person who 
could describe how for example,  production and pay were managed  in the 
Factory and Broadcasting it. 

 Hospitals.  There is an interesting History of Hospitals in the Town but few 
books on the subject.  Northampton General Hospital has a very small 
Museum   

 Railways.  There are a number of Clubs in the Town which have a good 
knowledge of Railway development from the 19th C onwards.  There is also 
the maintenance Depot at Kingsthorpe, where suburban trains on the 
Birmingham to Euston line are serviced.  Talks / Tours could be arranged and 
young people could       perhaps see a job potential as a consequence.   

 Motor Racing. The biggest Tourist draw for the county is at Silverstone.   The 
University could with assistance from the appropriate Racing Team, give 
presentations with ‘hardware and videos and visits to respective Team HQ's   
as a weekend event with accommodation in Northampton.   

  There are other ‘Functional options’    aside from Town Centre Tours, its 
Churches and splendid Guildhall.  All of these should broaden the knowledge 
and interest         of the Town, especially for the younger population, as they 
will see and hear its past development and that of the future - of which they 
could be a part.   

 NBC must be seen as independent but the responsible Tourist Organisation 
for the Borough.  NBC must therefore lead its Partners -  NCC inevitably being 
one,  with its vision for the future by developing and presenting subsequent 
objectives on the basis of : 

 CO - Determination - defined as NBC being prepared to discuss the 
subject and eventually agree with all concerned on the outcome   - or  

111



25 

 

-  Co Operation - defined as NBC leading on the subject, hearing 
opinions etc. but has the right to lead on the final outcome.            

    Functional Talks / Visits / Tours .  These take place to a recognised 
schedule which is reviewed every 6 months and include Weekends - so 
that 5 Day week workers and families have an opportunity too.  A Fee 
is payable (set by NBC) for all (less School & University students - as in 
the past)  

 The county has a world famous racing track at Silverstone and the GP  
industry is based in the county e.g.:  Mercedes and Red Bull.  This industry, a 
reflection of the small Metal repair ‘Shops’ that looked after the Shoe Industry 
- employs well qualified Electronic / Mechanical and Design Engineers all from 
local resources  

 A Museum with GP sponsorship / support would be a huge attraction and put 
the current heritage and knowledge culture aspect of the County and Town on 
the National & International  map.  The British GP in July usually has some 
130 thousand plus attendees ….  

 The Institute of Tourist Guiding (ITG) has a qualification known as the Green 

Badge which provides a Qualification for Guides in a Borough or for specific 
Heritage sites.  The University is the appropriate Organisation to approach as 
the Provider interface with ITG and for possibly funding too. Target 
September 2019 as the Course start with a May 2020 finish.  

  
Freeman of the Borough 

 

Key points regarding the history of the Freeman of the Borough: 
 

 Freeman have been in the town for 100s of years, since 1189 
 There are 90 Freeman in Northampton, that meet four times  
 There are a number of Honorary Freeman of the Borough 
 A Freeman cant be purchased anymore 
 Lady Freeman were introduced in 2012 
 The Freeman take part on Mayor Making and Remembrance Sunday 
 In accordance with the 1987 Act, apprentices can become Freeman  

 
 Director, Britain’s Best Surprise 

 

 Britain’s Best Surprise is a campaign for the county launched March 2017 

 It promotes Northamptonshire and its many attractions.  It is positioned as a 
world class destination 

112



26 

 

 The website objective started off as a “What’s on Diary” and snowballed 
from there 

 There are 20 million visitors to Northamptonshire, tourism supports 14,000 
jobs and brings in £1 billion per year 

 Britain’s Best Surprise has plans to further develop its website, involve 
industry and direct traffic to the website.  15% of the traffic is from London  
and 25% from Northampton 

 An Intern upkeeps the website and quickly updates it 

 There is a good presence on Social Media, around 8,000 followers 

 Leaflets are in production and will be distributed to various locations 

 Liaisons are taking place between Britain’s Best Surprise and Economic 
Development at the Boroughs and Districts in Northamptonshire regarding 
a Destination Management Plan 

 Britain’s Best Surprise is very keen to work with partners locally, in 
particular around the new Silverstone Heritage centre and the potential that 
brings 

 Links with the University are established and hugely important 

 Britain’s Best Surprise runs various campaigns such as churches, stately 
homes  

 Themes are set: 

 2019         Sport 

 2020/21   Arts and Culture 

 2022        American Heritage and its links 

  Members of the Public  

Four members of the public submitted either written or verbal evidence: 

Key points: 

 Transport, engineering and industry are missing from the 
heritage promotion of Northampton.    The Northampton 
Transport Corporation is well known.   

 There is history around transport including: 
 
 Electric tramways 
 Social history of the town 
 The bus and transport heritage 

113



27 

 

 The Transport Depot open day that had been very well received 
Vehicles are important to the town and have a real heritage 
presence in Northampton 

 There is a need for a Transport Museum for the town 
 Two groups have restored two double decker buses, registration 

numbers N1 154 and JVV 267G.  The buses were built by Daimler in 
Coventry.   

 Engineering and technology is missing from the heritage of the 
town.   

 The double decker buses have been taken to schools and had 
assisted primary schools, key stage 2, regarding their learning 
around transport   The double decker buses, have been part of 
Heritage Open Days. 

 The vintage buses had been used for someone’s 60th birthday 
party. Two had parked in the town centre and the other had picked 
up the man whose birthday it was.    The buses had attracted a lot of 
attention and the Mayor of Northampton had been in attendance.  A 
lot of interest had been generated and a number of photos 
taken.   The buses had gone to a Transport Festival in Lincoln – 
promoting Northampton 

 A collector’s fayre had taken place in Abington Park and the buses 
had been shown here too.  The footfall for the event for 2017 had 
increased and it was felt this was due to the fact that the buses had 
been there.  

 There is a real need to promote Northampton and its heritage.     
 The buses are putting Northampton on the Map.  There are lots of 

events planned for 2018.  The buses would like to be involved in 
heritage days.  
 

3.3.4   SURVEY  

 

A survey went live in the autumn 2017 and details were also forwarded to a 
number of Resident Groups and Forums. 

 The following questions were asked: 

1. How would you like to see Northampton’s heritage and culture being 
promoted locally, nationally and on a global level? 

2. What could be done to promote culture and tourism in Northampton 
that is not being done already? 

3. How do you think that tourism can be encouraged to promote learning 
about Northampton? 

114



28 

 

4. What could be done to promote culture and tourism in Northampton 
that is not already being done? 

5. What should be the role of Northampton Borough Council and its 
partners in promoting the town? 

6. What would you like the promotion of Northampton’s culture and 
heritage to look like ten years from now? 

7. Any other comments. 
 

Analysis of the Survey  

Detailed below are the key points, relevant to the scope of the Review, made 
by the 95 respondents to the survey.  The complete responses are available 
should Panel members want to review them in full. 

A number of responses were similar and they have been grouped together, 
detailing the number of times suggested.  Should the idea be suggested more 
than once, the number of suggestions is detailed in brackets. 

 Some responses were not in accordance with the scope of this Review and 
therefore have not been included within this briefing note.  A number of 
respondents (22 in total) referred to the cleanliness of the town and the need 
for more cleaning and litter collection.  Anti-social behaviour and issues 
relating to anti-social behaviour were referred to seven times by respondents 
to the survey. 

 Trails of the town were a popular suggestion and suggested in a number of 
ways. 

How would you like to see Northampton’s heritage and culture being 

promoted locally, nationally and on a global level? 

 Promote Northampton on social media (7) 
 Promote events on Facebook and trip advisor 
 More advertising  - all mediums 
 Local TV advertisings 
 Advertise and shout aloud 
 Promote on Community Radio, via free local magazines etc. 
 An exciting, professional website to show off the town’s attributes 
 Re-open the Museum and promote it(5) 
 A Transport Museum for the town (3) 
 Re-open the Shoe Museum (2) 
 A good local museum with interactive tours  
 A Museum on the old bus station site in St James 

115



29 

 

 Panels in the Grosvenor Centre depicting some of Northampton’s 

history, use the empty shops around the town too (2) 
 Signposting to all the major historic and social history 
 Begin promotion at a local level 
 More publicity of events 
 Create a team of 200 volunteers to promote heritage and culture of the 

town; headed up by one paid project manager 
 Liaise with Friends of Northampton Castle regarding NBC promoting 

certain events 
 Investment in the town – at least two spring/summer dedicated tour 

buses 
 Caravan park at Delapre Abbey – operated by the Caravan Club 
 A skilled officer with knowledge of the town and its history to lead on 

the promotion   
 A dedicated team to research and present the information 
 More “involvement” days to recognise the history of Northampton 
 Widely publicise the town’s history in an easily viewed and prominent 

position 
 Look at how to attract people to the town and encourage them to return 
 Make Northampton a more attractive place to visit 
 Similar promotion to that of Athens, Rome, Egypt etc. 
 Tours of the theatres 
 Promote local authors such as Alan Moore or Mark Haddon 
 More events relating to medieval times of Northampton 
 More imaginative use of the Market Square as a public space 
 Monthly Farmers’ Markets with artisan food and drink, antiques etc. 
 Support sport and the theatres 
 Develop the town’s parks 
 Encourage further education establishments to develop cultural and 

heritage programmes 
 Make more of the riverside 
 More intercity trains stopping at the town 
 More public displays, galleries, events 
 Promote the town’s roman medieval and post-medieval history and 

heritage and the churches 
 Do good quality heritage activities 
 Celebrate current rich diversity of cultures 
 Introduce more open days 
 Focus on beer and shoes 
 “Piggy back” onto the advertising of the big companies in the town 
 Promotions at Rushden Lakes 

116



30 

 

What could be done to promote culture and tourism in Northampton that 

is not already being done? 

 

 Use of Social media (11) 
 There is a lack of promotion – need paper,  leaflets, banners and 

electronic promotion (7) 
 Install brown signage for the town and improved signage (3) 
 Shoe trail linking to shoe history (4) 
 Tourist office in the town Open and one at castle station (6 ) 
 Factory shoe shop trail and tour (3) 
 Northampton town trail (2) 
 A heritage walking route and more promotion of the walking routes (4) 
 History of architecture trail 
 Introduce a children’s trail, similar to that of the one at Leighton 

Buzzard 
 Many more specialised trail brochures linking places of similar 

activity/interest 
 Mirror best practice, such as Kent which has very open access and 

promotes itself well (2) 
 Promote the history of Northampton such as the churches 
 Banners on lamp posts or across specific streets 
 Use geocaching 
 An illustrated map 
 Create “Celebrate Northampton” week 
 Press releases to Residents’ Associations 
 Lobby for a heritage gateway 
 A 2019 heritage festival 
 Open up some of the historical buildings 
 More use of the beautiful market square, particularly on a Sunday 
 More use of the area in front of St Giles Church 
 Street art, exhibitions, antique valuations, auctions 
 Promote the good range of eateries in the town 
 Northamptonshire has a lot of tourist attractions to promote 
 Northampton themed pubs 
 More live music and theatre shows in the parks 
 Events based around history, with the historic market square 
 Events such as a vintage fayre 
 Bring an international airport to the town 
 Invite a few top lifestyle journalists to spend a weekend in Northampton 

and sample the food/theatre/sport/walks etc. 

117



31 

 

 Collaboration with local promoters, musicians, artists etc. 
 Bring back the balloon festival 
 Promote nationally to start with 
 Don’t use advertising campaigns 

 

How do you think that tourism can be encouraged to promote learning 

about Northampton? 

 

 Open top buses (3) 
 Information about world war 2, the castle, link with the Royal family (3) 
 Shoe museums (3) 
 Make the shoe museum more manufacturing based.  Put on stage 

shows in making shoes. Hands on displays. (2) 
 Shoe fashion shows and show making course 
 Have a shoe fayre where all local manufacturers can come together 

and sell shoes a discount for one day a year 
 Haunted tours of the town 
 Work with English Heritage to promote Northampton 
 Guided tours around the town 
 Appeal to the varied history of the county. Variety attracts more visitors 
 Let schools, colleges and organisations show their creative faculties 
 A Northampton Lottery 
 Let Northampton’s history shine 
 Hold events at heritage places 
 Open air festivals 
 Ask local businesses to promote the town and events through their 

advertising 
 Use an easy to read “history book” 
 More use of the parks, rivers and canals 
 Easily viewed literature and signage around the town centre 
 More of a landmark made of the Queen Eleanor memorial 
 Celebrate the history of the town, linking a visit with Oxford or the 

Cotswolds 
 Bring back the Northampton show 
 Hold more enticing events to attract visitors 
 Special weekend events that revolve around the historical content of 

Northampton 
 Promote the civil war, Battle of Northampton and Bradlaugh 
 Use of the already popular/famous locations or individuals 

118



32 

 

 Promote Northampton on websites, motorway services information 
places, hotels etc. 

 Enter the Chelsea flower show 
 Introduce a phone app. about the culture; with prizes, discounts etc. 
 Promote the Old Northamptonians 
 Make the town more attractive to visit 

 

What should be the role of Northampton Borough Council and its 

partners in promoting the town? 

 

 Regenerate the town and introduce more “upmarket” shops (13) 
 Employ Tourist staff (3) 
 Full market up and running again (3) 
 Inter-Agency working, using the expertise within the county (2) 
 Have a good unbiased look at the town 
 Members of the Council to be proactive in promoting the town 
 Historical plaques  
 Liaison with local historical societies regarding the town’s history 
 Speak with local historians for ideas 
 Bigger events held 
 Work with the Royal and Derngate, University and colleges, 

professional sports clubs 
 Use sponsors and ambassadors – more promotion 
 Ideas, coordination and publications 
 NBC should facilitate and contract with an independent external 

organisation with a track record of delivering a successful campaign of 
marketing and promotion.  Professionals should oversee the contract 

 A greater online presence 
 Fund an education programme 

 

What would you like the promotion of Northampton’s culture and 

heritage to look like ten years from now? 

 

 Convene a small Working Group of local people to lead on this. 
 The town being a beacon of culture, shining out. 
 A museum and art gallery with lots of exhibits 
 A world class museum with exciting exhibitions 
 Encourage modern visual arts  

119



33 

 

 Print workshop, crafts centre, contemporary arts gallery 
 Exhibitions of a national standing 
 Build a sculpture park (in Becket’s Park) 
 More opportunities for traditional crafts to be learnt 
 Make residents of local towns aware of what Northampton has to offer 
 For the town to be full of events, culture, history and education 
 To be a destination that people want to visit 
 Vibrant events throughout the year, well-advertised. 
 A town that people are proud of and people of all ages can enjoy 
 Focus on diversity of people coming to the town, not just volume 
 Promote what is going on in the town – regular promotion 
 Wall to wall coverage 
 More for young people 
 Visitors happy to visit Northampton 
 Widen who you are appealing to. 
 For Northampton to look like Stratford Upon Avon did ten years ago 
 Northampton to be recognised alongside the other big cities in the 

country 
 Teaching local heritage to all Primary Schools 
 A rich and vibrant music scene showcasing the local talent 

 

Any other comments? 

 There needs to be more on offer within the town centre, other than 
eateries, restaurants and shops (2) 

 Tourist information to be available in a variety of languages 
 The town has a great theatre, nice bars, restaurants and a decent 

Rugby team but needs more 
 Listen to the local people to hear what they want 
 Lobby central Government for funding 
 On line promotion, apps. Etc. 
 A monthly flyer to schools, bus station, train station etc., promoting 

what is going on 
 More to do at lunchtime 
 Put in an ice rink, splash park for children, museums that are 

interactive and fun 
 Work with bigger bodies such as English Heritage 
 Tours of the Guildhall 
 Delapre Abbey should bring in visitors 
 Heritage open weekend was great 
 Promote events that attract visitors from outside the town 

120



34 

 

 Develop the town’s rich history 
 A list made of what Northampton has to offer and putting together a 

guide with a map 
 Try to have a big ten approach 
 A rehearsal studio and podcast network director offered to help re 

interviews etc. Contact details provided to the Scrutiny Panel 
 Promote ,promote, promote 
 Published short, medium and long term plan 
 Put information plaques on the older buildings 
 Concentrate on what makes Northampton great 
 Link “Visit Northampton” website from county and borough council 

websites.  Add more to “what’s on” on the websites. 
 Improve visitor information points (Edinburgh and Brighton good 

examples of best practice) 
 Speak with history students, history societies and campaign groups to 

see what is needed. 
 “Big Tent” approach 
 More activities for children 
 More music venues 
 Open St Peters Church to visitors 
 Free weekly walking tour 
 Engage with the people of the county 

 
3.3.6  Relevant Legislation 

             National Heritage Act 1983 

 

The 1983 Act established the Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission 
(known as English Heritage) and delegated the functions of scheduling of 
ancient monuments and listing of historic buildings.  Prior to 1982, other 
British ancient or historical monuments and buildings were protected through 
the Department of the Environment 
 

The National Heritage Act 2002, took effect on 1 July 2002, and widened the 
powers of English Heritage:  It permitted English Heritage to become involved 
in underwater archaeology in English territorial water and to trade in overseas 
countries. These powers have now been transferred to Historic England. 
 

o Historic Environment Scotland (HES) was formed in 2015.  
Historic Scotland merged with RCAHMS.  HES is a Non 

121



35 

 

Departmental Public Body and has charitable status, and gives 
advice to Scottish Government on historic environment matters.   

o Cadw (the historic environment of the Welsh Government) was 
formed in 1984.  Cadw is an historic environment service with 
the complete range of responsibilities for the conservation, 
presentation, and promotion of the built heritage of Wales on 
behalf of the Welsh Government. It is a part of the Welsh 
Government. 

 

Section 30 of the Act made provision for the designation and funding of the 
Armed Forces Museums. 
 
Full Details of the Act are available. 

 

           Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 and Listed Buildings 

 

The relevant part of this Act in relation to this Scrutiny review is: 

“Part 5 including Schedules 16-21 

Makes provisions to include sunset or review provisions in any secondary legislation. 

Amends provisions of the National Heritage Act 1983, the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to abolish 

Conservation Area Consent and improve the operation of the listed building consent regime. 

Makes provision for heritage partnership agreements and orders granting listed building 

consent, including procedural requirements; makes provision for certificates of lawfulness of 

proposed works to listed buildings; amends the Osborne Estate Act 1902 to remove the 

existing obligation to use parts of Osborne House and grounds for the benefit of the armed 

forces and civil service and repeals the Osborne Estate Act 1914.” 

Full details of this Act are available. 

           National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 

 
The National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 created the National 
Parks Commission which in 2006 became Natural England.  This Act set out what 
national parks would be like. 

 

           The Environment Act 1995 revised the original legislation and set out two 
statutory purposes for national parks in England and Wales: 

122

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/47
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/24/notes


36 

 

 Conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 
heritage 

 Promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the 
special qualities of national parks by the public. 

National parks have the duty to seek to foster the economic and social well-
being of local communities within the national parks. 

Full details of this Act are available. 

 

            Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 

          Section 61(12) of the Act defines sites that should have protection due to their 
being of national importance as 'ancient monuments'. These can be either 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments or     

         "any other monument which in the opinion of the Secretary of State is of 

public interest by reason of the historic, architectural, traditional, artistic 

or archaeological interest attaching to it". 

A monument is defined as: 

any building, structure or work above or below the surface of the land, any 

cave or excavation; any site comprising the remains of any such building, 

structure or work or any cave or excavation; and any site comprising or 

comprising the remains of any vehicle, vessel or aircraft or other movable 

structure or part thereof... (Section 61 (7)). 

It is a criminal offence to cause damage to an ancient monument and any works 
taking place within one require Scheduled Monument Consent from the Secretary of 
State. 

It is noted that Act provides for taking monuments into the care of the Secretary of 
State.  The monument would then be cared for and is usually opened to the public by 
the relevant National Heritage body. 

Part II of the Act introduced the model of Areas of Archaeological Importance, city 
centres of historic significance which receive limited further protection by forcing 
developers to permit archaeological access prior to building work starting. 

           Full details of this Act are available. 

3.3 Published Papers 

Précises of relevant published papers: 

         Preserving historic sites and buildings 

Parliament reports that it has recognised the need for the protection of 
monuments and buildings for well over a century.  It therefore introduced the 
first legislation “Ancient Monuments Protection Act of 1882” on the 

123

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1979/46/pdfs/ukpga_19790046_en.pdf


37 

 

preservation of archaeological and historic sites in Britain. This Act made 
arrangements for the 'guardianship' of some 50 prehistoric sites and 
appointed a single inspector of ancient monuments. 

Parliament goes on to report that responsibility for sites and monuments was 
developed through further Acts during the early 20th century. The most 
significant changes, however, took place after the end of the Second World 
War. The Town and Country Planning Act of 1947 began the system of listing 
buildings and structures of special historical, architectural or cultural 
importance. 

It is noted that the demolition of listed buildings, particularly in the countryside, 
continued almost unchecked in the 1950s and 1960s until rigorous new 
planning procedures were laid down in the Planning Act of 1968. This Act also 
explicitly introduced for the first time the concept of a listed building, a status 
which now carries full statutory obligations of care and conservation. 

Parliament created English Heritage by the National Heritage Act of 1983  

The National Trust, founded in 1895.  

            Building Conservation – “Heritage Protection in the UK – Key Facts” 

            Building Conservation published a short paper “Heritage Protection in the UK 

– Key Facts:” 

“Although the introduction of the NPPF in England and SHEP in Scotland have rather 

muddied the waters with overarching concepts such as ‘heritage assets’ and ‘significance’, 

the underlying systems of protection remain essentially the same throughout the UK. 

Scheduled monuments and buildings which are listed or in conservation areas are protected 

by law, and it is a criminal offence to carry out certain works to them without the necessary 

consent. Other types of designations, such as registered parks and gardens, carry no 

additional protection, although applications for planning permission may need to take their 

significance into account. 

DESIGNATION 
DISTRIBUTION 

England NI Scotland Wales 

Scheduled monuments 19,730 1,860 8,150 4,110 

Listed buildings 374,300 8,520 47,500 29,900 

Conservation areas 9,800 60 640 520 

World heritage sites 18 1 5 3 

124



38 

 

Historic parks and 
gardens 1,600 150 390 430 

  

The principal types of designation likely to affect historic buildings in the UK are shown in the 

table above, and the consents required are shown in the two tables at the bottom of this page. 

Listed Buildings 

Government and assembly government ministers are responsible for maintaining lists of 

buildings that are considered to be of sufficiently special architectural or historic interest to 

merit protection. Currently there are almost 460,000 entries in total, although as one list entry 

can include a terrace of houses, many more buildings are listed than this figure suggests. 

Entries are graded according to their significance: these are grades I, II* and II in England and 

Wales, grades A, B+ and B in Northern Ireland (excluding non-statutory grades), and 

categories A, B, and C in Scotland. However, it is important to understand that the statutory 

controls apply equally to all listed buildings, to their interiors as well as their facades, and to 

most older structures within their grounds or ‘curtilage’, irrespective of the grade of listing. 

In brief, listed building consent is required for any alteration to a listed building which affects 

its ‘character as a building of special architectural or historic interest’. Repairs which entail 

some element of alteration, such as stone cleaning, or replacing the roof tiles or slates, often 

also need listed building consent. Applications in England, Scotland and Wales are made to 

the local authority. In Northern Ireland they are made to the divisional office of the Planning 

Service. 

Ecclesiastical exemption: alterations to churches and other places of worship fall outside 

this system as most denominations enjoy ‘ecclesiastical exemption’, and have internal 

systems of control for approving alterations. Demolition still requires secular listed building 

consent as, in effect, the church is no longer in use at the point of demolition. 

Conservation Areas 

Local authorities are responsible for designating conservation areas and for developing 

policies to protect their character. Within them, conservation area consent is required for the 

substantial demolition of any unlisted building. Further control over alterations which affect the 

character of the area are exercised through the need for planning permission. However, 

owners of houses (technically, ‘single family dwellings’) enjoy certain ‘permitted development’ 

rights which allow them to make many alterations without the need for a planning application. 

It is these rights that are suspended where the local authority introduces an ‘Article 4’ 

direction, enabling the control over, for example, the replacement of windows and roof 

coverings, and many other superficial alterations that have destroyed the character of so 

many areas. 

Scheduled Monuments 

Buildings which are or could be habitable are generally listed rather than scheduled. 

However, the schedules, which are maintained by central and assembly governments, include 

standing ruins, which are often associated with listed buildings. Protection prevents almost all 

interventions without scheduled monument consent. Where a building is both listed and 

125



39 

 

scheduled, it is the requirements of scheduling that take precedence, and only an application 

for scheduled monument consent is required. Further information, including links to the 

relevant legislation, can be found on the websites of the four statutory bodies: Cadw (the 

Welsh word means to keep, save or guard), English Heritage, Northern Ireland’s Environment 

Agency, and Historic Scotland.” 

 

 SPECIAL CONSENTS 

Scheduled 

monuments 

Scheduled 
monument  

consent 

for all works including demolition, alterations and 
repairs 

Listed buildings Listed building 
consent 

for all demolition work and all alterations which 
affect its character as a listed building 

Conservation 

areas 

Conservation area 
consent 

for demolition of any building in a conservation 
area 

Planning 
permission 

for certain external alterations to houses where 
covered by an article 4 direction 

Other 

designations 
No special consents required 

  

LEGISLATION Primary Legislation Government policy and guidance 

England 
Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990  

The National Planning Policy Framework  

Northern  

Ireland 

Planning (NI) Order 1991  Planning Policy Statement 6 (PPS6): 
Planning, Archaeology and the Built 
Heritage  

Scotland 
Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) 
(Scotland) Act 1997  

Scottish Historic Environment Policy and 
Managing Change in the Historic 
Environment Guidance Notes 

Wales 

Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 
1991 

Planning Policy Wales, Government 
Circular 61/96 Planning and the Historic 
Environment, and  
Technical Advice Note 12: Design 

  Source:  http://www.buildingconservation.com/articles/heritage-summary/heritage-summary.htm 

126

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/nppf
http://www.planningni.gov.uk/index/advice/advice_legislation/advice_key_legislation/legislation_order.htm
http://www.planningni.gov.uk/index/policy/policy_publications/planning_statements/pps06.htm
http://www.planningni.gov.uk/index/policy/policy_publications/planning_statements/pps06.htm
http://www.planningni.gov.uk/index/policy/policy_publications/planning_statements/pps06.htm
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/9/contents
http://www.historic-scotland.gov.uk/shep-dec2011.pdf
http://www.historic-scotland.gov.uk/index/heritage/policy/managingchange
http://www.historic-scotland.gov.uk/index/heritage/policy/managingchange
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshofficecirculars/circular6196/?skip=1&lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshofficecirculars/circular6196/?skip=1&lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshofficecirculars/circular6196/?skip=1&lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan12/?lang=en


40 

 

        Department for Culture, Media and Sport – The Culture White Paper (2016) 

        The Executive Summary of the Culture White Paper is detailed below: 

“Everyone should enjoy the opportunities culture offers, no matter where they start in life.  

We will put in place measures to increase participation in culture, especially among those 

who are currently excluded from the opportunities that culture has to offer. In particular, we 

will ensure that children and young people from disadvantaged backgrounds are inspired by 

and have new meaningful relationships with culture. A new cultural citizens programme will 

be led by Arts Council England and the Heritage Lottery Fund and will reach across 70 areas 

where cultural participation is lowest. With the introduction of the apprenticeships levy, we 

will expect our larger cultural organisations to take on apprentices and promote diversity 

and inclusion in the workplace. We need a more diverse leadership and workforce in the 

cultural sectors. We will promote clearer pathways into the sectors, including tackling 

barriers to working as a professional in the arts. We will require funded bodies to publish 

strategies for increasing diversity. 

The riches of our culture should benefit communities across the country.  Our cultural 

sectors make a crucial contribution to the regeneration, health and wellbeing of our regions, 

cities, towns and villages. We will work with Arts Council England, the Heritage Lottery Fund, 

Public Health England and other partners to develop and promote the contribution of the 

cultural sectors to improving health and wellbeing. Culture has the potential to transform 

communities and our programmes including UK City of Culture, the Great Exhibition of the 

North, and the new £40 million Discover England fund will showcase this. We will push for 

new cultural partnerships to include a range of national and local partners. We will ask 

experienced national cultural leaders to work with those developing cultural partnerships. 

We will bring national arts and heritage Lottery funders together to work on a new Great 

Place scheme. This scheme will back local communities who want to put culture at the heart 

of their local vision, supporting jobs, economic growth, education, health and wellbeing. We 

will launch Heritage Action Zones in England. Our national heritage organisations will advise 

communities on how they can make best use of their historic buildings, including taking 

ownership of them. We will encourage councils and owners to make empty business 

premises available to cultural organisations on a temporary basis. We will provide £20 

million across 2016-17 and 2017-18 to extend the First World War Centenary cathedral 

repairs fund and establish a review to examine how church buildings and cathedrals in 

England can become more financially sustainable. Technology offers many opportunities to 

bring our culture to many more people in many different ways. We will work with our 

cultural institutions to make the UK one of the world’s leading countries for digitised public 

collections and use of technology to enhance the online experience of users. 

 

The power of culture can increase our international standing The UK is a leader in soft power. 

We are respected for our strong and stable democracy, our belief in individual liberty, our 

diversity and our freedom of expression. Our culture celebrates these values. We will build on 

initiatives such as the GREAT Britain campaign and the work of the British Council to create 

new opportunities for our cultural sectors to promote trade, exports and cultural exchanges. 

127



41 

 

We have increased investment in the GREAT campaign and will use GREAT funding to attract 

world-class events to the UK. We will promote a global cultural export programme with UK 

Trade & Investment to open up new markets, and ensure that the cultural sectors are able to 

participate in UKTI’s High Value Opportunity programme. In 2016, we will support 

Shakespeare Lives, a global programme of live performances, public screenings and digital 

activity to commemorate 400 years since the death of Shakespeare. We will work in 

partnership with Voluntary Service Overseas, who will use the Shakespeare celebrations to 

raise funds to support children’s literacy globally. We will strengthen legal measures to 

support cultural heritage around the world, especially in areas of conflict. We will create a 

new Cultural Protection Fund to help countries recover from acts of cultural destruction. 

Cultural investment, resilience and reform. We have a successful model of cultural 

investment in which public funding works alongside earned income, private sector finance 

and philanthropy. This mixture of income streams provides the basis for a thriving and 

resilient cultural sector. We will continue to support growth through investment and 

incentives. We are extending the VAT refund scheme for museums and galleries so that more 

can benefit from it, and we will introduce a new tax relief for museums and galleries in 2017 

to support temporary and touring exhibitions. We will consider changes to the Gift Aid donor 

benefit rules to make them simpler. We will increase the amount of investment eligible for 

Social Investment Tax Relief, subject to State Aid clearance. We will establish a new 

Commercial Academy for Culture to improve and spread commercial expertise in the cultural 

sectors. We want to see a rejuvenated approach to corporate giving. Arts Council England 

has commissioned a new Private Investment Survey to provide an overview of private 

investment, including corporate investment, in our cultural sectors. We will carry out tailored 

reviews of Arts Council England and the Heritage Lottery Fund. We will also carry out a wide-

ranging review of the museums sector.” 

 The White Paper is available. 

 

3.5                 Site Visits 

3.5.1 Site visits took place to Market Harborough and Rugby. 

 

 Key findings:  

 Both towns visited had a Tourism Strategy or similar. 

 Both towns have blue plaques  

 Harborough has a heritage guide and costs £1.   Rugby has one 
too.  

 Both towns have organised tours, led by volunteers. 

 Harborough had engaged volunteers in a number of ways – 
Cultural Hub, Groups such as Bloom and Litter Picking. 

128

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/510798/DCMS_The_Culture_White_Paper__3_.pdf


42 

 

 Both towns attract lots of visitors. 

3.5.2           Full details are at Appendix C 

 

4.  Desktop Research 

4.1.1  As part of its evidence gathering process for this review, desktop 
research was undertaken regarding best practice elsewhere: 

 Hull 
 Stratford Upon Avon 
 Leicester 
 Hay on Wye 

 
4.1.2 Appendix D provides comprehensive findings from the desktop 

research exercise. 
 

5                   Equality Impact Assessment 

5.1 Overview and Scrutiny ensures that it adheres to the Council’s statutory 

duty to provide the public with access to Scrutiny reports, briefing 
notes, agendas, minutes and other such documentation.  Meetings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Panels are 
widely publicised, i.e. on the Council’s website, copies issued to the 

local media and paper copies are made available in the Council’s One 

Stop Shop and local libraries. 

5.2 The Scrutiny Panel was mindful of the eight protected characteristics 
when undertaking this scrutiny activity so that any recommendations 
that it made could identify potential positive and negative impacts on 
any particular sector of the community.  This was borne in mind as the 
Scrutiny Panel progressed with the review and evidence gathered. 

5.3              So that the Scrutiny Panel obtains a wide range of views, a number of 
key witnesses provided evidence as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

5.4              Details of the Equality Impact Assessment undertaken can be located on 
the Overview and Scrutiny webpage. 

 

 

 

129

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/11


43 

 

 

6 

 

Conclusions and Key Findings 

 

6.1            After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were 
drawn: 

Vision 

 
6.1.1           The Scrutiny Panel felt that would be beneficial for there to be a vision 

for the town with a goal to be achieved.   The vision should be included 
within an Action Plan.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that the vision should be 
applicable from 2018 to 2025 and include “that by 2025 the cultural and 
heritage offer of Northampton is a town that recognises the positives 
associated with a town of rich heritage and historical significance and 
that this is at the forefront of the town centre offering to both new and 
existing residents, visitors and businesses”.  
 

Definitions 

6.1.2             The Scrutiny Panel supported the definitions of culture and heritage: 

 

Culture - “the arts and other manifestations of human intellectual 

achievement regarded collectively”. 

Tourism – “The commercial organisation and operation of holidays 

and visits to places of interest”.  

Heritage – “Valued objects and qualities such as historic buildings and 

cultural traditions that have been passed down from previous 
generations”. 

Promotion 

6.1.3      The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges that there is an apparent lack of 
promotional material available locally and regionally to promote the 
heritage and cultural offering in Northampton.  It highlights that 
Northampton Borough Council has a key role in the promotion of the 
town.  The use of existing infrastructure, such as the railway station, 
bus station, public transport and accommodation would be a useful 
quick and cost effective way of promotion, using a free map.  A cost of 
producing a free map has been estimated at around £2,500 for 5,000 
copies. 

130



44 

 

 6.1.4           Evidence gathered highlighted that there is a gap in how Northampton 
Borough Council (NBC) is working with its global brands to collectively 
promote the Northampton offer to a wider audience.  

6.1.5          The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges the need for NBC to work with  
various partners and groups in the promotion of the town and what it has 
to offer. 

6.1.6         The Scrutiny Panel recognised the value of the role of the Tourism 
Executive of Leicestershire Promotions; it was further recognised that 
Rugby Borough Council has the roles of Arts, Heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager, Town Centre and Tourism Team Leader and Place 
Marketing Officer. 

6.1.7a The Scrutiny Panel felt that there was a need to further develop the 
website “Love Northampton”; particularly with the inclusion of further 
facilities.  The website:  www.northamptonshiresurprise.com/.   is being 
promoted at the Grand Prix at Silverstone in 2018.  There would be no 
cost for the development of the two websites for Northampton; it would 
need to be programmed into work streams.  

 

6.1.7b        Evidence gathered highlighted that Hull benefits from a website entitled 
Heritage Learning.  The page states that it brings learning to life 
through diverse art and heritage collections at Hull Museums and 
Ferens Art Gallery.  The webpage includes a number of blogs ranging 
from information about Rugby football, Museum news, and how early 
years can benefit from the Museums.    An app. has also been 
developed – Curious Collector App. The app. gives details of what to 
do and was launched over the summer holidays last year. It became 
available from August 2017.  There would be no cost for the production 
of a similar app. for Northampton; it would need to be programmed into 
work streams.  

 

6.1.8             Hull was awarded City of Culture in 2013.  It has developed a  website – 
Hull 2017 – UK City of Culture details what’s on, what to visit and how 

residents can get involved. The website also includes details of the 
history of Hull and goes back to when it was founded a city in the late 
12th century.  A guide how to get to Hull is detailed along with useful 
information and getting around the city.  Merchandise, such as T-shirts, 
tote bags, pencil cases and baseball caps, can also be purchased via 
the website. 

 

131

http://www.northamptonshiresurprise.com/
http://www.heritage-learning.com/
http://www.heritage-learning.com/news/curious-collector-app
https://www.hull2017.co.uk/


45 

 

6.1.9           The Scrutiny Panel recognised the value of the website “Britain’s Best 

Surprise” and was pleased to note that Northampton is already 

promoted on the website and has received a number of hits, from both 
within Northampton and external to the town. The website includes 
various historical places and monuments around the town, such as 
churches, stately homes and monuments.  The Scrutiny Panel realised 
that some of the monuments, such as Eleanor Cross require 
maintenance. 

 

6.1.10 People need to be aware of what Northampton has to offer and this 
needs to be well promoted in a number of mediums. 

 

6.1.11 It was noted that the leaflets at Northampton train station do not contain 
information about Northamptonshire. This is similar in a hotel in the 
borough.  It was suggested that the Borough Council could aid tourist 
attractions as part of package.   The production of 5,000 would cost 
around £2,500 to produce. 

 

6.1.12 There is a real need to capture the interest of people coming to 
Northampton to shop at the shoe factory shop so that they visit other 
parts of the town whilst they are here   Shoes and lace are core to the 
town of Northampton.  There is a need to promote the shoe factory 
shops. It was acknowledged that this would be an excellent resource to 
the town. 

 
6.1.13 Evidence gathered highlighted that volunteers are key in the promotion 

of heritage and culture of a town and that a team of volunteers would 
be useful in promoting Northampton and what it has to offer.  This has 
been successful in Market Harborough and Rugby.    Market 
Harborough has volunteers for its Cultural Hub, Bloom and litter 
picking. 

 

6.1.14 Historical plaques are located in towns such as Rugby and Market 
Harborough and the value of which was noted by the Scrutiny Panel. 

 

   Retail and Retailers 

 

6.1.15 It was felt that a lot of people are unaware of the beautiful architecture 
of the town, a lot of which is second floor and above of buildings.  Use 
of the upper floors of the beautiful buildings should be encouraged. 

 

132



46 

 

6.1.16 It would be beneficial for the museum to put exhibits in some of the 
empty retail outlets in the town.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that the Officer 
responsible for the outreach programme could investigate a unit in the 
Grosvenor Centre for the display of Museum artefacts.  The costs for 
such exhibitions are around £12,750 for the exhibition production plus 
staffing costs of £1,300 whilst the exhibition is up. 

 
6.1.17 The Borough Council has a good working relationship with the major 

shop companies in the town and it would be useful to ascertain better 
working as a cluster.  Getting businesses together to liaise and share 
ideas would be an easy and useful solution. 

             
 

Heritage Trails  

 

6.1.18 The Scrutiny Panel supported the Ghost Hunt and felt this could be 
widened to a Heritage Walk or Trail.  Tours of the theatres could also 
be included. 

 
6.1.19 The Scrutiny Panel felt it would be beneficial to the town for the Green 

Badge qualification, offered by the Institute of Tourist Guiding (ITG) to 
be investigated for Northampton.     Councillors could be useful guides 
under the Green Badge initiative  

 
 Transport, Engineering and Industry 

 

6.1.20 Evidence gathered highlighted the importance of transport, engineering 
and industry in Northampton; for example the Transport Corporation is 
well known. 

 
6.1.21 There is a need for the history around transport to be promoted; along 

with the promotion of the two double decker buses that have been 
restored by two local groups.  These buses have previously been 
involved in Heritage Days and the Scrutiny Panel felt that they could be 
further involved in the heritage and tourism of Northampton. 

 

University  

 

6.1.22 The Scrutiny Panel welcomes the move of the University into the town, 
noting that it will change the culture of the town but felt that although 
the town was not ready for all the visitors that the University would 
create but acknowledged that it is an amazing opportunity for the town. 

133



47 

 

 

 Heritage Group 

 

6.1.23        The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the work of the Heritage Group that is 
chaired by the Leader of the Council, NBC, acknowledging that the 
work of this Group complements the work of the Scrutiny Panel, there 
is no duplication.  The Scrutiny Panel looked at promotion and the 
Heritage Group is undertaking a stock take of heritage and culture. 

 

 

 

 Education and Heritage Talks 

 

6.1.24 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges the value of the involvement of 
historians and those delivering and in education regarding the 
promotion of heritage and culture. The Scrutiny Panel further realised 
the importance and value of talks given by local historians. 
Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel had attended such a talk during 
the evidence gathering phase of this Scrutiny Review.  Hay on Wye has 
its own history group and is led by an architectural historian.  Various 
talks are given throughout the year, there is a small cost to attend. 

 

6.1.25 The Scrutiny Panel recognised the significant cultural tourist attractions 
around the town, including and not limited to 78 Derngate, Delapre 
Abbey, Royal & Derngate, Museum & Art Gallery, the site of 
Northampton Castle, battlefields and various churches. 

 

           Tourist Information Centre 

6.1.26 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledges the importance of a Tourist 
Information Centre.  For example, Hull has a Tourist Information Centre 
that is open Monday to Saturday from 10am to 5pm and Sundays from 
11am to 3pm.  The Scrutiny Panel felt it would be beneficial for a 
Tourist Information for Northampton to have a facility such as a café or 
library so that it is a vibrant place to visit. 

 

 

134



48 

 

 Signage 

6.1.27  The importance of signage is recognised.  A sign at the entrances to 
the town stating “Don’t drive through, stop and visit ….”   Would be 
beneficial.  The Scrutiny Panel realised that there may be a need for 
the relevant licence from the Highways Agency to be obtained to erect 
such signs and planning permission granted.  It is estimated that each 
sign would cost in the region of £2,000 each. 

 
6.1.28 Evidence gathered demonstrated the criteria for the erection of brown 

signage.  Delapre Abbey has brown signage. 
 

7 Recommendations 

 

7.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to review the promotion of culture 
and tourism in the Borough, concentrating on: 

 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national and 
global platform. 

 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse 
heritage and cultural offering. 

 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about 

Northampton. 
  

Key Lines of Enquiry 

  

 To gain an understanding  of the culture and heritage within the 
Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s tourism, heritage 
and culture offer is marketed and to identify any gaps that can be 
developed 

 To receive an overview of Northampton’s heritage assets 
 To review the extent to which an holistic image of Northampton as 

an attractive cultural, heritage and tourism place to visit 
 To understand the roles of both Northampton Borough Council 

and other partners in promoting the town of Northampton 
 

 Scrutiny Panel 2 therefore recommends to Cabinet that: 

7.1.1   An action plan is devised and ensures the marketing and the promotion of 
Northampton’s culture, heritage and tourism is effective and includes: 

135



49 

 

 The action plan includes a vision for the promotion of the town which 
includes the following definitions: 

 Culture - “the arts and other manifestations of human 

intellectual achievement regarded collectively”. 

 Tourism – “The commercial organisation and operation of 

holidays and visits to places of interest”.  

 Heritage – “Valued objects and qualities such as historic 

buildings and cultural traditions that have been passed down 
from previous generations”. 

and 

Aspires to be a city of culture in 2025 

 A free map, highlighting key attractions, is produced and disseminated 
via existing infrastructure, such as the railway station, bus station, 
public transport and accommodation. 

 A review is undertaken of the success of the Britain’s Best Surprise and 

funding is sought to support Northampton’s contribution to it. 

 An app. that gives details of what to do and where to visit in 
Northampton is developed similar to that produced by Hull – Curious 
Collector App.    

 Shoes, leather and lace manufacturing are promoted on the website 
“Britain’s Best Surprise.” 

 The Ghost Hunt is widened to a Heritage Walk/Trail that include tours 
of the theatres. 

  A trail around the town demonstrated by metal shoes is introduced. 
 The Green Badge qualification, offered by the Institute of Tourist 

Guiding (ITG) is investigated for Northampton in conjunction with 
Northampton BID. This qualification is opened to ward Councillors and 
Honorary Aldermen.   

 Exhibits of museum artefacts in empty retail units are displayed and 
promoted.  As a pilot, a unit in the Grosvenor Centre is used for the 
display of Museum artefacts.    

 Northampton Borough Council (NBC) works with its global brands to 
collectively promote the Northampton offer to a wider audience. 

 A cluster comprising the Borough Council and major shoe companies in 
the town is developed so that they can network and share ideas. 

136

http://www.heritage-learning.com/news/curious-collector-app
http://www.heritage-learning.com/news/curious-collector-app


50 

 

 Working with NBC’s Planning Department, encouragement is given to 

have a consistent and sympathetic appearance in accordance with 
Northampton’s rich architectural and cultural heritage, for shop 

frontages. 

 Work is undertaken on the promotion of the history of transport 
including the two double decker buses that have been restored by local 
groups.  The Northampton Transport Heritage Group is consulted 
regarding the promotion of the history of transport in Northampton.    

 In recognising that local historians give Education and Heritage Talks 
throughout the year; these talks are promoted on the website “Britain’s 

Best Surprise”. 

 A Tourist Information Centre for Northampton, is investigated located in 
a prominent place in the town, until the Museum is opened in late 2019; 
and a café is included in the extended Northampton Museum and Art 
Gallery is investigated.    

 Signs on the entrance to Northampton are erected that says what the 
town has to offer.   “Don’t drive through, stop and visit ….”   

 Brand Northampton as an exciting place to visit. 

 Blue plaques are introduced around the town. 

 Opportunities to promote our cultural heritage with Marlberg are 
investigated. 

 Funding is sought to maintain and upkeep monuments around the 
town, such as Eleanor Cross, the Tram Terminals and other historic 
buildings.  

 Flower displays are maintained all year round, sponsorship to purchase 
and upkeep more planters is sought.  Branding is in keeping with the 
signage. 

 A Co-Ordinator role similar to that of the Tourism Executive of 
Leicestershire Promotions Limited is established in conjunction with 
Britain’s Best Surprise aspirations for a Destination Management 
Organisation. 

 A Cultural Strategy for the Borough is developed to look at investment, 
opportunities, infrastructure to promote Northampton and grow the 
cultural sector, to make an application to be the City of Culture 2025. 
 

137



51 

 

7.1.2 As part of the induction process for Councillors, a leaflet of pamphlet on the  
history of Northampton is given to all Members.  The same leaflet is available 
for events such as Heritage weekends.     

 

7.1.3 A copy of the report is sent to Michael Ellis, MP, who has the role of 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary (Department for Digital , Culture, Media and 
Sport). 

 
7.1.4 Giving consideration to Unitary Status, civic pride and ceremonies are 

protected. 
           Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7.1.5  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 
reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

138



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

139



 1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
Appendix A 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2 – CULTURE AND TOURISM 
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 
 
 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national and 

global platform. 
 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse 

heritage and cultural offering. 
 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about Northampton. 

 
Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

  To gain an understanding  of the culture and heritage within the 
Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s tourism, heritage and 

culture offer is marketed and to identify any gaps that can be 
developed 

 To receive an overview of Northampton’s heritage assets 
 To review the extent to which an holistic image of Northampton as an 

attractive cultural, heritage and tourism place to visit  
 To understand the roles of both Northampton Borough Council and 

other partners in promoting the town of Northampton 
 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

   To recommend an action plan that will ensure the marketing and the 
promotion of the Northampton’s culture, heritage and tourism are 
effective. 

   To identify key areas to focus in order to enhance Northampton as an 
appealing place to visit and recommend a plan of action. 

 
 
 
 

140



 2 

3. Information Required  

 
 Background data   
 Background reports 
 Best practice data 
 Desktop research 
 Surveys 
 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 
 Evidence from expert external witnesses 
 Site visits (if applicable) 

 
4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 
 
Presentation to set the scene:  a summary of the current 
marketing of tourism, culture and heritage carried out by 
Northampton Borough Council, information regarding the key 
cultural, tourism and heritage assets within the borough and 
potential opportunities to attract visitors and the types of 
attractions which Northampton can offer   
 
 Relevant Legislation including: 

 
National Heritage Act 1983 
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013. 
National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949 
Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 
1979 
 

 Statistics: including: 
 

Website and Social media statistics 
Statistics: Visitors to the town and tourism in 
Northampton, in particular, Cultural Quarter and 
Heritage Sites 
 

 Relevant published papers, such as: 
 

Central Government’s paper “Preserving historic 
sites and buildings” 

141

http://www.parliament.uk/about/living-heritage/transformingsociety/towncountry/landscape/overview/historicsites/
http://www.parliament.uk/about/living-heritage/transformingsociety/towncountry/landscape/overview/historicsites/


 3 

Central Government’s paper “Backing the Tourism 
Sector A Five Point Plan” 2015 
Building Conservation.com “Heritage Protection in 
the UK – Key Facts”  
 

 Best practice external to Northampton/Case Study examples 
 

 Internal expert advisors: 
 
 Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Planning and 

Enterprise, NBC 
 Head of Economic Development, NBC 
 Head of Planning, NBC (for heritage) 
 Cabinet Member for Environment, NBC 
 Head of Customers and Culture, NBC, Town Centre 

Manager (regarding events), Cultural Services Manager 
(regarding events at the Museums). 
 

 External expert advisors: 
 

 Communications Director and Director with responsibility 
for events, Northamptonshire Chamber of Commerce 

 Director, Highways, Northamptonshire County Council 
 Director, Northampton BID 

 Director, Northampton Tourism Association 

 Director, Visit Britain 

 Director, The Association of Leading Visitor Attractions 
(ALVA) 

 Director, Historic England 
 Northampton Heritage Group  
 Director, Canal River Trust (CRT) 
 Head of History (Heritage), University of Northampton 

 Travel Agents in the town 

 Visitor Groups, Northampton 
 Residents and Visitors (through a survey) 
 Freeman of the Borough 
 Local Historian, such as Ms V Hedges 

 
 Site visit to various heritage and tourist attractions within the 

borough  
 
 
 

142

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/446167/Tourism_-_A_Five_Point_Plan.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/446167/Tourism_-_A_Five_Point_Plan.pdf
http://www.buildingconservation.com/articles/heritage-summary/heritage-summary.htm
http://www.buildingconservation.com/articles/heritage-summary/heritage-summary.htm


 4 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 
 Desktop research 
 Site visits  
 Officer reports 
 Presentations 
 Examples of best practice/case studies 
 Witness Evidence:- 
 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 
 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

  

 Martin Sutherland, Managing Director, Royal and Derngate Theatres, 
Northampton, to be approached to be co-opted to the Review 
 

7.  Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 
scope of the Review 

 
8.   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

June 2017 – March 2018 
 

 15 June 2016                        - Scoping meeting 
  13  July                                - Evidence gathering 
  14    September                   - Evidence gathering 
  4 December                        - Evidence gathering 
 18  January 2018                 - Evidence gathering 
 22 March                              - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 
 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

143



 5 

9. Responsible Officers 
 

Lead Officer   Ian Gray, Director of Regeneration, Planning and 
Enterprise  

Co-ordinator  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 
 
10. Resources and Budgets 

 
Director of Regeneration, Planning and Enterprise, to provide internal advice. 
 
11. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2018.  Presented by the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 
 

12. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months (approximately 
November/December 2018)  

144



 1 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

Appendix B 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2 – CULTURE AND TOURISM 
 

 
The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review: Culture and Tourism 
 
The purpose of the Review is  
 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national and 

global platform. 
 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse 

heritage and cultural offering. 
 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about Northampton. 

 
CORE QUESTIONS:    
 
A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base 
of the Scrutiny Panel:  
 

1. Please can you make suggestions for the Scrutiny Panel’s 
consideration how Northampton’s heritage and culture could be 
promoted on a regional, national and global level 

 
2. Can you identify any gaps within this marketing and the cultural and 

tourism offer and how it can it be developed.  Please provide details 
 

3. How could the vehicle of tourism be used to provide learning about 
Northampton. 

 
4. Please provide details of the roles of both Northampton Borough 

Council and other partners have  in promoting the town of 
Northampton. 
 

5. What do you want the cultural and heritage offer of Northampton to 
look like in 2025? 

 
6. Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation to 

tourism and culture in Northampton. 
   

145



 1 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

Appendix B 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2 – CULTURE AND TOURISM 
 

 
The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review: Culture and Tourism 
 
The purpose of the Review is  
 To promote Northampton’s heritage and culture on a national and 

global platform. 
 To increase visitor numbers to Northampton through its diverse 

heritage and cultural offering. 
 To increase jobs and spending linked to tourism. 
 To use the vehicle of tourism to provide learning about Northampton. 

 
CORE QUESTIONS:    
 
A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base 
of the Scrutiny Panel:  
 

1. Please can you make suggestions for the Scrutiny Panel’s 
consideration how Northampton’s heritage and culture could be 
promoted on a regional, national and global level 

 
2. Can you identify any gaps within this marketing and the cultural and 

tourism offer and how it can it be developed.  Please provide details 
 

3. How could the vehicle of tourism be used to provide learning about 
Northampton. 

 
4. Please provide details of the roles of both Northampton Borough 

Council and other partners have  in promoting the town of 
Northampton. 
 

5. What do you want the cultural and heritage offer of Northampton to 
look like in 2025? 

 
6. Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation to 

tourism and culture in Northampton. 
   

146



 
 

 
Appendix C 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2  
CULTURE AND TOURISM 

 
n 
 

BRIEFING NOTE: SITE VISITS 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 At its December 2017 meeting, Scrutiny Panel 2 (Culture and Tourism) 
discussed potential site visits and decided that it would visit: 

 
 Rugby and Market Harborough 

 
1.2 Other towns and cities were suggested: 

 Hull 
 Stratford Upon Avon 
 Leicester 
 Hay on Wye 

 
1.3   The findings from the desktop research regarding the other cities and 

towns listed above are detailed in a separate agenda item. 
 
1.4   Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair); Councillor Sam Kilby-Shaw (Deputy 

Chair); Councillors Arthur McCutcheon, Mohammed Aziz, Vicky Culbard 
and Zoe Smith together with the Scrutiny Officer attended the site visits. 

 
 

2 MARKET HARBOROUGH 
 

 
 147



 2 

2.1 The site visit met with the Tourism Executive of Leicestershire Promotions 
Limited.  The Tourism Executive works four days for Harborough District 
Council, the Authority pays his salary. 
 

2.2  A number of successful initiatives have been introduced including: 
 

 Networking with the managers of local hotels, bed and breakfasts, 
attractions, cafes etc.  Promotion of these is now via a micro site – 
“explore Harborough” that is contained within the full website “Go 
Leicestershire”.  Explore Harborough is building a mini brand. 

 Harborough by the sea 
 Harborough Cultural Hub – Has a tri-annual programme. The Hub 

comprises around 7-8 performing arts associations.  It is aimed that the 
Hub will become self-sufficient.  Prior to the inception of the Hub, the arts 
associations had not come together before to share information. 

 The Tourism Steering Group meets quarterly comprising around 35 
members. Each meeting commences with ½ hour of networking then ½ 
hour of an update and strategising.  It is very successful.  The meetings 
are initiated by the Tourism Executive and the Group encourages tourism 
businesses to come together. 

 There is a working document for Harborough that details what the key 
themes are in relation to promoting culture and heritage – A Tourism blue 
print.  There are a lot of events in the town which include: 
 

Farmers’ Market 
Arts Fresco (Street Art) 

 
2.3 Key strengths in Harborough include Alcohol Producers and Performing 

Arts Associations.  There is a need for different funding streams for 
tourism. 
 

2.4 Harborough used to have a blue badge guide but now tend to be self-
guided.  There is a Tourism Strategy for the district.  Blue plaques are in 
situ in the town. 
 

2.5 A heritage guide (copy appended); has been produced and visitors can 
buy this for £1.  A trail of the town has been put together.  It is aimed to 
attract coaches into Market Harborough.  There are two coach spaces at 
the indoor market, they drop off and then go off to the Leisure Centre to 
park.  The driver is provided with a voucher for a meal in the indoor 
market.  Visitors are then greeted by a volunteer from the Museum and 
showed around the museum and then a tour of the town.  This initiative is 
proving to be very successful but only two coach spaces are available.   
Market Harborough is felt to be a ½ day experience. Work is in progress 
with the County Show Ground regarding dedicated parking. 
 

148



 3 

 
 

2.6 An attractions map is about to go to print, which will include details of 
indoor activities, culture, family days out, places to stay etc.  Harborough 
District Council has paid for this as a “thank you”.   The map will be 
available free of charge. An app. “The Harborough Pass” is being 
developed. Work is also taking place with Visit England regarding the 
production of an itinerary. 
 

2.7 Links can be made between business and the local town; this includes 
international businesses; for example, there are 24 visitors from China 
coming to Market Harborough in February.  If this is successful, the 
initiative will continue. 
 

2.8 Harborough has two groups, made of volunteers – Harborough in Bloom 
and a Litter Pickers Group – both highly successful.  The Groups are 
subsidised by the Council. 
 

2.9 A “test event”  had taken place at Christmas at Foxton Locks.  It had been 
free to attend and had been run by the Harborough Cultural Hub together 
with Foxton Locks.  The event had included performing on the boats, 
such as short plays, music etc.  There had been very good collaboration – 
Foxton Locks had been promoted, and the performers also.  There is a 
need for an individual to get such events going and pull them together.  
The event was run for a second year and was organised by the Hub and 
Foxton Locks.  Tickets were sold for the second event so that numbers 
could be managed following lessons learnt from year one. 
 

2.10 The Canal and River Trust work with Union narrow boats and put on 
events, e.g., opening event at the new marina at North Kilworth. 
 

2.11 An app. has been developed around the incline plain. Visitors stand at the 
bottom of the incline and visualise the old boat lift. 
 

2.12 The town of Market Harborough is a sought after place for retailers, 
mainly independents, and empty shops do not stay empty for long.  There 
is a vibrant Chamber of Commerce in Market Harborough.  It is easy to 
park in Market Harborough. 

 

149



 4 

 
 

2.13 Lutterworth comes within Harborough district.  The town has a Retail 
Forum that is lobbying to raise the profile of Lutterworth.  A leaflet – “The 
Lutterworth Shopper” which is given out locally and to schools etc with 
different offers from the local shops. Events are often held at a cost of £3 
per visitor; often attracting around 200 people. 
 

2.14    The site visit had a short guided tour of the town noting some of the key 
features.  
 

 
 
3      RUGBY 

 

3.1 The site visit headed off to Rugby.  It met with the Arts, heritage and Visitor 
Services Manager and the Town Centre and Tourism Team Leader.  The 
town has a team of Town Guides, all volunteers that had initially been 
introduced during the Rugby World cup in 2015.  A new role has recently 
been established – Place Marketing Officer. 

 
3.2 The town of Rugby attracts a lot of oversees visitors. 
 
3.3 The site visit went to the museum and art gallery, both of which are free to 

visitors and also went along to Hall of Fame. Small admission charges for 
the Hall of Fame were introduced in 2017. The total integration of the 
library, museum and Hall of Fame works very well.  There is a need for a 
diverse offer, but the way attractions and the town is marketed and 
promoted is key to bringing visitors in. 

 

150



 5 

3.4 Plans are underway to increase the opportunity for the nighttime economy.  
Occasional evening events take place. 

 
3.5 Free tours of the town are offered and these can be booked through the 

Visitor Centre.  There is also a separate tour of Rugby School.  The tours 
aim to create a sense of local society and what to be proud of in Rugby. 

 

 
 

3.6 The Leader of Rugby Borough Council wanted schools in the town to 
know that Rugby football started in the town and there are links with 
schools in the borough (Key stage 1 and 2). The Authority has a part time 
Learning and Outreach Officer that develops the strategic programme 
programme and a part time Education Development Assistant that has a 
focus on schools and early years.  The schools programme is an 
important part of the service’s activity, linking the heritage and art of the 

town with the curriculum.  There is a need for an Officer to drive such a 
programme.  The museum has regular sessions such as parent and baby 
sessions and after school sessions. There is partnership working with the 
local Rugby College.    Lots of “classes” are held in the education rooms.  
Volunteers also help across the education programme.   Rugby Art 
Gallery and Museum is a Volunteer Maker Pioneer and has recently 
launched a website specifically for volunteers. 

 
3.7  The site visit had sight of the current display in the art gallery and 

museum.  There was a consultation board, for the public to add 
comments, regarding an HLF bid.  The relationship with the Arts Council 
is important, they are an Accredited Museum, they are not regularly 
funded from the Arts Council, but receive Grants for the Arts support. 
 

 
 

151



 6 

 
 

3.8    The Hall of Fame attracts lots of international visitors to the town. 
 

 
 

3.9     The Authority reviewed its Corporate Strategy in 2017 and the visitor 
experience/Tourism was prioritised.   

 
3.10 There is a good artist scene in Rugby. 
 
3.11 The Site Visit was privileged to go on a short guided tour of the town. It 

was not the full tour but a number of key attractions were observed.  A 
volunteer guide led the tour. 

 

                         
 
 
 
 

152



 7 

 
4 CONCLUSIONS 

 

4.1 Both towns visited had a Tourism Strategy or similar. 
 
4.2 Both towns have blue plaques, example of which above in paragraph 2.11. 
 
4.3 Harborough has a heritage guide and costs £1.   Rugby does too.  
 
4.4 Both towns have organised tours, led by volunteers. 
 
4.5 Harborough had engaged volunteers in a number of ways – Cultural Hub, 

Groups such as Bloom and Litter Picking. 
 
4.6 Both towns attract lots of visitors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Jamie Lane, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 2 – 

Culture and Tourism 
 

24 January 2018 

  

153



 
 

 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Appendix D 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2  
CULTURE AND TOURISM 

 
22 MARCH 2018 

 
BRIEFING NOTE: DESKTOP RESEARCH 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 At its December 2017 meeting, Scrutiny Panel 2 (Culture and Tourism) 
discussed potential site visits and decided that it would visit: 

 
 Rugby and Market Harborough 

 
1.2    Other towns and cities were suggested: 

 
 Hull 
 Stratford Upon Avon 
 Leicester 
 Hay on Wye 

 
2       HERITAGE AND CULTURE PROMOTION 

 

      HULL 

 

2.1 Within its Council webpage, Hull City Council has a local history and 
heritage page. 

 
2.2 The page details: 

 
 The history of Hull 
 Arctic Corsair  - a long and successful career as a fishing vessel, 

the Artic Corsair was laid up in 1987 
 Hull City Hall 
 Hull City Hall concert organ 
 Hull New Theatre 
 Hull Fair 
 Maritime Heritage 
 William Wilberforce - An MP for Hull and Yorkshire, William 

Wilberforce was responsible for leading the fight that led to the 154

http://www.hullcc.gov.uk/portal/page-_pageid=221,668314&_dad=portal&_schema=PORTAL


 2 

abolition of slavery and subsequently, the bill that freed slaves in 
British colonies. 

 
               Heritage Learning 

 

2.3     Hull also benefits from a website entitled Heritage Learning.  The page 
states that it brings learning to life through diverse art and heritage 
collections at Hull Museums and Ferens Art Gallery.  The webpage 
includes a number of blogs ranging from information about Rugby 
football, Museum news, and how early years can benefit from the 
Museums.   

 

2.4     Heritage Learning is a team of cultural and creative learning specialists 
based in Hull, East Yorkshire. It manages and delivers all of the 
creative and cultural learning programmes across Hull’s eleven 

museum, gallery and History Centre sites. Heritage Learning is an 
independent self-funded organisation operating on a not-for-profit 
basis. The organisation sits within Hull Culture and Leisure Ltd. 

 
2.5     There are six key themes to the webpage: 

 
 History 
 Art 
 Science 
 English 
 Geography 
 Outreach 

 
2.6     Each section is aimed at school years key stage 1 and key stage 2.  It 

includes “fun” learning such as shocking science, transport through 

time, bridge builders and Victorian toys and games. 
 
2.7     An app. has also been developed – Curious Collector App. The app. 

gives details of what to do and was launched over the summer 
holidays last year. It became available from August 2017. 

 
               Hull 2017 – UK City of Culture 

 

2.8    The website – Hull 2017 – UK City of Culture details what’s on, what to 

visit and how residents can get involved. The website also includes 
details of the history of Hull and goes back to when it was founded a 
city in the late 12th century.  A guide how to get to Hull is detailed along 
with useful information and getting around the city.  Merchandise, such 
as T-shirts, tote bags, pencil cases and baseball caps, can also be 
purchased via the website. 

 
155

http://www.heritage-learning.com/
http://www.heritage-learning.com/news/curious-collector-app
https://www.hull2017.co.uk/


 3 

2.9     It is reported that Hull was announced the winner of UK City of Culture 
2017 in 2013. The award is given every four years to a city that 
demonstrates the belief in the transformational power of culture. 

2.10      Hull City Council set up Hull UK City of Culture 2017 as an 
independent company and charitable trust. It states that the team 
delivered 365 days of transformative cultural activity in 2017. 

2.11       The arts and cultural programme for the year celebrates the unique 
character of the city, its people, history and geography. In 2017, the 
programme runs from 1 January to 31 December and is split into four 
seasons, each with something distinctive and intriguing to say, and 
each created to challenge and thrill. 

2.12       The Team advises that it is working with the artists of Hull to celebrate 
the culture of the city and its place in the wider cultural offer of the 
North, and make Hull a cultural destination for must-see events. The 
Team highlights that young people are at the heart of the programme 
– it is this group who will inherit the longer-term benefits as a result of 
its focus around learning and participation. The Team says that it 
gave every young person of school age the opportunity to participate 
in 2017. 

2.13       A guide to food and drink around the city is provided, along with a 
guide to hotels, accommodation, top attractions and a guide to 
theatres, museums and galleries. 

                Tourist Information Centre 

 

2.14         Hull has a Tourist Information Centre that is open Monday to Saturday 
from 10am to 5pm and Sundays from 11am to 3pm. 

 
               STRATFORD UPON AVON 

 

2.14       Stratford Upon Avon is included within the website entitled Heritage 
Open Days.  Local history, architecture and culture (all free) is 
promoted on the site.  Heritage open days for 2018 are scheduled for 
6-9 and 13-16 Septembers. 
 

2.15       Events to celebrate Heritage Open days in Stratford include escape 
centre – Stratford’s lost railways, Old Toll House, Shakespeare’s 

birthplace Trust – travels through Europe. 
 
2.16       Shakespeare Heritage Trails are promoted on Trip Advisor. 
 
2.17       Stratford Upon Avon has developed a website Visit Stratford-Upon-

Avon.  The website details attractions, what’s on, accommodation, 

eating, shopping and local interest. 
156

https://www.heritageopendays.org.uk/visiting/printable-area-lists/town/Stratford-upon-Avon
https://www.heritageopendays.org.uk/visiting/printable-area-lists/town/Stratford-upon-Avon
http://www.visitstratforduponavon.co.uk/event/heritage-open-days
http://www.visitstratforduponavon.co.uk/event/heritage-open-days


 4 

 
2.18      The Shakespeare Birthplace Trust has its own webpage, which is 

dedicated to information about Shakespeare.  Individuals can also 
book their visit on line to attractions such as Hall’s Croft, Anne 

Hathaway’s Cottage and Mary Arden’s Farm. 
 

LEICESTER CITY  

 

2.19       Leicester has developed a website – Visit Leicester.  The website 
includes details of what’s on, what to do and see, where to eat and 
stay, discover the county and information that is good to know.  
Details regarding Heritage Open Days are also included. 

 
2.20       “Good to know” includes information around the Leicester Information 

Centre, Railway and Bus Station, Bus Station, a City map and 
travelling around Leicester. 

 
2.21       “See and do” includes details around attractions, arts and culture, 

festivals and music, shops and markets and sports and recreation. 
 
2.22       Leicester City Council has a page within its website entitled Heritage 

Conservation.  Information contained within the page includes the 
Heritage action plan and details of heritage conservation.  There are 
links on the page to finding listed buildings, scheduled monuments 
and registered parks and gardens, the minutes of the meetings of the 
Conservation Advisory Panel and a search facility to find a heritage 
asset within the city on its mapping system: 

 

 red shows heritage assets (can be magnified) 
 
      Leicester Transport Heritage Trust 

 
2.23       The Leicester Transport Heritage Trust was formed in 2007.  The 

reported aim of the Trust is to research, preserve and promote 
Leicester and Leicestershire’s road transport heritage.  

 
2.24       The Trust provides details of news and events, such as the monthly 

meetings, bus and rail events and the full 2018 programme of events. 
 

157

https://www.shakespeare.org.uk/
https://www.visitleicester.info/whats-on/heritage-open-days-p722141
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/planning-and-building/conservation/heritage-conservation
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/planning-and-building/conservation/heritage-conservation
https://www.ltht.org.uk/


 5 

2.25       Details of the Trust vehicles are given that range from a 1950 Leyland 
PD2 double decker to a modern single decker. 

 
2.26       The Trust plans to conserve Stoneygate Tram Depot.  History of the 

trams and the tram depot are given on the Trust’s website; for 

example in 1968 the Tram Depot was used by the City’s Museums 

Department as a Railway Museum that opened on 27 July 1968.  Key 
facts on Stoneygate are given . 

 
2.27       The Trust provides the Story of Public Transport in Leicester. 
 
2.28          The Story of Leicester is another webpage that provides details 

and celebrates Leicester’s 2,000 years of history.  This is done 
through 90 heritage interpretation panels across the city.  The 
panels tell the story of Leicester, featuring information on key 
heritage buildings and well-known individuals associated with 
Leicester.  The panels are located in shopping centres, on 
medieval churches, near former warehouses and in front of the 
city’s iconic landmarks such as the Clock Tower and Corn 
Exchange.  Some are free-standing ‘totem’-style boards, whilst 
others are mounted on walls or railings.  Heritage panels can also 
be found in Leicester’s historic villages of Aylestone, Belgrave, 

Braunstone, Evington, Humberstone and Knighton.   The panels 
are grouped in themes to tell different chapters in the city’s story.  
Themes are colour-coded to make them easy to identify and 
explore subjects such as the city’s Roman origins, its industrial 
heritage or Leicester at the time of Thomas Cook.   A series of ten 
panels are linked to historic buildings and sites connected to the 
King Richard III story and Leicester. All are linked by a walking 
trail. Click here to find out more about the King Richard III walking 
trail. The Modern Leicester series also celebrates some of the 
city’s famous sons and daughters like Richard Attenborough and 
Sue Townsend.  There are location guides to the Interpretation 
panels detailed on the webpage. 

 
2.29      De Montfort University, Leicester  has its own Heritage Centre.  It 

showcases the history around the campus and tells the story of the 
university and its contribution to teaching, research and the lives of 
our students over 145 years. It hosts two gallery spaces which will 
support our ongoing temporary exhibitions programme.  The Heritage 
Centre also showcases the inspiring achievements of DMU staff and 
students, past and present.  The last Sunday of every month is 
dedicated to Heritage Sunday from 11am to 3pm. 

 
 
 
 

158

http://www.storyofleicester.info/explore-leicester/leicester-heritage-panels/
http://www.visitleicester.info/things-to-see-and-do/richard-iii/
http://www.visitleicester.info/things-to-see-and-do/richard-iii/
http://www.dmu.ac.uk/about-dmu/heritage-centre/heritage-centre.aspx


 6 

                  HAY ON WYE 

 
2.30 Hay on Wye has a Hay Heritage trail that is reported to cover the 

main story of Hay.  It is a 1.2km trail that takes around 60-90 minutes 
to complete.  This circular tour takes in all the main historic features 
of Hay, including the Cheese and Butter Markets, the Town Walls and 
Gateways. Then off to the Castle and the original Motte next to St 
Mary's church, historic wells and several pubs.  There is a cost to go 
along on the tour, £5 for adults, children under 16 are free. 

 
2.31  Hay on Wye has its own history group and is led by an architectural 

historian.  Various talks are given throughout the year,  there is a 

small cost to attend. 

 

2.32 Hay on Wye has its own website. The site provides details of: 

 

 Where Hay on Wye is located 

 Tourist Bureau (open daily from 11am to 3pm) 

 Visit Hay 

 Events 

 Images of Hay 

 Hay Tours 

 Hay Town Council 

 Chamber of Commerce 

 Hay Market 

 Other information 

 Weather 

 

2.33 Links are also provided to accommodation, bookshops, business, arts 

and crafts, food and drink and leisure. 

 

2.34 Each year the Hay Festival takes place.  This year it is from 24 May  

to 3 June 2018.  The programme of some six hundred events (including 
two free days for schools and a parallel programme for children and 
families, called HAYDAYS) takes place in the tented festival village 
during the spring bank holiday. Writers, politicians, poets, scientists, 
comedians, philosophers and musicians come together on the greenfield 
site to talk, eat, think.  Tickets range from £5 to £40.  A site map of the 

festival is detailed below: 

 

159

http://www.haytours.org/hay-heritage-trail-town-walls-route/
http://www.hay-on-wye.co.uk/info/hayhistory.htm
http://www.hay-on-wye.co.uk/tourism/default.asp
https://www.hayfestival.com/wales/index.aspx?skinid=1&currencysetting=GBP&localesetting=en-GB&resetfilters=true


 7 

 
  

 2.35        The history of Hay on Wye is provided via another website. 
 
2.36 Contained within the Cultural Trip website,  the top ten must visit 

bookshops in Hay On Wye are detailed with links and further 
information about the bookshops.  There is also a Hay on Wye 
Bookshop guide.  

 
 Coventry 

 

2.37 Recently, Coventry won the title of UK City of Culture for 2021.   The 
activity is being run by Coventry City of Culture Trust, an independent 
charity that has been set up to manage the process. Coventry City of 
Culture Trust, established in 2015 and it is currently in the process of 
appointing its Directors.  The other places in the running for the title 
were Swansea, Paisley, Stoke-on-Trent and Sunderland. 

 

2.38 Coventry 2021 – UK City of Culture reports that the Coventry’s 2021 

programme will include a Street of Culture programme co-producing 
work in local communities. The first build-up event will be the UK’s 

first Shop Front Theatre Festival on 23-24th March 2018 and the city 
will celebrate the 100th anniversary of its Cathedral with a major new 
lighting commission.  A 2.2 mile Ring Road poem is set to one of the 
digital centrepiece of 2021 along with major productions by the RSC 
and the screening of the entire works of Shakespeare in iconic 
locations. An artist-led festival called ‘Moments of Silence’ will create 

moments of silence and beauty and reflect on the city’s 700-year-old 
Carthusian monastery Charterhouse and play on the myth of being 
‘Sent to Coventry’. Coventry reports that building on the success of 
95-year-Old Indian Photographer Masterji’s exhibition, the city will 

develop a project Tale of Two Streets that looks at two of the most 
diverse streets in Britain through the eyes of photographers. 

Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Jamie Lane, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 2 – 
Culture and Tourism 

 

160

http://www.hay-on-wye.co.uk/info/hayhistory.htm
https://theculturetrip.com/europe/united-kingdom/wales/articles/hay-on-wye-s-amazing-world-of-books-top-10-must-visit-bookshops/
https://www.inprint.co.uk/thebookguide/shops/town.php?loc=Wales&locc=Mid%20Wales&loccc=HAY-ON-WYE%20%20Powys
https://www.inprint.co.uk/thebookguide/shops/town.php?loc=Wales&locc=Mid%20Wales&loccc=HAY-ON-WYE%20%20Powys
https://coventry2021.co.uk/news/


O v e r v i e w  &  S c r u t i n y  C o m m i t t e e

S C R U T I N Y  P A N E L  –  
D E M E N T I A  F R I E N D L Y  T O W N

M a r c h  2 0 1 8 161

Agenda Item 10c



 1 

Index 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword        2 
 
Executive Summary        4  
 
Final Report including recommendations    8   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   
 
Appendix B Case Studies 
 
Appendix C Power of Attorney  
 
Appendix D Core Questions 
 
Appendix E Desktop research   
 
Appendix F Findings – Site Visits 
 

162



 2 

 
Foreword 
 
The objective of this Scrutiny Panel was to investigate how Northampton can become a more Dementia 
Friendly Town. 
  

Key Lines of Enquiry 
 

 To gain an understanding of what Dementia is, and its symptoms 
 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friendly Communities Programme, 

Dementia Friendly Communities Recognition Process, the BSI Code of Practice for 
Dementia Friendly Communities (and the foundation criteria), 

 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friends Programme and Dementia Friends 
Champion  

 To gain an understanding of the effect on the health, wellbeing and the safety of 
people with dementia and their carers/families 

 To gain an understanding of current and potential partnership working 
 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to supporting people with 

Dementia 
 Identify any specific groups that are not  accessing services 

The Scrutiny Panel was made up from members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  myself, Councillor 
Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair); Councillors Mohammed Aziz, Rufia Ashraf, Janice Duffy and Dennis 
Meredith. We co opted Gwyn Roberts from Northamptonshire Carers to our Review and his knowledge and 
expertise was most valued by the Scrutiny Panel. 

The Review took place between June 2017 and April 2018. 

This was a very interesting and informative Review; with clear evidence received.  I thank all those who gave 
up their time to attend a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel to provide this information and all those who provided 
comprehensive written evidence.  I would particularly like to convey my thanks to the Lutterworth Care and 
Share Group that made the Scrutiny Panel feel so welcome when we visited in the autumn. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel held interviews with Cabinet Members, Senior Staff at Northampton Borough Council and a 
number  of external expert witnesses.  Desktop research was carried out by Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer. 
 
After each meeting the Scrutiny Panel would watch a short film, such as a TED film on research into dementia, 
assistance provided to those living with dementia and their carers and films around dementia friendly towns.  
The value of these short films were very useful in providing useful information to the Panel. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel was offered Dementia Friends training, which I can only commend. 
 
The result is a piece of work which recommends to Cabinet a number of key recommendations around 
Northampton becoming a dementia friendly town.    

I would like to thank everyone who participated and contributed to this very important piece of work. 

  

 
Councillor Cathrine Russell 
Chair, Scrutiny Panel 3 – Dementia Friendly Town 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

163



 3 

 
 
Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the Review: - 
 

 Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair); Councillors Mohammed Aziz, Rufia Ashraf, Janice 
Duffy and Dennis Meredith  who sat with me on this Review. 

 Gwynn Roberts, co optee, for bringing his expertise and knowledge to this Review  
 Councillor Anna King, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety, Councillor 

Stephen Hibbert, Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing, Phil Harris, Head of Housing and 
Wellbeing, Vicki Rockall, Partnerships and Communities Manager, Dr Tom Howman, Jackie 
Parkes, Professor for Applied Mental Health (Dementia Specialist) local GP, Rich Tompkins, Head 
of Protecting Vulnerable People, Northants Police, Dawn Rosen, Dementia Team, NHS 
Foundation Trust, Jason Ball, Transport Manager, UNO buses, Lloyd Butcher and Helen Crawford,  
Alzhiemers Society – Northamptonshire and Rob Purdie, Executive Director, Northampton Town 
Centre BID and Tracy Keats, Head of Safeguarding and Dementia, Northampton General Hospital. 

 Louise Musson, Call Care Manager, for providing expert information regarding dementia 
 A Market Trader for provided a response to the core questions of the Scrutiny Panel 
 Lutterworth Care and Share Group for making the Scrutiny Panel feel so welcome when it visited 

in the autumn 2017. 
 Gwyn Roberts, co optee for giving the Scrutiny Panel training on Dementia Friends  
 Antony Montague, individual, for taking the time to address the Scrutiny Panel at one of its 

meetings  

 

164



 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY    
 
The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the town of Northampton can 
become a Dementia Friendly Town. 
 
                                 Key Lines of Enquiry 
 

 To gain an understanding of what Dementia is, and its 
symptoms 

 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friendly 
Communities Programme, Dementia Friendly Communities 
Recognition Process, the BSI Code of Practice for Dementia 
Friendly Communities (and the foundation criteria), 

 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friends 
Programme and Dementia Friends Champion  

 To gain an understanding of the effect on the health, 
wellbeing and the safety of people with dementia and their 
carers/families 

 To gain an understanding of current and potential partnership 
working 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to 
supporting people with Dementia 

 Identify any specific groups that are not  accessing services 
 

1.2 The required outcome being to make recommendations for Northampton 
becoming a Dementia Friendly Town. 

 
1.3     Following approval of its work programme for 2017/2018, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2017 commissioned Scrutiny 
Panel 3 to undertake the review – Dementia Friendly Town.   An in-depth 
review commenced in June 2017 and concluded in April 2018. 

 
1.4 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Cathrine Russell 

(Chair); Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair);  Councillors 
Mohammed Aziz, Rufia Ashraf,  Janice Duffy, Dennis Meredith and Brian 
Sargeant.  Gwyn Roberts, CEO, Northamptonshire Carers was co-opted to 
the review. 

 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 

 
6.1.1           The Scrutiny Panel recognised the value of towns that have become 

dementia friendly and felt that it is very important for Northampton to 
become a dementia friendly town.   The Scrutiny Panel 
acknowledged that a dementia friendly town is one in which people 
with dementia are empowered to have high aspirations and feel 

 

165



 5 

confidence knowing they can contribute and participate in activities 
that are meaningful to them. 
 

6.1.2  Should Northampton become dementia friendly, the need for a 
“Dementia Friendly Town logo” was highlighted.  Hospitals often use 
butterflies logos so that non clinical staff are aware of people with 
dementia .  The Scrutiny Panel considered it would be beneficial for 
bus passes to contain useful information, on the back, such as “my 
usual stop is x” “please don’t start moving until I am seated”, for 
example.  . 

 
6.1.3            Evidence gathered highlighted that there is a real need for better 

understanding and awareness of people living with dementia and the 
Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that becoming a Dementia Friendly 
Town will help to raise awareness to family and carers and the public 
in general in recognising the signs of dementia. 

6.1.4          The Scrutiny Panel  deemed that it would be beneficial for the ransport 
Manager of UNO to liaise with the Head of Vulnerable Persons, 
Northants Police, regarding training around raising awareness of 
those living with dementia. It was acknowledged that Dementia 
Champions could deliver training to all bus drivers. Carers would be 
assured to know that bus drivers had received the awareness raising 
training. 

 
6.1.5         The value of “Keep Safe Cards” were acknowledged.  The cards are 

being rolled out to all those who are categorised as being vulnerable.  
It was felt that it would be useful for carers to carry an ID card when 
travelling with someone living with dementia.  

 
6.1.6          The Scrutiny Panel, in receiving Dementia Friends Training, recognised 

the value and importance of this training and felt it would be useful 
for all relevant staff at Northampton Borough Council to received 
Dementia Friends Champion training.  It was evident that more 
dementia champions are required from all levels of staff to ensure 
maximum effectiveness of the awareness campaign. 

6.1.7        A Councillor dementia friends champion would be useful and could 
encourage other Councillors to engage with the work of the 
Alzheimer’s Society and to be an ambassador for the Council.  

6.1.8     It was recognised that often referrals are received after Christmas or 
Easter, for example, where the family havent perhaps had regular or 
recent contact with the family member for some months and notice 
changes that concern them. 

 
6.1.9           Support Groups and Respite  Care  for carers are very important.  The 

value of Care and Share Groups, such as that offered at Lutterworth 
was recognised.  The Scrutiny Panel was delighted that St Peter’s  
Church, Northampton had set up a well-used Dementia Café. 
Northampton Interfaith Forum (NIFF) is also managing an action 
alliance.  To ensure information is available to all, the Scrutiny Panel 

166



 6 

felt that NIFF should be involved in the creation of an action plan for 
Northampton town to become a Dementia Friendly town. 
 

6.1.10          Evidence gathered demonstrated that there does appear to be a lack 
of support for young people living with dementia.  A Dementia Forum 
would be useful, with activities such as dog walkers and dog walks 
being offered. 

 
6.1.11        The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that communities with a mix of 

young and older people work very well.  
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 
The purpose of this Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the town of Northampton 
can become a Dementia Friendly Town. 
  
Scrutiny Panel 3 recommends to Cabinet :  
 
7.1.1 Northampton Borough Council works towards “Dementia Friendly Status for 

Northampton” being achieved.  A Dementia Friends Champion is nominated 
to lead on this work. 
 

7.1.2  A Dementia Forum is established. Northampton Interfaith Forum (NIFF) is 
invited to join the Forum.   
 

7.1.3 Northampton Borough Council registers with the Alzheimer’s Society as 
part of the Dementia Friendly Recognition Scheme. 
 

7.1.4 Dementia Friends information and training is included in both Councillor and 
staff inductions.   
 

7.1.5 A Councillor Champion for older people, focussing on dementia is 
appointed. 

 
7.1.6 The Dementia Friends Champion liaises with the local churches in 

Northampton to ascertain what Groups are currently available and whether 
further Groups such as Care and Share could be introduced. 

 
7.1.7 The Dementia Friends Champion has dialogue with the Transport Manager 

of UNO and the Head of Vulnerable Persons, Northants Police, regarding 
training for drivers of UNO around raising awareness of those living with 
dementia. 

 

167



 7 

 
7.1.8 The Dementia Friends Champion works with the Assistant Chief Executive, 

Northamptonshire Carers, regarding the introduction of ID cards for carers 
when travelling with someone living with dementia.  
 

            Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
7.1.9    The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
 

 
 

168



8 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Report of Scrutiny Panel 3 – Dementia Friendly Town 

1 Purposes 

1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the town of 
Northampton can become a Dementia Friendly Town. 

                   Key Lines of Enquiry 

 To gain an understanding of what Dementia is, and its 
symptoms 

 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friendly 
Communities Programme, Dementia Friendly Communities 
Recognition Process, the BSI Code of Practice for Dementia 
Friendly Communities (and the foundation criteria), 

 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friends Programme 
and Dementia Friends Champion  

 To gain an understanding of the effect on the health, wellbeing 
and the safety of people with dementia and their carers/families 

 To gain an understanding of current and potential partnership 
working 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to 
supporting people with Dementia 

 Identify any specific groups that are not  accessing services 
 
1.2  A copy of the scope of the Review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
2  Context and Background     

2.1 Following approval of its work programme for 2017/2018, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2017 commissioned 
Scrutiny Panel 3 to undertake the review – Dementia Friendly Town.   
An in-depth review commenced in June 2017 and concluded in April 
2018. 

2.2 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Cathrine 
Russell (Chair); Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair);  
Councillors Mohammed Aziz, Rufia Ashraf,  Janice Duffy, Dennis 
Meredith and Brian Sargeant.  Gwyn Roberts, CEO, Northamptonshire 
Carers was co-opted to the review. 

2.3 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 
corporate priority 2- Safer Communities (Making you feel safe and 
secure.) 

169



9 

 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be 
investigated and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate 

priorities: 

  
  3 Evidence Collection 

3.1 Evidence was collected from a variety of sources: 

 Background data, including: 

     
 Presentation to set the scene:  Being Dementia Friendly, 

Dementia Friends Programme, Dementia Friends Champion, 
BSI Code of Practice for Dementia Friendly Communities, 
Foundation Criteria 

 Relevant national and local background research papers 
 Definitions – Dementia 
 Relevant Legislation including: 

 
The Care Act 2014 

Mental Capacity Act 2005 

Human Rights Act 1998 

Mental Health Act 1983 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (2009) 

 Statistics: including: 
 

Number of people with Dementia in the UK and projected 
statistics 

Deaths per year attributable to Dementia 

Financial cost of Dementia to the UK 

Diagnosis Statistics 

Financial cost to health/cost of support 

 Relevant published papers, including    
Alzheimer’s Society Dementia Report 2014 

Alzheimer Society:  Building Dementia Friendly 
Communities – A priority for everyone 

170



10 

 

Alzheimer’s Research UK – Dementia in the Family; The 
impact on Carers 

 Best practice external to Northampton 
 Internal expert advisors: 

 
 Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety, NBC 
 Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing, NBC 
 Head of Housing and Wellbeing, NBC 

 

 External expert advisors: 
 

 Head of Protecting Vulnerable Persons, Northamptonshire 
Police and the Community Safety Partnership 

 Dementia Support Group  
 Alzheimer’s Society – Northamptonshire 
 Alzheimer’s Society – Northamptonshire Care Services 
 Age UK 
 Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire County Council 
 Professor in Applied Mental Health (Dementia Specialist), 

University of Northampton 
 Cabinet Member, (Adult, Social Care), NCC 
 Director, Adult, Social Care, NCC 
 Carers’ Associations 
 Cabinet Member for Education, NCC 
 Director, HealthWatch 
 Transport providers, bus companies, taxis and access to train 

station 
 Director, Olympus Care 
 Representatives from Private Care Homes 
 Director, Highways, NCC 
 Managing Director, Business Improvement District (BID) 
 Faith Forum, Bangladeshi Society, Sikh Group etc. 
 Northampton Health Trust 
 Dementia Team, Northampton General Hospital 
 Case Studies from Ward Councillors 

 

 Site visit   - Best practice – Dementia Friendly Towns 
 
 
 

171



11 

 

 
3.2                Background reports and information 
 

Presentation to set the scene -  Being Dementia Friendly, Dementia 
Friends Programme, Dementia Friends Champion, BSI Code of 
Practice for Dementia Friendly Communities, Foundation Criteria 

The recognition process enables communities to be publicly recognised 
for their work towards becoming dementia-friendly. The process asks 
communities to commit to delivering change and is structured around 2 
key documents:  

 The BSI Code of Practice for dementia friendly communities 
and;  

 The foundation criteria for dementia-friendly communities 

The Code of practice providing guidance and structure for communities 
around what ‘dementia-friendly' looks like and what the key areas for 
action are in working to achieve a dementia-friendly community, 
including: 

  arts, culture, leisure, and recreation  

 businesses and shops; 

  children, young people and students;  

 community, voluntary, faith groups  

  organisations;  

 emergency services; 

  health and social care;  

 housing; 

 transport 

There is seven foundation criteria that are used to help a community or 
town to become dementia friendly: 

1  Make sure you have the right local structure in place to 
maintain a sustainable dementia friendly community e.g. such 
as a DAA  

172

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=860&MId=8482&Ver=4


12 

 

2.  Identify a person or people to take responsibility for driving 
forward the work to support your community to become 
dementia friendly and ensure that individuals, organisations 
and businesses are meeting their stated commitments  

3. Have a plan to raise awareness about dementia in key 
organisations and businesses within the community that 
support people with dementia  

4.   Develop a strong voice for people with dementia living in your 
communities. This will give your plan credibility and will make 
sure it focuses on areas people with dementia feel are most 
important.  

5. Raise the profile of your work to increase reach and awareness 
to different groups in the community.  

6.  Focus your plans on a number of key areas that have been 
identified locally  

7.   Have in place a plan or system to update the progress of your 
community after 6 months and one year 

Dementia Friend 

A Dementia Friend learns a little bit more about what it's like to live with 
dementia and then turns that understanding into action - anyone of any 
age or background can be a Dementia Friend. Training can be either a 
face-to-face Dementia Friends Information Session or by an online 
video. Dementia Friends is about learning more about dementia and 
the small ways you can help, this could be as simple as telling friends 
about being a Dementia Friend or visiting someone you know living 
with dementia, every action counts in making people living with 
dementia lives a little easier. 

3.3                What is Dementia? 

‘Dementia’ is an umbrella term and refers to a set of symptoms that 
occur when the brain is damaged by a disease like Alzheimer’s or by 

small strokes.  

Symptoms may include:  

 difficulties with memory and thinking  

 difficulties with completing or initiating everyday tasks, such as 
going the bank or making lunch 

173



13 

 

 problems with communication and language 

 difficulties with perception, looking at reflections  

Conditions which cause dementia are usually progressive, and 
symptoms worsen over time.  Every experience of dementia is different 
including rates of progression and symptoms. There is currently no 
cure for dementia, but with help and support, people with dementia can 
live well and carry on with their lives.  The Equality Act 2010 
recognises dementia as a disability 

3.4   Relevant Legislation 

3.4.1            The Care Act 2014 

The Social Care Institute for Excellence has produced an easy read summary 
of the Care Act 2014, which highlights the key aspects of the Act: 

 

“The Care Act is a new law that means councils must have an independent advocacy 

service for people who find it difficult to have a say in their care and services and do 

not have someone to help them with this. Independent means the service is not 

controlled by the council and only thinks about what people they are helping want. 

Independent advocacy is about giving people as much control as possible in their 

lives. It helps people understand information, say what they want and what they 

need and get the services they need.  

Advocates work with people as partners and are always on their side. 

Advocacy helps people in general and helps everyone to live together. It helps people 

to be part of things, be equal with other people and get their rights.  

The new law means more people are likely to use advocacy and councils will need to 

plan for this. This might be hard because there will be times when there are more 

people using advocacy services and times when there are not so many. 

Councils already have to have some advocacy services. These services are called 

Independent Mental Capacity Advocacy, Independent Mental Health Advocacy and 

NHS Complaints Advocacy. Some councils also have other advocacy services as they 

think they would be useful for people. Complaint means saying that something is 

wrong with a service and asking for it to be sorted out. When councils are thinking 

about what the Care Act says advocacy services they should use what is already there 

and work with organisations who already do advocacy. 

The councils should make sure the organisations they pay to run advocacy services 

under the Care Act can be flexible and can give help to all the people that need it. A 

lot more people are likely to use advocacy services when the Care Act takes effect in 

April 2015.  

174



14 

 

Councils should get as much information as possible about advocacy services so they 

can plan for the future.  

They should use this information to help them work out who should run advocacy 

services, how they work out who needs advocacy, how advocacy services should work 

and working out where new services are needed.  

Training is important for everyone who is working on advocacy services including the 

people in the council who choose the organisations to run the services. They need to 

know about everything the law says the council has to do including how people first 

get advocacy, how advocacy works and how people get the service 

It is best for councils to do all these things using co-production with local people who 

use services and carers. It is also important to work with organisations that run 

advocacy services or might run them in the future. Co-production means working 

together with people who use services and carers as equal partners.” 

Source: http://www.scie.org.uk/care-act-2014/advocacy-services/commissioning-independent-
advocacy/easy-read/ 

 

The Act is available. 

 

3.3.2   Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 

The Social Care Institute for Excellence has produced an easy read summary 
of the Mental Capacity Act 2005, which highlights the key aspects of the Act: 

 

  “Key Messages 

 The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 applies to everyone involved in the care, treatment 
and support of people aged 16 and over living in England and Wales who are unable to 
make all or some decisions for themselves. 

 The MCA is designed to protect and restore power to those vulnerable people who lack 
capacity. 

 The MCA also supports those who have capacity and choose to plan for their future – this 
is everyone in the general population who is over the age of 18. 

 All professionals have a duty to comply with the Code of Practice. It also provides support 
and guidance for less formal carers. 

 The Act’s five statutory principles are the benchmark and must underpin all acts carried 
out and decisions taken in relation to the Act. 

 Anyone caring for or supporting a person who may lack capacity could be involved in 
assessing capacity – follow the two-stage test. 

 The MCA is designed to empower those in health and social care to assess capacity 
themselves, rather than rely on expert testing – good professional training is key 

 If capacity is lacking, follow the checklist described in the Code to work out the best 
interests of the individual concerned 

 Understanding and using the MCA supports practice – for example, application of the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

175

http://www.scie.org.uk/care-act-2014/advocacy-services/commissioning-independent-
http://www.scie.org.uk/care-act-2014/advocacy-services/commissioning-independent-
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted


15 

 

 

  Introduction 

This Act a glance summary presents an overview of the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005, 

which is important to health and social care practice. 

The MCA has been in force since 2007 and applies to England and Wales. The primary purpose of 

the MCA is to promote and safeguard decision-making within a legal framework. It does this in two 

ways: 

 by empowering people to make decisions for themselves wherever possible, and by protecting 
people who lack capacity by providing a flexible framework that places individuals at the 
heart of the decision-making process 

 by allowing people to plan ahead for a time in the future when they might lack the capacity, 
for any number 

 Reach 

About two million people in England and Wales are thought to lack capacity to make decisions for 

themselves. They are cared for by around six million people, including a broad range of health and 

social care staff, plus unpaid carers. Those working in health and social care include: doctors, 

nurses, dentists, psychologists, occupational, speech and language therapists, social workers, 

residential and care home managers, care staff (including domiciliary care workers), and support 

workers (including people who work in supported housing). 

 A lack of mental capacity could be due to: 

 a stroke or brain injury 

 a mental health problem 

 dementia  

 a learning disability  

 confusion, drowsiness or unconsciousness because of an illness of the treatment for it 

 substance misuse. 
 

Five key principles 

The Act is underpinned by five key principles (Section 1, MCA). It is useful to consider the 

principles chronologically: principles 1 to 3 will support the process before or at the point of 

determining whether someone lacks capacity. Once you’ve decided that capacity is lacking, use 

principles 4 and 5 to support the decision-making process. 

Principle 1: A presumption of capacity 

Every adult has the right to make his or her own decisions and must be assumed to have capacity to 

do so unless it is proved otherwise. This means that you cannot assume that someone cannot make a 

decision for themselves just because they have a particular medical condition or disability. 

176



16 

 

Principle 2: Individuals being supported to make their own decisions 

A person must be given all practicable help before anyone treats them as not being able to make their 

own decisions. This means you should make every effort to encourage and support people to make the 

decision for themselves. If lack of capacity is established, it is still important that you involve the 

person as far as possible in making decisions. 

Principle 3: Unwise decisions 

People have the right to make decisions that others might regard as unwise or eccentric. You cannot 

treat someone as lacking capacity for this reason. Everyone has their own values, beliefs and 

preferences which may not be the same as those of other people. 

Principle 4: Best interests 

Anything done for or on behalf of a person who lacks mental capacity must be done in their best 

interests. 

Principle 5: Less restrictive option 

Someone making a decision or acting on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must consider whether 

it is possible to decide or act in a way that would interfere less with the person’s rights and freedoms 

of action, or whether there is a need to decide or act at all. Any intervention should be weighed up in 

the particular circumstances of the case. 

Assessment of capacity and best interests decision-making (Sections 2–4, MCA) 

What is mental capacity and when might you need to assess capacity? 

Having mental capacity means that a person is able to make their own decisions. You should always 

start from the assumption that the person has the capacity to make the decision in question (principle 

1). You should also be able to show that you have made every effort to encourage and support the 

person to make the decision themselves (principle 2). You must also remember that if a person makes a 

decision which you consider eccentric or unwise, this does not necessarily mean that the person lacks 

the capacity to make the decision (principle 3). Under the MCA, you are required to make an 

assessment of capacity before carrying out any care or treatment – the more serious the decision, the 

more formal the assessment of capacity needs to be. 

When should capacity be assessed? 

You might need to assess capacity where a person is unable to make a particular decision at a 

particular time because their mind or brain is affected by illness of disability. Lack of capacity may not 

be a permanent condition. Assessments of capacity should be time- and decision-specific. You cannot 

decide that someone lacks capacity based upon age, appearance, condition or behaviour alone. 

177



17 

 

The test to assess capacity 

Two-stage functional test of capacity 

In order to decide whether an individual has the capacity to make a particular decision you must 

answer two questions: 

Stage 1. Is there an impairment of or disturbance in the functioning of a person’s mind or brain? If so, 

Stage 2. Is the impairment or disturbance sufficient that the person lacks the capacity to make a 

particular decision? 

The MCA says that a person is unable to make their own decision if they cannot do one or more of the 

following four things: 

 understand information given to them 

 retain that information long enough to be able to make the decision 

 weigh up the information available to make the decision 

 communicate their decision – this could be by talking, using sign language or even 
simple muscle movements such as blinking an eye or squeezing a hand. 

 

Every effort should be made to find ways of communicating with someone before deciding that they lack 

capacity to make a decision based solely on their inability to communicate. Also, you will need to involve 

family, friends, carers or other professionals. 

The assessment must be made on the balance of probabilities – is it more likely than not that the person 

lacks capacity? You should be able to show in your records why you have come to your conclusion that 

capacity is lacking for the particular decision. 

Best interests decision-making 

If a person has been assessed as lacking capacity then any action taken, or any decision made for or on 

behalf of that person, must be made in his or her best interests (principle 4). The person who has to make 

the decision is known as the ‘decision-maker’ and normally will be the carer responsible for the day-to-

day care, or a professional such as a doctor, nurse or social worker where decisions about treatment, 

care arrangements or accommodation need to be made. 

What is ‘best interests’? 

The Act provides a non-exhaustive checklist of factors that decision-makers must work through in 

deciding what is in a person’s best interests. A person can put his/her wishes and feelings into a written 

statement if they so wish, which the person determining capacity must consider. In addition, people 

involved in caring for the person lacking capacity have to be consulted concerning a person’s best 

interests.” 

          Source:  http://www.scie.org.uk/mca/introduction/mental-capacity-act-2005-at-a-glance 

 

1 The Act is available. 

178

http://www.scie.org.uk/mca/introduction/mental-capacity-act-2005-at-a-glance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents


18 

 

 

3.3.3 Human Rights Act 1998 

  The Human Rights Act, came into full force on 2 October 2000.  

   The intention of introducing the Act is – 

"To help create a society in which people’s rights and responsibilities are properly 

balanced and where an awareness of the Convention rights permeates our 

government and legal systems at all levels." 

  

The Human Rights Act places a duty on all courts and tribunals in the UK to interpret 
legislation so far as possible in a way compatible with the rights laid down in the 
European Convention on Human Rights (section 3(1)). Where this is not possible, the 
court may issue a "declaration of incompatibility". The declaration does not invalidate 
the legislation, but permits the amendment of the legislation by a special fast-track 
procedure under section 10 of the Act.  

The Human Rights Act applies to all public bodies within the United Kingdom, 
including central government, local authorities, and bodies exercising public 
functions. However, it does not include Parliament when it is acting in its legislative 
capacities. 

Key aspects of the Act: 

Absolute rights are those that cannot be infringed. 

Limited Rights are those that can, under explicit circumstances identified in the 
Convention, be limited. 

Qualified Rights are rights that can be interfered with if what is done: 

 has a legal basis 

 is necessary in a democratic society i.e. it fulfils a pressing social need, 

pursues a legitimate aim and is proportionate to the aims being pursued 

 is related to the aim set out in the relevant article e.g. the prevention of 

crime, the protection of public order, health or morals 

           Qualified rights are: 

 the right to respect for private and family life 

 rights relating to religion 

179



19 

 

 the right to freedom of expression 

 the right to freedom of assembly and association 

 the right to the peaceful enjoyment of property 

 the right to education 

          The Convention allows rights to be interfered with to support a democratic society. 

 

3.3.4     Mental Health Act 1983 (amended in 1987) 

           The Mental Health Act is the Act which sets out when you can be admitted, detained 

and treated in hospital against your wishes. It is also known as being 'sectioned'.  

You have certain rights under the Mental Health Act, including the right to appeal and 

the right to get help from an advocate. 

 The Mental Health Act has a number of sections that contain information on: 

 Your rights when you are detained in hospital against your wishes (see our 

legal pages on sectioning).  

 Your family's rights when you are detained (see our legal pages on nearest 

relative).  

 Your rights when you are detained in hospital and also part of the criminal 

justice system (see our legal pages on mental health and the courts, mental 

health and the police and sectioning).  

 Your rights around consent to treatment when you are detained (see our legal 

pages on consent to medical treatment).  

 Your rights when you are being treated in the community 

     The Act is available  

 

3.3.5     Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (2009) 

 

180

http://www.mentalhealthlaw.co.uk/Mental_Health_Act_1983


20 

 

      The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards were introduced in 2009. They are part of the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA). They are used to protect the rights of people who 
lack the ability (mental capacity) to make certain decisions for themselves.  The 
safeguards cover patients in hospitals, and people in care homes registered under 
the Care Standards Act 2000, whether placed under public or private arrangements. 

          Key Information 

 

Key information regarding Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards as reported by the 
Social Care Institute for Excellence: 

 

 “The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards are an amendment to the Mental Capacity 
Act 2005. They apply in England and Wales only. 

 The Mental Capacity Act allows restraint and restrictions to be used – but only if they 
are in a person's best interests. 

 Extra safeguards are needed if the restrictions and restraint used will deprive a 
person of their liberty. These are called the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. 

 The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards can only be used if the person will be deprived 
of their liberty in a care home or hospital. In other settings the Court of Protection 
can authorise a deprivation of liberty. 

 Care homes or hospitals must ask a local authority if they can deprive a person of 
their liberty. This is called requesting a standard authorisation. 

 There are six assessments which have to take place before a standard authorisation 
can be given. 

 If a standard authorisation is given, one key safeguard is that the person has 
someone appointed with legal powers to represent them. This is called the relevant 
person's representative and will usually be a family member or friend. 

 Other safeguards include rights to challenge authorisations in the Court of 
Protection, and access to Independent Mental Capacity Advocates (IMCAs).” 

 

                                   Source:  http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/ataglance/ataglance43.asp 

3.5                 Equipment Demonstration 

The Call Centre Manager gave the he Scrutiny Panel a short 
demonstration on the equipment available to people living with dementia 
that are customers of the Council’s call care system. 

3.5              Case Studies 
 
 Detailed at Appendix B are details of case studies of people living with 

dementia. 
 
3.6              Power of Attorney 
 
                   Detailed at Appendix C is information regarding Power of Attorney. 

181

http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/ataglance/ataglance43.asp


21 

 

 
3.7               Core Questions 
 

3.7.1 The Scrutiny Panel devised a series of core questions that it put to its 
key witnesses over a cycle of meetings (Copy at Appendix D). 

3.7.2 Key witnesses provided a response to these core questions at the 
meetings of the Scrutiny Panel held on 21 September 2017, 27 
November, 25 January 2018 and 26 March. 

 

 

 

3.7.3 Salient points of evidence: 

 

 Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety and 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing 

 Dementia is when part of the brain is damaged, it can be through 

disease (such as Alzheimer’s) or strokes, brain damage or other 
factors. 1The most common cause of dementia is Alzheimer's disease. 
Common symptoms of Alzheimer's disease and other forms of 
dementia include: 

 
 memory loss – especially problems with memory for 

recent events, such as forgetting messages, 
remembering routes or names, and asking questions 
repetitively 

 increasing difficulties with tasks and activities that 
require organisation and planning 

 becoming confused in unfamiliar environments and 
problems with perception 

 difficulty finding the right words 
 difficulty with numbers and/or handling money in shops 
 changes in personality and mood 
 depression 

2Effects of dementia Impact on individual 

                                                           
 
2  

182



22 

 

Cognitive effects 

 Difficulty in recognising people 
and places 

 Remembering pin & phone 
numbers 

 Remembering where they live 
and difficulty in finding their way 
home 

 Poor short term memory 
 Easily confused and muddled 
 Poor concentration, attention and 

easily distracted 
 Unable to think clearly or problem 

solve 
 Difficulty in learning new things 

Functional effects 

 Difficulty in completing the 
everyday tasks and activities of 
independent living 

 Difficulty in handling and 
managing money 

 Difficulty in keeping safe with 
appliances e.g. gas and electric 
cooking, ironing, boiling kettles etc. 

 Difficulty in knowing what to do 
next especially if out of routine 

 Problems following social cues 
 Word finding difficulty or loss of 

verbal skills 
 Slower reactions 

Behavioural effects 

 Loss of social skills 
 Over active response to changes 

or stimuli in the environment 
 Repetitive behaviour patterns 
 Physical or verbal aggression 
 Inappropriate responses or 

behaviours 

Psychological effects 

 Irritability 
 Mood swings 
 Frustration and anger with self 

and others 
 Changes in personality 
 Anxiety 
 Loss of motivation 

183



23 

 

 Depression 

 
 Partnerships and Communities Team have supported by becoming 

‘dementia friends’, we have all received the training. Nisha Mejer, 
Partnerships and Communities Support Officer is trained as a 
Dementia Champion and has provided training for the women’s forum 
also.  

 As part of the Northamptonshire and Northampton DAA, NBC work with 
health, education, care and voluntary organisations to gain a better 
understanding of the issues surrounding people living with dementia 
and their carer’s. 

 There is potential to work with local business and organisations to 
promote awareness and to work with others to ensure NBC is 
Dementia Friendly 

 In 2013 Alzheimer’s report identified that there may be some cultural 
barriers for BME groups at accessing Dementia Support.  One of which 
was lack of awareness and the support available. 

 Business owners, bank owners, and faith communities might interact 
more positively with dementia residents, rather than react with 
avoidance or embarrassment. 

 Community leaders could help connect community members with 
dementia resources. 

 Community safety would increase through better protection of elders, 
and those with cognitive impairment, from harm and abuse. 

 More family members would seek diagnosis earlier, resulting in better 
treatment/care management, earlier connection to support resources, 
and improved decision making. 

 Dementia friendly communities provide more opportunities for people 
with dementia to experience feelings of normalcy and personal value. 
People with dementia would be able to contribute to the community and 
have intergenerational interaction – which is both health-enhancing and 
energizing.  Dementia friendly communities would result in better 
quality of life for both the family caregiver and their loved one. 
(Alzheimer’s and Dementia blog, 14th October 2015). 

 There are currently 16 Dementia Friendly Communities in the East 
Midlands and many more around the Country. 

 The Memory Day held in the Grosvenor Centre on 21 September 2017 
had been very well received and supported. 

 Research has concluded that keeping the brain active is key to possibly 
preventing the onset of dementia. The Scrutiny Panel heard that 
funding had been provided for an education centre to run three times a 
week in Northampton library; the purpose of which is to stimulate and 
support people that have dementia.  Similar projects are run in Holland 
and have been highly successful. 

184



24 

 

 Diagnosis can often be difficult and referred to a case of a six year old 
child who had been diagnosed with dementia. Dementia in under 65 
year olds is rare and for people below this age, tests for dementia are 
often the final test and diagnosis.  It is an emotional journey.  Medical 
science is now very advanced and people are diagnosed earlier and 
living longer 

 Housing and Wellbeing staff will raise awareness regarding recognising 
dementia, will identify the suitability of existing homes and of temporary 
housing for homeless people. Priority transfers to more suitable 
housing/more suitable locations are looked at also.  NPH manages 
12,000 properties.   

 Housing and Wellbeing has Officers who have undertaken the training 
and are now Dementia Friendly Champions. 

 
Local GP 
 

 The Dementia Friendly Northamptonshire guide has been published 
and was launched at the UoN Future Directions in Dementia care 
Conference on the 14th November 2017.   Over 15,000 copies have 
been printed. 

 The Northamptonshire DAA was the first local alliance to be set up in 
the East Midlands. 

 Northampton has a strong commitment from public, private and 
voluntary sectors to support, promote and work towards a greater 
awareness of dementia. 

 Opening in the Central Library on Abington Street in Northampton in 
February 2018, the UnityDEM Centre will provide social support and 
informative activities for people who have been recently diagnosed with 
dementia and their carers. A team of professionals and volunteers will 
provide an enjoyable, flexible and adaptive programme from 10.00am 
until 4.00pm on Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays 

 The focus of the GP is around the Strategy.  The rag rating system is 
used against the objectives; the work programme is then set.  There 
are several national programmes and projects such as the Dementia 
Challenge 2020. 

 Across Northamptonshire there are 5,500 people diagnosed as living 
with dementia; 30% equates to Northampton, around 1,800. 

 All of the services commissioned by the CCG are to be dementia 
friendly. 

 The generic understanding of, and awareness of dementia has 
increased across the piste 

 There is a need to ensure that those people living with dementia, and 
their carers, receive the support they need. 

 The CCG aims to ensure that the correct medicine and support is 
provided. 

185



25 

 

 It is important that the Strategy and the care packages available are 
looked at. 

 2/3 of people living with dementia remain in their own homes. 
 Education is key 
 All professionals have a duty of care regarding safeguarding 
 Organisations around Northamptonshire are encouraged to acquire the 

accreditation in respect of Dementia Friendly town. 
 

Professor for Applied Mental Health (Dementia Specialist) 

 

 In January 2017, the Professor for Applied Mental Health was 
invited by the membership of the Northamptonshire Dementia 
Action Alliance (NDAA) to be its Chair. As a member, she has 
been the University of Northampton’s representative on the 

NDAA since 2012. In her  role at the University, she the 
Professor of Applied Mental Health, Director of the 
Northamptonshire Dementia Research and Innovation Centre, 
Chair of the Dementia-friendly Community of Practice, and lead 
for Public and Patient Involvement.  

 The Professor is also the Deputy Chair of Research at National 
Young Dementia Network and a member of the pan European 
Group InterDEM being an experienced mental health nurse and 
has established three community-based social groups for people 
with dementia: the Forget-Me-Nots Social YOD Group; Qualified 
by Experience (QBE) for former carers in Northamptonshire; and 
the Lutterworth Share & Care Group for people with dementia 
and their carers in South Leicestershire. The Professor has 
worked extensively with local organisations to evaluate their 
provision of health and social care services, including 
community-based interventions for people living with dementia. 

 As the Chair of the NDAA, she will be leading a number of 
exciting initiatives which have emerged from within its 
membership. These include: 

1. Leading on the development of this Dementia Friendly 
Northamptonshire guide. 

2. reviewing the current Northamptonshire Dementia 
strategy and contributing to the development of a 
County-wide dementia care pathway;  

186



26 

 

3. supporting Northampton to become a dementia friendly 
town & Northamptonshire to become a dementia friendly 
county;  

4. establishing a Northamptonshire Public Patient Forum for 
people who are living with dementia and their carers.  

 

o Dementia Friendly Northamptonshire guide  - This Guide is 
published and was launched at the UoN Future Directions in 
Dementia care Conference on the 14th November 2017.Our hope 
in developing this guide is that those who read it will find practical 
information about dementia and the sources of support that are 
available in the county.  

o The Northamptonshire Dementia strategy has been refreshed.  
This work builds on work undertaken earlier this year in April/May 
by the CCG and members of the NDAA to review the current 
Dementia Care Pathway, which is now complete and which has 
been published in the Dementia Friendly Northamptonshire 
Brochure. 

o The Northamptonshire DAA was the first local alliance to be set 
up in the East Midlands. The local alliance held their first meeting 
in February 2013 which was followed by an official launch in the 
May during dementia awareness week. Our aims for 2017-18 are 
to increase local involvement, develop a Northamptonshire-wide 
Forum for People living with dementia and carers; and make 
Northamptonshire a more Dementia Friendly place to live and 
work in. This is being actioned by establishing a Northampton 
DAA. 

o Northampton has a strong commitment from public, private and 
voluntary sectors to support, promote and work towards a greater 
awareness of dementia. 

o Northamptonshire Dementia Action Alliance is strong and has 
recently created a local Northampton Dementia Action Alliance 
(DAA) which will feed into the Northamptonshire group.  The aim 
for the Northampton DAA is to raise awareness about dementia 
and improve the lives of people living with dementia and their 
carers around Northampton. Our ultimate aim is for Northampton 
to become a Dementia Friendly Community, demonstrating our 
commitment to people living with dementia.   Northampton DAA is 
in its early stages  

187



27 

 

 The UoN Dementia Friendly Community of Practice facilitates a 
number of projects, but its main successes for Northampton Town 
are its Memory days, the Forget-me-Nots Social Group, the 
UnityDEM Centre, and the UoN Dementia Research & Innovation 
Centre (NDRIC) 

o In 2014, the University of Northampton set up a ‘Dementia 

Friendly Community of Practice‘ (CoP) for Northamptonshire, with 

the aim of bringing together like-minded individuals from across 
research, education, and practice to enhance the quality of care 
for people living with dementia and their family and carers. The 
CoP were looking for ways to raise the profile and awareness of 
dementia and memory loss in Northamptonshire. During one of 
their regular meetings, a colleague from Denmark was visiting and 
spoke to the group about remembrance days, which are run in 
Aalborg municipality, in Northern Denmark. These events are run 
in community venues with the aim of showcasing the work of local 
organisations who provide services for people with dementia and 
their families. The CoP decided to run a similar day where it could 
take awareness and information to the community about dementia 
and memory loss. This led to running a Northampton Memory Day 
in  

o 2016 and 2017. The event aimed to engage with the general 
public and businesses to highlight the work of local organisations 
who provide services for people with dementia, their families and 
carers. The Memory Day sought to: 

- Provide an opportunity to meet local services and find out 
about memory problems and dementia; 

- Access peer support for families living with dementia; 
- Share knowledge about local care and services; 
- Learn how to become a dementia friendly organisation and 

share information on supporting dementia friendly initiatives; 
- Attend a dementia friends training and other related 

sessions. 
-  

 The Forget-me-not group is a social group is run by and for people with 
dementia, their partners, carers and family.  It meets on the last 
Tuesday of every month, usually from 5.00pm to 7.00pm.  

 Opening in the Central Library on Abington Street in Northampton in 
February 2018, the UnityDEM Centre will provide social support and 
informative activities for people who have been recently diagnosed with 
dementia and their carers. A team of professionals and volunteers will 

188



28 

 

provide an enjoyable, flexible and adaptive programme from 10.00am 
until 4.00pm on Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays. What will make 
our programme of activities unique is the emphasis on helping the 
person with dementia and their carer to feel: 

 less isolated and more supported 

 able to adapt and cope with the diagnosis  

 valued for their existing knowledge, skills and abilities 

 they have improved self-confidence and mental wellbeing 

  The UnityDEM Centre Project will initially run as a 12-month pilot, 
during which it will be evaluated. Launching the Northamptonshire 
Dementia Research & Innovation Centre (NDRIC) - working in 
partnership with people living with dementia, carers, health and social 
care providers, voluntary organisations and students.  

o  In conjunction with UoN Dementia Friendly Community of Practice 
(CoP) membership, the team looks at the social and care related 
experiences, and hopes and expectations of people living with 
dementia and their carers. This knowledge can then be used to 
improve the quality of life and social and health care outcomes for 
people living with dementia and those caring for them. With this in 
mind, five key priority research areas have been identified. They 
include: 

1. Designing, developing, implementing, and evaluating 
community-based services which are specifically designed to 
promote social interaction. 

2. Investigating the challenges faced by health and social care 
professionals in detecting the early signs and symptoms 
associated with dementia.  

3. Exploring the impact of initial diagnosis on quality of life and life 
choices from the perspective of people living with dementia and 
their carers. 

4. Identifying the sources of community healthcare and social 
support networks for people living with dementia and their 
carers. 

5. Promoting the integration of policy into practice, for example in 
relation to dementia friendly initiatives. 

 
 NDRIC is committed to ensuring that people living with dementia and 

their carers are actively engaged in all aspects of training, education, 
and research undertaken by the centre. Their views are at the heart of 

189



29 

 

all we offer, in the hope that together we can shape service delivery 
across Northamptonshire and beyond. 

 The Northamptonshire Public Patient Forum for people who are living 
with dementia and their carers is currently in the process of being 
established by the Northamptonshire Dementia Action Alliance. 

Head of Adult Safeguarding, Northants Police 

 Dementia is a result of damage to brain caused by stroke or disease.  
The severity and symptoms of this vary depending on the area of the 
brain affected. 

 Symptoms can include memory loss and difficulties with thinking, 
problem-solving or language. Mood changes and behaviour can also 
be affected. 

 Dementia can be difficult for an individual to come to terms with and 
will be hugely frustrating as there is a gradual decline in their ability to 
retain independence.  Denial and lack of engagement with services can 
increase this impact.  Their ability to look after themselves and keep 
themselves safe will be impaired. 

 The combination of this and potential mood swings and aggressive 
behaviour will obviously be difficult for family and carers to deal with.  

 The Team’s current involvement is through the Adult at Risk referral 

process whereby concerns are highlighted to appropriate professionals 
when identified by officers attending any incidents or missing episodes 
where dementia is a key factor. 

 108 incidents were reported over the past week that attributed to 
mental health.  This equated to 165 hours of officer time to deal with. 
This is typical. About 3% of all Police incidents are believed to have a 
mental health element.   

 New Police Officers and control room staff are trained on mental health 
issues including dementia awareness.  

 Flags are put on addresses of vulnerable persons at risk of missing 
episodes relating to mental health. 

 The Herbert Protocol is commended.    The public is encouraged to put 
together an information pack in case a relative of theirs, who lives with 
dementia, goes missing. The pack would contain details of previous 
addresses, where they like to visit etc.  The information is retained by 
the carer and only supplied to the Police in the event that someone 
goes missing, helping to support Data Protection issues.  

 Police Cadets have been encouraged to go into nursing and care 
homes to liaise with the residents. 

190



30 

 

 Significant amendments to Mental Health Act (MHA) 1983 were 
brought into law on 11th December 2018. This includes that Police 
custody can never be used as place of safety for children under 18 and 
can only be used for adults in exceptional circumstances. In the last six 
months only two individuals have been held in Police custody under 
S136 Act, despite 25 persons a month being detained under the act. 
(Note Northants Police has decided that custody will no longer be used 
to hold persons under the MHA as our health provision in custody isn’t 
24/7). Persons detained under the MHA will be taken to Berrywood 
hospital, Northampton or St Mary’s hospital, Kettering. 

 The Police have a Health care professional who can assess custody 
detainees every 30 minutes but this only operates between 07 and 
2300hrs. 

 The Police has good links with CCTV and will alert operators where for 
example a person goes missing.  

 Officers are taught to treat each case on its own merits.   
 Police and Mental health services in Northants jointly conduct 

Operation Alloy. This is mental health triage car that operates between 
1800 and 2300hrs each night staffed by a Clinical Psychiatric Nurse 
and a Police officer. CPN Health practitioners are also based in the 
Police Force control room from 0900 to 1800hrs. The two schemes 
ensure that a Police / Health can share information from 09 x 2300hrs 
each day. Outside of this an out of hours phone number at Berrywood 
hospital that links to the Mental health team is used to seek patient 
information and advice 

 Northants Police is looking to replicate the Intensive Users Pilot 
Scheme that Hampshire Police introduced. This will be called the High 
Intensive Network Northampton. A police officer will be based within 
mental health services to work alongside CPN’s to reduce the demand 
created by the most frequent users of services (for example persons 
who are persistently in crisis and / or ring emergency services)   

 The mental health team works with the crisis team regarding frequent 
callers to ascertain their needs. 

 The criminal justice system should be used only when proportionate 
and necessary – the Police would prefer to divert persons and enable 
them to obtain support then prosecute. 

 The Police has access to interpreters 24/7.     
 Northamptonshire Police has a Safeguarding Adults Team (5 staff) and 

a Mental Health Team (4 staff) who work within Public Protection.   
 Private home owners living in the community and not engaged with any 

services can be more isolated as any changes in health or deterioration 
are not so easily identified.  It can often be a significant event that 
takes place before this pathway is opened for them.    

191



31 

 

 Some of the most vulnerable adults within our communities will be 
appropriately supported regardless of their personal circumstances. 

 Earlier intervention and support will reduce the burden to services of 
more significant incidents and ultimately provide a cost saving across 
the services. 

 Vulnerable persons and addresses can be flagged on the Police Force 
Control Room command system. This offers support to persons subject 
to dementia by highlighting their potential vulnerability to officers and 
staff who may come into contact with them.  

 
Dementia Team, Northamptonshire Healthcare Foundation Trust 
 

 Dementia describes a set of symptoms that may include 
memory loss and difficulties with thinking, problem solving or 
language; it can also affect an individual’s mood and behaviour.  

Many different types of dementia exist but the most common 
forms are Alzheimer’s and Vascular.  It is caused by damage to 

the brain.  There are currently around 850,000 people in the UK 
with it and it mainly affects people over the age of 65 and the 
likelihood of developing dementia increases significantly with 
age.  It can affect younger people too with 42,000 people in the 
UK under 65 with dementia  

 
 Effects:    

 
 Day to day memory 
 Concentration, planning and organising 
 Language difficulties – difficult to follow conversations, find 

the right words, express self 
 Visuospatial skills – problems judging distances (stairs, 

steps and floor surfaces) 
 Orientation – to time date and place  
 Mood – frustrated, irritable, anxious, low, withdrawn  
 Behaviours – agitated, restless, pacing, asking questions 

over and over  
 Physical health – weight loss, changes in diet and sleep 
 Difficulty under taking daily activities of living – shopping, 

cleaning, personal care 
 Difficulties assessing safety – driving 

 
 Current and potential partnership working:  

192



32 

 

 Northamptonshire Carer’s – Dementia Care Advice Service 
(DCAS) 

 Alzheimer’s Society 
 NHFT – Memory assessment service, Memory clinics  
 Age UK  
 CCG’s 
 Northamptonshire County Council 
 University of Northampton 
 Tollers  
 First for Wellbeing 
 Nursing/residential care providers 
 Pharmacy’s 

 
 Benefits of a Dementia Friendly Town: 

 Promote wellness and not illness (better physical and 
mental health) 

 Sense of community support and inclusion  
 Raise the awareness of dementia   
 Reduce stigma 
 “Flagship” county opportunities, improve recruitment of 

dementia experts in a wide variety of providers to come to 
Northampton 

 There is a Team that assists younger persons that have been 
diagnosed as living with dementia.  They often need support and 
assistance around: 

  
Maintaining employment 
Having had to stop driving 
Financial problems 

  
 There are a lack of services for younger people living with 

dementia. 
 Support Groups and Respite Care  for carers is very important. 
 The Carers’ Trust East Midlands provides emergency respite 

care for people in their own homes.  It can be booked 72 hours 
prior to when it is needed.  It is a free service. 

 
Transport Manager, UNO Buses, Northampton 
 

 As an operator of bus services UNO aware of the principles of this 
condition and its possible effects of life changing symptoms.  This is 
principally experienced by UNO’s drivers when interacting with their 

193



33 

 

customers whom are unfortunate to live with dementia.  None of 
UNOs current employees are experts in understanding dementia. 

 UNO has been involved in a Dementia Awareness alliance meeting 
party of NCC, NBC and Northants Police plus Alzheimer’s group 
forum.  

 Having all operational staff to be aware of the possible effects, 
symptoms and training in how to handle awkward situations where 
customers may be lost/confused and how to obtain assistance 
would be useful.     

 All drivers of UNO receive training and the organisation is keen to 
ensure the drivers are trained to a level of understanding and 
awareness of those living with dementia. 

 

Alzheimer’s Society – Northamptonshire 

 

 The Alzheimer’s Society produces a wide range of information for a 

variety of audiences on dementia and a range of a range of 
literature to support People with a diagnosis, their families, cares 
and the general public.  The Society also offers services to support 
those affected, as well as awareness raising, research and 
campaigning. 

 The Alzheimer’s Society locally works closely with 

Northamptonshire Carers to deliver Statutory Carer’s Assessments 

on behalf of NCC (a sub-contracting arrangement).  The AS is a 
member of the Carer’s Partnership board chaired by the CEO of 
Northants Carers.   

 As part of its work assessing need and providing support to 
individuals it works closely with a wide range of organisations in the 
statutory and voluntary sector. 

 The current AS Strategy to be implemented over the next 4 years 
aims to greatly increase the number of individuals receiving an offer 
of support.  To achieve this it will be restructuring its offer to enable 
far broader reach.  The organisation will be working with local 
funders in the social care sector to identify how these aims can fit 
into local provision. 

 Current provision often fails to reach people early enough, and 
people often only become aware of support services at times of 
crisis.  Earlier intervention aimed at preventing such crises is a key 
priority.   

 While this  relates to people with a diagnosis as a whole, there are 
some  groups whose needs could require specific focus, such as 
people with early onset dementia (under 65), and people with 
learning difficulties, who are often at increased risk of developing 

194



34 

 

dementia.  The needs of such groups can differ to those of the 
wider population and may need addressing separately. 

 The benefits of Northampton becoming Dementia Friendly are vast, 
it allows businesses and organisations in the town to be united 
against dementia, giving their staff extra knowledge about dementia 
and allowing them to become more diverse. Also as shopping 
parks such as Rushden Lakes open which are incredibly busy, this 
allows a gap in the market for Northampton to promote that people 
with dementia would be welcome in the town to shop, travel and 
use the services of the town.  

 One of the services provided at the Alzheimer’s Society is looking 

at dementia friendly communities. Some of its key work in the East 
Midlands has been taking place in Derbyshire, with real successes 
of creating DFC in Amber Valley and Alfreton. It would be fantastic 
to replicate this vision in Northampton. 

 
Dementia Café, Local Church – St Peter’s 

 

 In January 2017, as a church it decided to set up a Memory 
Cafe in the church hall.  Two volunteers who had worked with 
one other at the Dementia Cafes were prepared to assist and 
the Group also had six more people volunteer from the 
congregation who had cared for their own family members with 
dementia.  The Diocese of Peterborough has run two courses 
on Dementia-Friendly Churches, which representatives of the 
team have attended. 

 What the Cafe provides:  They meet monthly on the third 
Thursday of each month from 2 – 4 pm (apart from December 
when they meet on the 2nd Thursday).  They set out the tables 
and chairs in the hall and they provide tea or coffee as the 
people arrive.  Later at about 3 pm they refresh their drinks and 
bring round cakes and biscuits.  They are given name stickers 
so the Group can soon learn their names and they theirs.  The 
cakes are provided mainly by the congregation and volunteers 
on a rota system, which works well.  There is no charge to those 
attending although they welcome occasional donations.  The 
Group invite speakers from a variety of helping organisations to 
come along for a brief talk (about 15 min) and displays the 
whole range of information provided by them and by the 
Alzheimer’s Society to be available.  They put table games on 
each of the tables and have some floor games for those 
interested.  (These were donated by the Alzheimer’s Society 

195



35 

 

who also notified all the previous attendees of their Cafe of  this 
new cafe opening)  

 Attendances and Activities: The first meeting in May 2017 had 
15 people come and the attendance has risen to 24 (so far) and 
last month they had six new people (3 with dementia & 3 carers)  
This is a mixture of people with dementia and their carers and 
occasionally by some who suspect they have a memory 
problem.  The main activity is of fellowship and informal support 
in a relaxed atmosphere and the support they get from one 
another is immense.  The volunteers all mingle and encourage 
friendly chatter and pick up any particular distress, so there is 
always the opportunity for them to speak to someone quietly 
about their particular concerns.  The Dementia Support Worker 
from the Alzheimer’s Society calls in each session so can initiate 

further help to anyone needing it.  Many of the people attend the 
Society’s Singing for the Brain activity weekly too so they 

particularly enjoyed the carol singing at the Christmas meeting 
when one of our choir members came to play the keyboard.  
During the summer the Group went on a canal trip, which was 
donated by one of the volunteers and they were taken to the 
canal in an old Red Northampton bus, driven by an enthusiast 
who was also a carer. 

 The St Peter’s Memory Cafe is an open one so anyone who has 

concerns about dementia can come along.  The Group can 
provide encouragement to access the Memory Assessment 
Team regarding a diagnosis if not already obtained, so they then 
can benefit from the services provided to assist them and their 
families.  Several of our members are now attending the new 
Memory Matters group which is being run by the Alzheimer’s 

Society, but funded by Northamptonshire Carers, which enables 
the carers to go into a support group whilst their relatives with 
dementia are encouraged to do activities which will stimulate 
their brains and lead to feelings of well-being.  The Group 
received some training from an Occupational Therapist on the 
types of activities which are used by the Memory Assessment 
Team in their Cognitive Stimulation Therapy groups, which can 
be offered to those newly diagnosed.  The Group leader is 
involved in the Northampton Memory Matters group with another 
of the volunteers of the Cafe and the response so far, after two 
monthly meetings, has been encouraging. 

196



36 

 

 At the recent Dementia-Friendly churches training session the 
Group Leader learnt that the Diocese hopes to establish a 
network of at least two or three people who are knowledgeable 
in dementia to each of the deaneries.  The Group also learned 
of ways to communicate with dementia sufferers at the various 
stages of the disease, which I believe would be useful to share 
with the carers.  The Group is considering holding some 
Dementia Friends training which it will be discussing with the 
Management committee.  The Group Leader has already 
delivered a session for Lay Pastoral Ministers at their training 
course. 

                      Market Traders, Northampton Market 

 Dementia is a condition that affects the memory and co-
ordination functionality of the brain, becoming increasingly 
common in the UK in adults 50 years plus. There is short and 
long term memory loss but not necessarily both simultaneously. 
It affects co-ordination of movement in terms of memory of how 
to perform tasks. 

 It can be very frightening for the person living with dementia 
when home seems unfamiliar as well as for spouses, children 
appearing as strangers.  Sudden changes are also hard to deal 
with, for example daily living patterns, having to suddenly leave 
the house for appointments.  People living with dementia can 
wander and get lost, which is very stressful for family and carers. 

 African and Caribbean community members need to be more 
informed of how to access services. 

 The town being dementia friendly would greatly improve the 
quality of lives for those living with dementia and their families.  
For example having respite days for carers so they can have a 
break, therapies for those living with dementia to aid maintaining 
memory and the ability to self-care. 

Northampton Museums and Art Gallery 

 Northampton Museums and Art Gallery is continuing to pilot 
various activities for people living with dementia.  

 Bi-monthly Memory Café and activities session at Abington Park 
Museum take place, which include reminiscence with objects 

197



37 

 

and access to museum galleries. These sessions are free, but 
must be booked in advance due to limited spaces.  

 It is being investigated how the physical museum environment   
can be dementia friendly.  

 Northampton Museum and Art Gallery is currently going through 
a major redevelopment, including a new extension. The 
extension will contain new galleries and link space, including a 
terrace and café.  Finishes for the building such as the café 
space and signage/wayfinding for the building are being worked 
on.  The Museum and Art Gallery is keen that this space is as 
dementia friendly as possible. 

 The Museum and Art Gallery will be setting up a Dementia 
Advisory Group to gather expertise and advice to inform the 
fixtures and fittings of the building, along with wayfinding and 
signage. 

                                 Executive Director, Northampton BID 

 The BID is a member of the Dementia Alliance Group.   

  The BID can use communication channels to let people know 
what is going on and help the town to become dementia 
friendly.  The BID uses social media which is a good 
communication tool. 

  The BID undertook a survey that was carried out in the 
Grosvenor Centre recently and from the results it was apparent 
that there is a need for a new Strategy regarding social issues, 
including the town becoming dementia friendly and street 
drinkers and beggars – looking at a different approach of the 
problem.  The aim being to make the town more caring and 
friendly. 

  Regarding assisting those living with dementia visiting the town, 
better signposting, such as staff working, Monday to Friday, as 
hosts.  Shop staff will receive awareness raising too. 

  There is a need for a cohesive approach, including MIND and 
the Hope Centre – this should be steered by Northampton 
Dementia Alliance. 

 

Head of Safeguarding and Dementia, Northampton General  

Hospital (NGH) 

198



38 

 

 

Head of Safeguarding and Dementia, Northampton General  

Hospital (NGH) 

      Northampton General Hospital (NGH) takes dementia very 
seriously 

      Northampton has an aging population 
      NGH has the provision of a Dementia Liaison Nurse that 

provides advice to carers and nursing staff and the Multi 
Agency Team on how to manage the symptoms of dementia 

      Every person, over the age of 75, who is admitted to hospital is 
screened with the aim to identify the early stages of dementia 

      A Patient Profile has been introduced and is led by the 
Dementia Liaison Nurse.  This profile is completed on the ward 
with the aim to make care as personal as possible 

      The “butterfly” is placed on clinical records on individuals living 
with dementia and has information about the person which will 
help interaction with staff about their life with the aim of 
reducing anxiety 

      All training at NGH has been reviewed and it is aimed that 
Dementia training will become mandatory across the 
organisation.  Security staff are receiving dedicated dementia 
training next month to ensure that they have a good 
understanding of the illness 

      NGH has a dementia garden that opened in September 2017 
      John’s campaign has been introduced at NGH, for example 

there are now flexible visiting times and carers are encouraged 
to be part of their loved one’s care.   

      25 feedback forms from carers are analysed each month for 
areas of good practice and areas for general improvement 

      Wards have activity boxes, which include ‘twiddle muffs.’ 
      Ryde, in the Isle of Wight, has introduced a number of 

initiatives to support people living with dementia such as a 
Dementia Friendly Easter  Church Service, Safe Havens, 
assistance on buses. 

 
3.8                   Desktop research -  Best Practice 
 
3.8.1             Examples of best practice informed the evidence base of the Review 

from a variety of sources: 
 

 Government Guidance – Dementia Friendly Communities 

 The BSI Code of Practice for Dementia Friendly Communities 

 AGE UK, Coventry and Coventry City Council 

 The Dementia Engagement and Empowerment Project (DEEP) 

199



39 

 

 Protection from Doorstep Crime – North Yorkshire County 
Council Trading Standards 

 Hampshire Dementia Friendly High Street 

 Connect Housing 

 Creating a Dementia Friendly York 

 Creative Spaces 

 
3.8.2 Full details at Appendix E. 

 
3.9                 Site Visits 

3.9.1 A site visit took place to Lutterworth Care and Share Group on 10 
November 2017. 

 
3.9.2           Key findings: 
 

   Groups such as Care and Share, help carers overcome their 
loss.  Carers often feel lost and lonely when the person living 
with dementia has passed away. 

   From discussions with attendees, the value of therapy dogs 
was recognised. 

   Church rooms, such as the Methodist Church in Lutterworth, 
are ideal locations to host Share and Care Group meetings. 

   Churches often have a good network of people who are carers 
and have a good body of volunteers too. 

   The Methodist Church at Lutterworth sponsors a full time 
officer to bring carers and those living with dementia together 
into Church groups.  The salary of this Officer is paid for by the 
Church. 

   Lutterworth has the benefit of being a small town where many 
people know each other and those living with dementia receive 
help often because they are known and helped home when 
needed.  Morrisons, the local supermarket, plays a big part in 
identifying and helping people living with dementia when the 
occasion arises.    

 

3.9.3            Appendix F provides comprehensive findings from the site visits. 

 

4.  Conferences 

200



40 

 

4.1.1  As part of its evidence gathering process for this review,  
representatives of the Scrutiny Panel attended conferences to inform 
the evidence base: 

 

 Dementia 2017: Managing Demand, Improving Care   

 The Chair and Deputy Chair attended this conference in Birmingham 
on 5 December 2017.  Key points: 

 Dementia currently costs £26 billion a year to the UK. An annual 
cost of £32,250 per person with dementia.  

 The cost of care for a person living with dementia   - the conference 
provided attendees with the opportunity to discuss the current 
practice and future directions in dementia,  

 Progress on the Dementia Intelligence Network was provided as 
well as the importance of prevention and early intervention with an 
increasing population of individuals willing to take care of 
themselves. 

 This conference consisted of interactive sessions and case studies 
to support carers, healthcare professionals and the wider public 
sector to deliver advances in care along the whole dementia 
pathway. Interactive conversations with people living with dementia 
and their carers aimed to give attendees a better understanding of 
their needs and their experiences with the health care system. 

 Group discussions were held with the different care service 
providers that aimed to show attendees how working in partnership 
could improve care and develop actions to keep people healthier 
and active into their old age.  

 There was a breakout session with clinical care professionals that 
discussed how to ensure high standards of care and support for 
those with dementia and their families along the different stages of 
the patient journey. 

 
Future Directions in Dementia Care and Exhibition 

 

201



41 

 

Two representatives from the Scrutiny Panel attended the conference in 
Northampton on 14 November 2017.  Key points: 
 

 The Dementia Action Alliance was launched 10 years ago 
between Northampton and Norfolk.  Their key words are:  
“knowledge, education and practice”. 

 Other key words used in development studies are: well prevented, 
well diagnosed, well supported, well living and well dying.   

 The Dementia Research Institute has a budget of £250 million for 
research and has the aim of having over 400 researchers by 
2022. 

 County wide training is being developed, which is community 
based. Work is undergoing with Universities in Denmark and the 
Universities of Bradford, Surrey. There is key work going on in 
Lutterworth 

 The intention for care of people living with dementia is for them to 
remain at home and training for professionals and groups is 
based on the Danish model.   

 The Department of Pathology, University of Malta, is looking at 
dementia across Europe, the challenges to dementia around 
Europe and why it is challenging. 

 The difference in the brain with someone living with dementia are 
clear. 

 The world’s population is around 900 billion, the number of older 
people is increasing, for example 18% of the population is over 
65, i.e. 10 million in England 

 NICE and licensing impacts have helped for proper medicine and 
treatment for those living with dementia and a consequence of 
this is that more people living with dementia have been able to 
remain at home, with a 99.7% success rate.   

 There are over 900 million new cases of people living with 
dementia world-wide each year. 

 The global cost of research, caring for and treating people living 
with dementia is increasing.  

 France was the first country to look at dementia in a positive way.   
 Italy undertakes the most research into dementia.  Central 

Government wants there to be more research into dementia in the 
UK 

 In Europe, more people living with dementia are able to stay in 
their own homes 

 54% in people living in America know someone who lives with 
dementia. 

202



42 

 

 There is a need for more awareness raising around dementia 
 Worldwide, dementia is significantly un-diagnosed   
 It is anticipated that by 2050 people living with dementia will 

double. 
 There is a need for more support for Groups and organisations 

that assist people living with dementia. 
 There is a need for more support and training for carers of people 

living with dementia. 
 The weekly cost of care home care was highlighted, and it can 

around £1,300 per week   

 
 

5                   Equality Impact Assessment 

5.1 Overview and Scrutiny ensures that it adheres to the Council’s statutory 

duty to provide the public with access to Scrutiny reports, briefing 
notes, agendas, minutes and other such documentation.  Meetings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Panels are 
widely publicised, i.e. on the Council’s website, copies issued to the 

local media and paper copies are made available in the Council’s One 

Stop Shop and local libraries. 

5.2 The Scrutiny Panel was mindful of the eight protected characteristics 
when undertaking this scrutiny activity so that any recommendations 
that it made could identify potential positive and negative impacts on 
any particular sector of the community.  This was borne in mind as the 
Scrutiny Panel progressed with the review and evidence gathered. 

5.3              So that the Scrutiny Panel obtains a wide range of views, a number of 
key witnesses provided evidence as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

5.4              Details of the Equality Impact Assessment undertaken can be located on 
the Overview and Scrutiny webpage. 

 

 

 

6 

 

Conclusions and Key Findings 

 

6.1            After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were 
drawn: 

203

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/11


43 

 

6.1.1           The Scrutiny Panel recognised the value of towns that have become 
dementia friendly and felt that it is very important for Northampton to 
become a dementia friendly town.   The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged 
that a dementia friendly town is one in which people with dementia are 
empowered to have high aspirations and feel confidence knowing they 
can contribute and participate in activities that are meaningful to them. 
 

6.1.2  Should Northampton become dementia friendly, the need for a 
“Dementia Friendly Town logo” was highlighted.  Hospitals often use 
butterflies logos so that non clinical staff are aware of people with 
dementia .  The Scrutiny Panel considered it would be beneficial for 
bus passes to contain useful information, on the back, such as “my 

usual stop is x” “please don’t start moving until I am seated”, for 
example.  . 

6.1.3            Evidence gathered highlighted that there is a real need for better 
understanding and awareness of people living with dementia and the 
Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that becoming a Dementia Friendly Town 
will help to raise awareness to family and carers and the public in 
general in recognising the signs of dementia. 

6.1.4           The Scrutiny Panel deemed that it would be beneficial for the Transport 
Manager of UNO to liaise with the Head of Vulnerable Persons, 
Northants Police, regarding training around raising awareness of those 
living with dementia. It was acknowledged that Dementia Champions 
could deliver training to all bus drivers. Carers would be assured to 
know that bus drivers had received the awareness raising training. 

 
6.1.5         The value of “Keep Safe Cards” were acknowledged.  The cards are 

being rolled out to all those who are categorised as being vulnerable.  It 
was felt that it would be useful for carers to carry an ID card when 
travelling with someone living with dementia.  

 
6.1.6          The Scrutiny Panel, in receiving Dementia Friends Training, recognised 

the value and importance of this training and felt it would be useful for 
all relevant staff at Northampton Borough Council to received Dementia 
Friends Champion training.  It was evident that more dementia 
champions are required from all levels of staff to ensure maximum 
effectiveness of the awareness campaign. 

6.1.7        A Councillor dementia friends champion would be useful and could 
encourage other Councillors to engage with the work of the Alzheimer’s 
Society and to be an ambassador for the Council.  

6.1.8     It was recognised that often referrals are received after Christmas or 
Easter, for example, where the family havent perhaps had regular or 
recent contact with the family member for some months and notice 
changes that concern them. 

204



44 

 

 
6.1.9           Support Groups and Respite  Care  for carers are very important.  The 

value of Care and Share Groups, such as that offered at Lutterworth 
was recognised.  The Scrutiny Panel was delighted that St Peter’s  
Church, Northampton had set up a well-used Dementia Café. 
Northampton Interfaith Forum (NIFF) is also managing an action 
alliance.  To ensure information is available to all, the Scrutiny Panel 
felt that NIFF should be involved in the creation of an action plan for 
Northampton town to become a Dementia Friendly town. 
 

6.1.10          Evidence gathered demonstrated that there does appear to be a lack of 
support for young people living with dementia.  A Dementia Forum 
would be useful, with activities such as dog walkers and dog walks 
being offered. 

 
6.1.11        The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that communities with a mix of young 

and older people work very well.  
 

7 Recommendations 

 

7.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the town of Northampton 
can become a Dementia Friendly Town. 

           Key Lines of Enquiry 

 To gain an understanding of what Dementia is, and its 
symptoms 

 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friendly Communities 
Programme, Dementia Friendly Communities Recognition 
Process, the BSI Code of Practice for Dementia Friendly 
Communities (and the foundation criteria), 

 To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friends Programme 
and Dementia Friends Champion  

 To gain an understanding of the effect on the health, wellbeing 
and the safety of people with dementia and their carers/families 

 To gain an understanding of current and potential partnership 
working 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to 
supporting people with Dementia 

 Identify any specific groups that are not  accessing services 
 

 Scrutiny Panel 3 therefore recommends to Cabinet that: 

205



45 

 

7.1.1 Northampton Borough Council works towards “Dementia Friendly Status for 
Northampton” being achieved.  A Dementia Friends Champion is nominated 
to lead on this work. 
 

7.1.2  A Dementia Forum is established. Northampton Interfaith Forum (NIFF) is 
invited to join the Forum.   
 

7.1.3 Northampton Borough Council registers with the Alzheimer’s Society as part 
of the Dementia Friendly Recognition Scheme. 
 

7.1.4 Dementia Friends information and training is included in both Councillor and 
staff inductions.   
 

7.1.5 A Councillor Champion for older people, focussing on dementia is appointed. 
 
7.1.6 The Dementia Friends Champion liaises with the local churches in 

Northampton to ascertain what Groups are currently available and whether 
further Groups such as Care and Share could be introduced. 

 
7.1.7 The Dementia Friends Champion has dialogue with the Transport Manager of 

UNO and the Head of Vulnerable Persons, Northants Police, regarding 
training for drivers of UNO around raising awareness of those living with 
dementia. 
 

7.1.8 The Dementia Friends Champion works with the Assistant Chief Executive, 
Northamptonshire Carers, regarding the introduction of ID cards for carers 
when travelling with someone living with dementia.  
 

            Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7.1.9    The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 
reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

206



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

207



 1 

 
   Appendix A 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 3  -  DEMENTIA FRIENDLY TOWN 
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 
 
 To investigate the town of Northampton can become a Dementia 

Friendly Town. 
 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

   To gain an understanding of what Dementia is, and its symptoms 
   To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friendly Communities 

Programme, Dementia Friendly Communities Recognition Process, 
the BSI Code of Practice for Dementia Friendly Communities (and the 
foundation criteria), 

   To gain an understanding of the Dementia Friends Programme and 
Dementia Friends Champion   

   To gain an understanding of the effect on the health, wellbeing and 
the safety of people with dementia and their carers/families  

   To gain an understanding of current and potential partnership working  
   To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to supporting 

people with Dementia 
   Identify any specific groups that are not  accessing services 
 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

   To make recommendations for Northampton becoming a Dementia 
Friendly Town 

 
3. Information Required  

 
 Background data   
 Background reports 
 Best practice data 
 Desktop research 
 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

208



 2 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 
 Site visits (if applicable) 

 
4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 
 
 Presentation to set the scene:  Being Dementia 

Friendly, Dementia Friends Programme, Dementia 
Friends Champion, BSI Code of Practice for Dementia 
Friendly Communities, Foundation Criteria 

 Relevant national and local background research 
papers 

 Definitions – Dementia 
 Relevant Legislation including: 

The Care Act 2014 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 
Human Rights Act 1998 
Mental Health Act 1983 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (2009) 

 
 Statistics: including: 

Number of people with Dementia in the UK and 
projected statistics 
Deaths per year attributable to Dementia 
Financial cost of Dementia to the UK 
Diagnosis Statistics 
Financial cost to health/cost of support 

 Relevant published papers, including    
Alzheimer’s Society Dementia Report 2014 
Alzheimer Society:  Building Dementia Friendly 
Communities – A priority for everyone 
Alzheimer’s Research UK – Dementia in the Family; 
The impact on Carers 

 Best practice external to Northampton 
 Internal expert advisors: 

 Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and 
Safety, NBC 

 Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing, NBC 
 Head of Housing and Wellbeing, NBC 

 
 

 External expert advisors: 

209



 3 

 
 Head of Protecting Vulnerable Persons, 

Northamptonshire Police and the Community Safety 
Partnership 

 Dementia Support Group  
 Alzheimer’s Society – Northamptonshire 
 Alzheimer’s Society – Northamptonshire Care 

Services 
 Age UK 
 Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire 

County Council 
 Professor in Applied Mental Health (Dementia 

Specialist), University of Northampton 
 Cabinet Member, (Adult, Social Care), NCC 
 Director, Adult, Social Care, NCC 
 Carers’ Associations 
 Cabinet Member for Education, NCC 
 Director, HealthWatch 
 Transport providers, bus companies, taxis and 

access to train station 
 Director, Olympus Care 
 Representatives from Private Care Homes 
 Director, Highways, NCC 
 Managing Director, Business Improvement 

District (BID) 
 Faith Forum, Bangladeshi Society, Sikh Group 

etc. 
 Northampton Health Trust 
 Dementia Team, Northampton General Hospital 
 Case Studies from Ward Councillors 

 
 Site visit   - Best practice – Dementia Friendly 

Towns 
 
5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 
 Desktop research 
 Site visits  
 Officer reports 
 Presentations 
 Examples of best practice 
 Witness Evidence:- 

210



 4 

 
 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 

 

 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

  

 A representative from the Carers’ Association is approached to be a co 
opted member of this Scrutiny review 

 A representative from Community Mental Health is approached to be a 
co opted member of this Scrutiny review 
 

7.  Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 
scope of the Review 

 
8.   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

June 2017 – March 2018 
 

 14 June 2016                      - Scoping meeting 
 20 July                                - Evidence gathering 
 21 September                     - Evidence gathering 
 27 November                      - Evidence gathering 
 25 January 2018                 - Evidence gathering 
 26 March                              - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 
 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 
 

9. Responsible Officers 
 

Lead Officer   Marion Goodman, Head of Customer and Cultural 
Services 

Co-ordinator  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 
 
10. Resources and Budgets 

 
Marion, Head of Customer and Cultural Services, to provide internal advice. 
 

211



 5 

11. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2018.  Presented by the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 
12. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months (approximately 
November/December 2018)  

212



Appendix B

213



 Appendix C

214



215



216



217



218



219



220



1 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 

Appendix D 

SCRUTINY PANEL 3 – DEMENTIA FRIENDLY TOWN 

CORE QUESTIONS  – EXPERT ADVISORS 

 
The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review: Dementia Friendly Town that is 
investigating the town of Northampton can become a Dementia Friendly Town. The 
projected outcome is to make recommendations for Northampton becoming a 
Dementia Friendly Town 
 
CORE QUESTIONS: 
 

A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base of the 
Scrutiny Panel:  

 

1.  Are you aware of what Dementia is, and its symptoms, please provide details? 
 

2. Are you aware of the effect on the health, wellbeing and the safety of people 
with dementia and their carers/families, if so, please provide details?    
 

3. Please can you supply details of the current and potential partnership working 
regarding supporting people with dementia. 
 

4. Are you aware of any specific groups that are not accessing services, please 
provide details. 
 

5. In your opinion please provide information of the benefits of Northampton 
becoming a Dementia Friendly Town. 
 

6. Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation to a 
Dementia Friendly Town? 

221



1 

 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

SCRUTINY PANEL 3 – DEMENTIA FRIENDLY TOWN 

   Appendix E 

BRIEFING NOTE:  BEST PRACTICE   

1 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 At its inaugural scoping meeting, Scrutiny Panel 3 (Dementia Friendly Town) 
agreed that it would receive details of best practice to inform its evidence 
base. 

2      BEST PRACTICE   

2.1 GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE – DEMENTIA FRIENDLY COMMUNITIES 

2.1.1 The Ageing Well Programme working in two localities – Hampshire and 
Sheffield regarding Innovations in Dementia.  This initiative supported the 
Ageing Well Programme in its work to create dementia friendly communities. 

2.1.2 The Guidance was first published in 2012 by the Local Government 
Association.  The Guidance was used throughout the UK, and other countries 
that included America, New Zealand and Australia. 

2.1.3  In 2015 the Guidance was updated and it included details of best practice plus 
new guidelines and ideas. 

2.1.4 The Guide outlines the role of councils in supporting people with dementia by 
creating local dementia friendly communities and demonstrates how councils 
are making this happen through case study examples.  It is reported that 
shortly before publication of the Guide, Dementia Friendly Communities was 
boosted by the launch of the Prime Minister’s Challenge on Dementia.  At the 
time of publication of the Guide, following the launch of the challenge: 

 more than 70 communities have committed to become dementia 
friendly  

• leading businesses across retail, finance, leisure and transport sectors 
are developing ways to respond to the needs of people with dementia  

222



2 

 

• More than a million people have signed up to become Dementia 
Friends – and committed to take action to make their communities a 
better place for people with dementia. 

 A rise of 17% in diagnosis rates 

 Increase in visibility of dementia in the public arena 

2.1.5 It is reported that part of the Prime Minister’s Challenge was the creation of the 
Dementia Friendly Communities Champion Group, which provides guidance 
on the creation and implementation of dementia friendly communities. The 
group was formed to respond to the need for national action on dementia 
friendly communities, and to deliver against the objectives set out in the Prime 
Minister’s Challenge. The group includes members from major public, private 
and voluntary sector organisations. 

2.1.6   The recognition scheme helps communities to be publicly recognised for their 
work towards becoming dementia-friendly.  The process asks communities to 
commit to delivering change and is structured around two key documents: 

o The BSI Code of Practice for dementia friendly communities 

o The foundation criteria for dementia-friendly communities 

The BSI Code of Practice for Dementia Friendly Communities 

2.1.7 Code of practice providing guidance and structure for communities around 
what ‘dementia-friendly' looks like and what the key areas for action are in 
working to achieve a dementia-friendly community, including:  

 arts, culture, leisure, and recreation  

 businesses and shops;  

 children, young people and students;  

 community, voluntary, faith groups and  

 organisations; 

  emergency services;  

 health and social care;  housing; and  

 transport  

The Foundation Criteria  

2.1.8 The seven foundation criteria help a community to understand the way that 
their dementia friendly community should be structured and outlines the need 
for leadership, infrastructure (in the form of the Local Dementia Action Alliance 
model, LDAA ) and involvement of people affected by dementia:  

223



3 

 

1.   Make sure you have the right local structure in place to maintain a 
sustainable dementia friendly community e.g. such as a DAA  

2.   Identify a person or people to take responsibility for driving forward the 
work to support your community to become dementia friendly and 
ensure that individuals, organisations and businesses are meeting their 
stated commitments  

3.   Have a plan to raise awareness about dementia in key organisations and 
businesses within the community that support people with dementia  

4.    Develop a strong voice for people with dementia living in your 
communities. This will give your plan credibility and will make sure it 
focuses on areas people with dementia feel are most important. 5. Raise 
the profile of your work to increase reach and awareness to different 
groups in the community.  

6.   Focus your plans on a number of key areas that have been identified 
locally  

7.   Have in place a plan or system to update the progress of your 
community after 6 months and one year  

2.1.9 Key components to helping achieve Dementia Friendly Communities are 
creating Local Dementia Action Alliances, Dementia Friends and Dementia 
Friend Champions. 

2.1.10 The Group has prepared practical guidance for different sectors including 
employers, arts venues, and customer-facing staff as well as charters for 
dementia friendly technology and financial services: 

      Accessing and Sharing Information: acting on behalf of a person 

with dementia 
     Creating a dementia-friendly workplace: A practical guide for 

employers 
     Becoming a dementia-friendly arts venue: A practical guide 
    Dementia-Friendly Technology Charter 
   Dementia-Friendly Financial Services Charter 
   How to help people with dementia: A guide for customer-facing staff 

  

 2.1.11 A copy of the Guidance can be accessed. 

2.1.12 The Guide reports a number of case studies as detailed below: 

2.2 AGE UK, COVENTRY AND COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL 

2.2.1 The Guide reports “Coventry City Council commissioned AGE UK Coventry to 
work with people with dementia on environmental audits of five day centres 
and residential care settings across the city. A small team of staff and 
volunteers visited each of the venues to engage with people with dementia 

224

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/dementia-friendly-communi-b7f.pdf


4 

 

using or living in these settings, to gather their views and ideas about their 
environment. “For the people with dementia involved, there was a real sense 
that they saw the process as important and valuable and with each person it 
was clear that their contributions were considered. In one case, a day centre 
member telephoned the worker from Age UK Coventry on the day following 
their visit as he had thought of something else he wished to raise and didn’t 
want it to be missed, a clear indication of the significance of the process for 
the individuals involved” 

2.3 THE DEMENTIA ENGAGEMENT AND EMPOWERMENT PROJECT (DEEP) 

2.3.1 The Guide reports “DEEP brings together groups of people with dementia 
from across the UK and supports them to try to change services and policies 
that affect the lives of people with dementia. ‘I often say I spend a third of my 
time on dementia activities, a third of my time doing ‘fun things’, and a third of 
my time recovering from the other two! Towards the latter days of my career, 
occasionally I would consider the question, ‘What will I do when I retire?’ 
Never for one moment could I have anticipated how the last three years have 
unfurled. Looking back over this time, the biggest rewards have been to see a 
growing awareness within all sectors of dementia care that the person with a 
diagnosis can play a significant part in the services which we are to receive. It 
has been great to see a number of people who previously felt that there was 
no contribution they could make and nothing they could do to help themselves 
or others, grow to speaking in front of large and small audiences with passion 
and conviction, and a real desire to help to make things better for all. Some 
might say, “Once a teacher, always a teacher.” 

2.4 PROTECTION FROM DOORSTEP CRIME – NORTH YORKSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL TRADING STANDARDS 

2.4.1 The Guide reports “Doorstep crime gangs increasingly target people with 
dementia,” warns Ruth Andrews. “It’s big business and well organised.” 
Gangs specialise in, say, roofing or gardening but share information, 
grooming victims carefully. The stakes are high; offenders can take tens, even 
hundreds, of thousands of pounds from victims. “Trading Standards wants to 
help people stay in their own home safely and confidently. That’s not just 
about the crime, it’s about seeing the whole person,” explains Ruth. That’s 
why her 13-strong team has changed their emphasis from prosecution to 
safeguarding and protection. They’ve put victims in touch with befriending 
services, arranged family reconciliations, helped get locks changed and had 
surveyors safety-check homes. “It’s very labour intensive. But it’s hugely 
rewarding,” says Ruth. One challenge has been gathering evidence 
differently. Ruth’s team thinks constantly about imaginative ways to build a 
picture. People with dementia can’t always give written statements so the 
team captures what they can tell the court on video. This also helps the judge 

and jury understand the personal impact.” Source – Dementia Friendly Yorkshire JFR 
2014 

 

 

225



5 

 

2.5 HAMPSHIRE DEMENTIA FRIENDLY HIGH STREET 

2.5.1 The Guide reports  “Dementia Friendly High Streets - we are working with 
local, regional and national shops, organisations and businesses to establish 
High Streets in which people with dementia will feel understood and accepted. 
Businesses participating in a Dementia Friendly High Street are entitled to 
display our Dementia Friendly Hampshire window sticker, which shows 
people with dementia and their carers that the business is working towards 
being dementia friendly. Our first Dementia Friendly High Street was launched 
in Fareham on 27 November 2013. Since then we have launched 5 more 
Dementia Friendly High Streets - supported local Dementia Action Groups to 
launch a further 2 - Lymington and Lyndhurstt; Fleet; Romsey; Alton; 
Winchester - and have s Eastleigh. Planned launches for 2015 include 
Milford-on-Sea, Basingstoke and Andover. “ Source – Dementia Action Alliance 

2.6 CONNECT HOUSING 

2.6.1 The Guide reports “Involvement with the Dementia Action Alliance has 
enabled Connect Housing to develop an internal Dementia Strategy detailing 
how it will be supporting current and future generations of tenants with 
dementia to live independently and well as part of their communities. Connect 
is a charitable housing and support provider operating in Leeds, Kirklees and 
parts of Calderdale and Wakefield, providing quality housing to people in over 
700 properties specifically for older people. The organisation is already 
investing in a wide range of physical improvements to property and has 
supported about 70 staff to undergo dementia awareness sessions and other 
training.” 

2.7     CREATING A DEMENTIA-FRIENDLY YORK 

2.7.1 It is reported that 

 

 

226



6 

 

 

 It's about the whole community – we can all contribute and we can all 
gain. 

 We all need to understand better what it means to live with dementia. 
Training, information should be easy to access and well promoted. 

 It's not just about new things - York already has so much to offer. 
 People with dementia should be central to planning for the future, and 

we also need to exploit the potential of technology to improve lives. 

2.7.6 The reported conclusions of the Project are: 

“These proposals distil many ideas generated by the people who were involved in York 
Dementia Without Walls.  

Recognise that what is good for people with dementia is good for everybody by:  

    Planning for their needs in the development of housing, transport and local 
facilities.  

   Expecting good customer service, patience and kindness as the way we treat people 
in York. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation with the Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust 
has made its own commitment to becoming a dementia friendly organisation, by 
looking not only at its services but also at its role as an employer.  

Increase awareness of dementia by:  

o    Talking about it more.  
o    Producing more and better information that can be used by a range of 

people, e.g. carers, GPs, local shopkeepers, teachers in schools.  

                Change our attitude towards dementia by:  

o   Challenging stereotypes and prejudices directly and by using positive 
images of older people and people with dementia.  

o   Focusing on what people with dementia can do rather than what they can’t.  
o   Assuming that people with dementia will be included rather than excluded. 

Provide training for people at all levels and in all sectors by:  
o   Developing ladders of training so that people can acquire the right detail of 

knowledge for their needs.  
o   Using online training resources that are currently available to make access 

easy and affordable. Encourage people with dementia to use York’s wealth 
of leisure, cultural and spiritual resources by:  

o    Promoting them as dementia-friendly and exploring how they could be 
rated as such by people with dementia.  

227



7 

 

o   Adapting them or relaxing the ‘rules’ – this could apply as much to religious 
practice as to sports.  

Grasp current opportunities to prepare for the future needs of people with dementia by:  

o    Responding to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and making sure that 
reform and reorganisation of health and social care has dementia at its 
core.  

o    Involving people with dementia in planning for their futures.  
o     Exploiting the potential of technology to improve the lives of people with 

dementia.”  

2.7.7 The summary to the report can be accessed. 

2.8 CREATIVE SPACES 

2.8.1 It is reported that the Creative Spaces project is run by the Sensory Trust in 
Cornwall and was launched in 2014. This initiative provides opportunities for 
people with dementia to take part in outdoor activity, such as fishing and 
woodland skills. The Sensory Trust use these nature-based activities as 
creative methods to enable people with dementia greater access to social 
opportunities and to improve other people’s knowledge of dementia so that 
they are better able to support those affected by it. The project targets the 
isolated and disadvantaged communities in the area, focusing on people aged 
65 and over living with dementia at home, carers of older people with 
dementia, community members including service providers, and children and 
young people aged 7 - 18.   

2.8.2 Further details of the Project can be accessed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Brief Author:  Tracy Tiff, Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

Date: 15 August 2017 

228

file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/dementia-communities-york-summary%20(1).pdf
http://www.sensorytrust.org.uk/projects/creative-spaces/index.html


 
 

 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 3 
DEMENTIA FRIENDLY TOWN 

 
Appendix F 

 
BRIEFING NOTE: SITE VISIT:  LUTTERWORTH 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 At its inaugural scoping meeting, Scrutiny Panel 3 (Dementia Friendly 
Town) agreed that it would undertake a site visit to a town that was either 
already dementia friendly or was in the process of achieving dementia 
friendly. 
 

2      SITE VISIT 

 

2.1 On Friday, 10 November 2017, Councillor Russell (Chair); Councillor 
Beardsworth (Deputy Chair); Councillors Ashraf, Duffy and Meredith, 
together with Gwyn Roberts (Co Optee) and Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, 
visited Lutterworth in Leicestershire. 
 

2.2 The site visit spent time with the Share and Care Group that was meeting 
in the Methodist Church at Lutterworth.  The Share and Care Group is for 
people living with dementia and their carers and also for carers of 
someone who has lived with dementia but has passed away. 
 

2.3 The session on 10 November was dedicated to coffee and a chat and 
hand massage.  Touch is very important.  All those present took part in 
the hand massage. 
 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel spoke with some of the attendees: 
 
One woman confided that she attended the Group as a previous carer of 
her husband who had lived with dementia.  He had passed away earlier 
this year.   Her husband had not attended Care and Share as he did not 
know any of the attendees but had continued to enjoy going to church, 
which was familiar to him.  The woman explained it had been difficult at 
times caring for her husband; he did enjoy visitors to their home and was 
much happier in familiar environments.  The woman got comfort from the 
Share and Care Group herself and stressed the importance of support for 
carers after the person they had cared for had passed away.  She 229



 2 

emphasised that the Share and Care Group gave attendees a sense of 
belonging.  She advised of another similar Group that is held in Oadby, 
Leicestershire,  that splits into two sessions – first session is dedicated to 
craft work and the second session games, such as balls into the net and 
musical bingo.  Musical bingo was very popular.  The organiser of the 
Care and Share Group at Lutterworth undertook to introduce games such 
as Musical bingo at Lutterworth. 
 
Another attendee at the Group advised that a person living with dementia 
can live with dementia for fifteen years.  It can affect the carer in a 
number of ways, such as isolation and loneliness.  It is important that 
carers are listened to.  The attendee gave an example of when she took 
her husband to see the GP, he would speak to her husband who was 
living with dementia, rather than speaking with his wife (as his carer.)  
She stressed the importance of carer’s involvement. 
 
Another attendee expressed the importance of singing for those living 
with dementia. The Share and Care Group at Lutterworth puts on 
sessions dedicated to specific decades, 1940s, 1950s, 1960s etc; the 
sessions look at fashion, music and singing around that decade. 
 
Another previous carer of someone who had lived with dementia provided 
details of when her father had been admitted to a care home.  The care 
provided had been excellent but there were “little things” such as 

ensuring he could reach the call bell that were very important. 
 
A local Reverend provided information.  The local churches had been 
liaising with the Alzheimer’s Society who had advised what should be 
implemented.  It was important that changes are brought in gradually.  
For example yellow and black signs.  All churches in the town have been 
meeting regarding how to work together as becoming dementia friendly.  
It is anticipated that quarterly church services will be dementia friendly.  
The Reverend offered to invite the Scrutiny Panel to one of these 
services.  It was noted that St Marys and the Methodist Church, 
Lutterworth, were already working closely together. 
 
One of the attendees, a woman in her 50s, was in the early stages of 
living with dementia, having been diagnosed three years previously. She 
described how usually she feels confident to go about her daily routines 
and travelling around Lutterworth which she knows extremely well and 
where she is recognised by most people. She said there are times when 
she becomes confused and feels lost and this is a terrifying experience 
for her. On one occasion she found herself in a pub where she 
approached a couple and asked if they would mind calling her husband 
(she has a card in her wallet explaining her condition and giving her 
husband’s contact details). They kindly offered to buy her lunch and after 

speaking to her husband, cared for her until such time he could meet her 
and take her home. Another attendee described the traumatic moment 

230



 3 

when her 48 year old daughter was diagnosed with dementia during the 
same year her sister, 40 years older than her daughter was also 
diagnosed. Sadly her sister passed away recently and her daughter, now 
living in a care home, is displaying symptoms which indicate a gradual 
deterioration. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

2.5 Groups such as Care and Share, help carers overcome their loss.  Carers 
often feel lost and lonely when the person living with dementia has 
passed away. 
 

2.6 From discussions with attendees, the value of therapy dogs was 
recognised. 
 

2.7 Church rooms, such as the Methodist Church in Lutterworth, are ideal 
locations to host Share and Care Group meetings. 
 

2.8 Churches often have a good network of people who are carers and have 
a good body of volunteers too. 
 

2.9 The Methodist Church at Lutterworth sponsors a full time officer to bring 
carers and those living with dementia together into Church groups.  The 
salary of this Officer is paid for by the Church. 
 

2.10 A potential recommendation of the final report was suggested that 
Officers liaise with the local churches in Northampton to ascertain what 
Groups are currently available and whether Groups such as Care and 
Share could be introduced. 
 

2.11 Details of a sample of the sessions offered by the Share and Care Group 
can be located: http://www.lutterworthshareandcare.org/program.htm 
 

2.12 There are plans for Northamptonshire Carers and the Alzheimers Society 
to establish similar groups along side Professor Parke’s model.   The Co-
Optee will give an update at the meeting. 
 

2.13 Lutterworth has the benefit of being a small town where many people 
know each other and those living with dementia receive help often 
because they are known and helped home when needed.  Morrisons, the 
local supermarket, plays a big part in identifying and helping people living 
with dementia when the occasion arises.    
 

2.14 Training and signs on shop fronts, such as a sticker or badge alerting 
people living with dementia that help was available was thought to be 
essential and recommended.      
 

Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Cathrine Russell, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 
3 Dementia Friendly Town 

231

http://www.lutterworthshareandcare.org/program.htm


O v e r v i e w  &  S c r u t i n y  C o m m i t t e e

O & S  R E P R O V I S I O N  O F  T H E  
E N V I R O N M E N T A L  S E R V I C E S  
C O N T R A C T  W O R K I N G  G R O U P

A p r i l  2 0 1 8 232

Agenda Item 11



 2 

 
Foreword 
 
The objective of this Scrutiny activity was to   
 

 Help non-Executives understand the re provision process and the legal 
framework around the re-provision of the contract. 
 

 Enable non-Executives to meaningfully challenge the rigour and robustness of 
the process.    

 
The Scrutiny Working Group was made up from members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee:  myself, Councillor Rufia Ashraf (Deputy Chair) and Councillors Tony Ansell,  
Mohammed Aziz, Janice Duffy, Jamie Lane, Brian Sargeant, Zoe Smith and Graham 
Walker. 
 
This Scrutiny activity took place between March 2017 and April 2018. 
 
It was a very interesting and informative piece of Scrutiny activity,  with clear evidence 
received.  The Working Group presented its interim report to Cabinet in October 2017, its 
key findings at that stage being that Overview and Scrutiny Committee was satisfied that the 
right processes have taken place. The processes to date had been robust and carried out 
with due diligence. the procurement process had been robust. 

The Working Group was very pleased to note that the new contractor will have both an 
Engagement Manager and Officer that will work on community engagement projects and 
liaise regulator with local groups and forums. 

The final report mirrors the findings of the interim report with additional conclusions and 
recommendations. 

I would like to thank everyone who took part in this detailed piece of Scrutiny activity. 

 

Councillor Dennis Meredith 
Chair, O&S Reprovision of the Environmental Services Contract Working Group 
 

 

233



2 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Final Report of the O&S Re-Provision of the  

Environmental Services Contract Working Group 

1 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of the O&S Working Group was to: 
  

 Help non-Executives understand the re provision process and the legal 
framework around the re-provision of the contract. 
 

 Enable non-Executives to meaningfully challenge the rigour and 
robustness of the process.    

 
2 Context and Background 

 

2.1 Two non-Executive Councillors called in the decision of Cabinet of 
16 November 2016, (item 11 – Re-Provision of the Environmental 
Services Contract).  A Call In Hearing was held on 29 November 
2016.  During the deliberation session, the Overview and Committee 
concluded that there was a need for wider consultation, the 
recommendations were ill-informed, based on assumptions 
regarding costs, before quality; the areas of methodology used were 
flawed; and the contracting out option had been based on a failing 
contract.  The Committee further concluded that there was a need 
for Overview and Scrutiny involvement at the relevant stages of the 
process. 

  
2.2 The Chair advised of the information received and asked the 

Committee to consider whether the Call-In would be upheld or not.  
  
2.3 Upon a majority vote it was resolved that: 
  

(1)  That after all the evidence had been heard that the Call-In be 
accepted on the grounds that: 

  
(i) there is the need for wider consultation; 
(ii) the recommendations were ill-informed, based on 
assumptions regarding costs, before quality; 
(iii) the areas of methodology used were flawed; 

234



3 

 

(iv) the contracting out option had been based on a failing 
contract. 
  

     (2)  That there is Overview and Scrutiny involvement in the 
relevant stages of the process. 

 
 2.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee then convened a Working Group 

comprising Councillor Dennis Meredith (Chair), Councillor Rufia Ashraf 
(Deputy Chair);  Councillors Aziz, Janice Duffy, Terrie Eales, Jamie Lane, 
Brian Sargeant, Zoe Smith and Graham Walker to carry out this Scrutiny 
activity. 

2.3 This Scrutiny activity links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 

corporate priority -  Working Hard and Spending your Money Wisely 
(Delivering quality modern services) and Protecting Our Environment (A clean 
and attractive town for residents and visitors).  

  

2.4 A series of meetings were held that provided key information to the Scrutiny 
Working Group.  Further meetings will be held during the process.  An interim 
report of the Working Group was Cabinet ion 18 October 2017.  Within this 
report the Working Group highlighted that: 

 
From the information provided to the Working Group to date, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee is satisfied that the right processes have taken 
place to date. From the information provided so far the processes to date 
have been robust and carried out with due diligence. 
 
From the information received, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
satisfied that the procurement process has been robust. 

 
2.5 The purpose of the meetings held was to: 

 Help non-Executives understand the complex procurement process that 
was being followed. 

 Enable non-Executives to meaningfully challenge the rigour and 
robustness of the proposed process. 

2.6 At its meeting in February 2018, the Working Group considered a notice of 
motion: 

  
“Councillor Haque, as the proposer of the motion accepted an 
alteration to the motion submitted by the Conservative Group. 
  
Upon a vote, Council accepted the alteration of the motion. 

235



4 

 

  
Councillor Haque proposed and Councillors Smith seconded: 
  
This Council notes the new contractor for Environmental Services 
will be announced in January 2018. A new contractor will take over 
the running of Environmental Services from June 2018. 
 
This Council believes that Residents, Resident Associations and 
Parish Councils understand best the environmental challenges in 
their area such as fly tipping hot spots and overgrown grass verges. 
They should be able to fully share their views with both the 
Contractor and Borough Council so that information can be acted on 
promptly and effectively. 
 
This Council therefore commits to positive and productive 
collaboration with Residents, Resident Associations and Parish 
Councils. Further to the new Contractor being chosen, the Cabinet 
will ask Overview and Scrutiny to determine the most effective 
process for the sharing of the views of members of the public and 
community groups with the Contractor and report back before June 
2018.” 
  
Council debated the motion. 
  
Upon a vote, the motion was carried.” 

 
2.7 As part of its evidence gathering, the Working Group had sight of the 

specification of the contract. 
 

  3 Conclusions and Key Findings 

 
3.1 The findings from Scrutiny activity, reiterated the interim findings that : 
 
3.1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee welcomed the comprehensive 

presentation given to the O&S Working Group its inaugural meeting and 
supported the feedback and progress. 

 
3.1.2 From the information received, the O&S Working Group is satisfied that the 

right processes have taken place. The processes to date has been robust and 
carried out with due diligence. 

 
3.1.3  From the information provided to it, the O&S Working Group gives its support 

for the robustness of the procurement process followed. 
 
 

236



5 

 

3.1.4 In considering the notice of motion at its February 2018 meeting, the Working 
Group concluded that  there is a need for more public consultation on the 
environmental services contract with local groups and forums.  It was noted 
that the new contractor will have an Engagement Manager and an 
Engagement Officer who will attend a number of groups and forum meetings 
as part of their roles. £25,000 will be set aside for community engagement 
projects.    

 
3.1.5 Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH) will have its own contractor for 

housing land. 
 
3.1.6 The Working Group felt that it would be important for both the contract 

manager for the new environmental services contract and the contract 
manager for the contract on NPH land to have sight of the Notice of Motion 
and for their to be regular liaison with local groups and forums, such as 
Residents’ Associations and Community Forums. 

3.1.7 Whilst recognising the importance of meetings such as Residents’ 
Associations and An alternative platform for public input, such as online 
information, in addition to Group and Forum meetings, is available.” 

  
3.1.8 It is acknowledge that the contract has provision for help and support being 

made available to individuals and groups that want to undertake clean ups 
around the town; the Working Group emphasises the importance of the 
promotion of the availability of this support. 

 
3.1.10 The Working Group supported the meeting that took place, in February 2018, 

hosted by the Cabinet Member (Environment) and the Director for Customers 
and Communities that had been open to all Councillors to attend to put 
forward any comments, queries or concerns that they had regarding the 
contract.  

 
 4 Recommendations 

 
4.1 The purpose of the O&S Working Group was to help non-Executives 

understand the re provision process and the legal framework around the re-
provision of the contract and enable non-Executives to meaningfully 
challenge the rigour and robustness of the process.    

 

 The O&S Working Group therefore recommends to Cabinet that: 
 

4.1.1  Cabinet considers the findings of the O&S Working as detailed in section 3 of 
this report.  

237



6 

 

4.1.2  Notes that, from the information provided to it, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is satisfied that the right processes have taken place. The 
processes to date has been robust and carried out with due diligence. 

 

4.1.3  Notes that, from the information received, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is satisfied that the procurement process has been robust. 

4.1.4 The Contract Manager is asked to forward details of the Notice of Motion, as 
set out at paragraph 2.6 of this report, to both the Council’s contractor and 

NPH’s contractor for their information; with emphasis that there must be 

regular liaison with local groups and forums, such as Residents’ Associations 

and Community Forums. 

4.1.5 An alternative platform for public input, such as online information, in addition 
to Group and Forum meetings, is available. 

  
4.1.6 As part of the contract, the help and support that is available to individuals and 

groups that want to undertake clean ups around the town is widely promoted. 
 
4.1.7 A Working Group is set up to monitor the purchasing of the vehicles and 

equipment to ensure they are value for money. 

  
          Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

4.1.8  The O&S Working Group carries out a site visit to the Depot once the contract 
is in place. 

238



Northampton Borough Council 
Overview and Scrutiny

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny
Call 01604 837408  
E-mail:  ttiff@northampton.gov.uk

1

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

30 April 2018

Briefing Note: Northamptonshire County Council’s (NCC) 
Health, Adult Care & Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

 
1 Background

1.1 Councillor Brian Sargeant is Northampton Borough Council’s 
representative to Northamptonshire County Council’s (NCC) Health, 
Adult Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee. Councillor Rufia Ashraf 
is the substitute.

1.2 A meeting of NCC’s Health, Adult Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee was held on 7 March 2018. 

1.3 The Health, Adult Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee has the 
overview and scrutiny function responsibilities for scrutiny of health, 
adult social care and Public Health. 

2 Update

2.1 Details of the main issues discussed at the meeting held on                        
7 March 2018 are detailed below:

  Northamptonshire Dementia Strategy – The 
Committee  received an update on work to refresh the 
Dementia Strategy for the county.

 Resetting Health Care in Corby, continued Public 
Patient Engagement next steps  - The Committee 
considered details of the continued public patient 
engagement and next steps by NHS Corby Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

 The Committee received an overview of 
Northamptonshire County Council portfolio holders’ 
current priorities and challenges  

239

Agenda Item 12

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny


Northampton Borough Council 
Overview and Scrutiny

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny
Call 01604 837408  
E-mail:  ttiff@northampton.gov.uk

2

 The Committee considered the development and delivery 
of the work programme for 2017/18 and potential topics 
for scrutiny in 2018/19.

2.2    In addition, the Committee approved its schedule of meetings for the 
year.

3 Conclusions

3.1  That the update is noted.

3.2      That regular updates of the work of Northamptonshire County Council’s 
Health and Adult Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee be provided 
by Councillor Brian Sargeant to this Committee. 

3.3  The next meeting of Northamptonshire County Council’s Scrutiny 
Committee is scheduled for 13 June 2018 commencing at 10:00am and 
an update on this meeting will be provided to the Committee also.

Brief Author:  Tracy Tiff, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Brian Sargeant

19 March 2018

240

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Enforcement Contract Update
	8 Performance Monitoring Report
	12 Performance Report - Quarter 3 2017 - 1st October to 31 December 2017
	Q3 report  07-03-18


	9 Work Programme 2018/2019
	10a Scrutiny Panel 1
	NBC Front cover - Cemeteries
	index
	foreword draft version
	executive summary version 1
	final version of the report dated 16 March 2018
	Appendices
	Appendix A to the final report
	Appendix to final report  -Fees and Charges
	Appendix C to the final report
	Appendix D to the final report
	Appendix E to the final report
	Appendix F to the final report

	10b Scrutiny Panel 2
	NBC Front cover - Culture  Tourism
	index
	foreword draft version
	executive summary version 1
	Final report 17 April 2018
	Appendices
	Appendix A to the final report
	Appendix B to the final report
	Appendix B to the final report
	Appendix C to the final report
	Appendix D to the final report

	10c Scrutiny Panel 3
	NBC Front cover - Dementia Friendly Town
	index
	Foreword
	executive summary version 1
	Final report dated 17 April 2018
	Appendices
	Appendix A to the final report
	Appendix B to the final report
	Appendix C to the final report
	Tollers `
	Tollers 1
	tollers 2
	tollers 3

	Appendix D to the final report
	Appendix E to the final report
	Appendix F to the final report

	11 O&S Reprovision of the Environmental Services Contract Working Group
	NBC Front cover - Environmental Services (003)
	final foreword
	Final report dated 19 March 2018

	12 Report back from NBC's representative to NCC's Health and  Social Care  Scrutiny Committee



